SPECIATION AND BIOAVAILIBILITY OF RARE EARTH ELEMENTS (REEs) IN EX-TIN MINING AREA: A CASE STUDY FROM LAHAT, PERAK, MALAYSIA

AYSHA MASOOD KHAN

FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2017

SPECIATION AND BIOAVAILIBILITY OF RARE EARTH ELEMENTS (REEs) IN EX-TIN MINING AREA: A CASE STUDY FROM LAHAT, PERAK, MALAYSIA

AYSHA MASOOD KHAN

THESIS SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF GEOLOGY FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2017

UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA

ORIGINAL LITERARY WORK DECLARATION

Name of Candidate: Aysha Masood Khan

Registration/Matric No: SHC130078

Name of Degree: Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

Title of Project Paper/Research Report/Dissertation/Thesis ("this Work"):

Speciation and Bioavailability of Rare Earth Elements (REEs) in Ex-mining Area: A Case Study from Lahat, Perak, Malaysia

Field of Study: APPLIED GEOLOGY

I do solemnly and sincerely declare that:

- (1) I am the sole author/writer of this Work;
- (2) This Work is original;
- (3) Any use of any work in which copyright exists was done by way of fair dealing and for permitted purposes and any excerpt or extract from, or reference to or reproduction of any copyright work has been disclosed expressly and sufficiently and the title of the Work and its authorship have been acknowledged in this Work;
- (4) I do not have any actual knowledge nor do I ought reasonably to know that the making of this work constitutes an infringement of any copyright work;
- (5) I hereby assign all and every rights in the copyright to this Work to the University of Malaya ("UM"), who henceforth shall be owner of the copyright in this Work and that any reproduction or use in any form or by any means whatsoever is prohibited without the written consent of UM having been first had and obtained;
- (6) I am fully aware that if in the course of making this Work I have infringed any copyright whether intentionally or otherwise, I may be subject to legal action or any other action as may be determined by UM.

Candidate's Signature

Date:

Subscribed and solemnly declared before,

Witness's Signature

Date:

Name:

Designation:

ABSTRACT

The main purpose of the study was to correlate the concentrations of rare earth elements (REEs), speciation and bioavailability. This study was proposed to investigate the distribution of REEs in abandoned mining land in Perak, Malaysia. Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) was used as major technique in this research. In this work, water, soil, sediment and plant samples were collected in the ex-tin mining area in Lahat, Perak, Malaysia in order to study the concentration, speciation, bioavailability and potential mobility of REEs. Water from ex-mining lakes and Kinta River was analyzed along with sediments. The results obtained revealed that the ex-mining lake water was found to be higher in REEs than that of the river water. The sediment samples were found highly accumulated with REEs. The analytical data obtained in this study was then analyzed using various chemometric methods such as principal component analysis (PCA), factor analysis (FA) and hierarchal cluster analysis (HCA). From the elemental analysis of ICP-MS, it is observed that soil samples taken from different depths in Perak were well separated into two clusters based on rare earth element concentrations and physical properties. The statistical analysis also indicated that REEs were the discriminating factors for the separation of soil samples at the depth of 0-20 cm from the rest. In addition, the samples taken from industrial and mining areas were clustered away from natural and residential areas, suggesting ex-mining and industries being the major source of REEs in the studied area. Different environmental impact assessments were done using enrichment factor (EF), geoaccumulation index (Igeo), contamination factor (CF) and pollution load index (PLI). Speciation study carried out for sediment and soil using sequential extraction procedures, indicate REEs mainly predominated in the adsorbed/exchangeable/carbonate fraction and in bound to silicates/residuals fraction while very small amounts of REEs were found bound to sulphides/organics and amorphous and crystalline Fe oxides. REEs were clearly separated into five fractions of sequential extractions indicating their active mobility in the environment. The data obtained successfully measures the potential mobility of REEs and significantly describe higher for light rare earth elements (LREEs) rather than heavy rare earth elements (HREEs). Bioavailability of REEs indicate most of the plants as hyperaccumulators in their root and leaves parts while others accumulator and tolerant. Transfer factor (TF), bioconcentration factor (BCF) and bioaccumulation factor (BAF) analyzed were > 1 for hyperaccumulators, making them good phytoremediators for REEs. Based on the analytical method, chemometric techniques and environmental impact factors, it can be concluded that even though physical and chemical variables vary from sample to sample, distinct separation between samples from different areas of ex-mining land can be clearly observed.

ABSTRAK

Tujuan utama kajian ini adalah untuk menghubungkaitkan kepekatan unsur-unsur nadir bumi (REEs), penspesisan dan ketersediaan bio. Kajian ini telah dicadangkan untuk menyiasat taburan REEs dalam tanah lombong terbiar di Perak, Malaysia. Plasma pengkupelan aruhan - spektrometri jisim (ICP-MS) telah digunakan sebagai teknik utama dalam kajian ini. Dalam kerja-kerja ini, sampel air, tanah, sedimen dan tumbuh-tumbuhan telah dikumpulkan dalam kawasan perlombongan bekas timah di Lahat, Perak, Malaysia untuk mengkaji tumpuan, penspesiesan, ketersediaan bio dan potensi pergerakan REEs. Air dari tasik bekas lombong dan Sungai Kinta dianalisis bersama-sama dengan sedimen. Keputusan yang diperolehi menunjukkan bahawa sampel air tasik dari bekas lombong telah didapati mengandungi REEs yang lebih tinggi berbanding air sungai. Sampel sedimen didapati mengandungi kandungan REEs yang terkumpul. Data analisis yang diperolehi dalam kajian kami telah dianalisis dengan menggunakan pelbagai kaedah penganalisan kimia seperti analisis komponen prinsipal (PCA), analisis faktor (FA) dan analisis kelompok hireraki (HCA). Daripada analisis unsur ICP-MS, diperhatikan bahawa tanah yang diambil pada kedalaman yang berbeza di Perak yang telah diasingkan kepada dua kelompok berdasarkan kepekatan unsur nadir bumi dan ciri-ciri fizikal. Analisis statistik juga menunjukkan bahawa REEs merupakan faktor diskriminasi untuk pemisahan sampel tanah pada kedalaman 0-20 cm dari sampel yang lain. Di samping itu, sampel yang diambil dari kawasan industri dan perlombongan terletak di kelompok juah daripada kawasan semulajadi dan kawasan kediaman menunjukan bekas lombong dan industri sebagai sumber utama REEs di kawasan yang dikaji. Penilaian kesan alam sekitar yang berbeza telah dilakukan dengan menggunakan faktor pengayaan (EF), indeks pengumpulan geo (Igeo), faktor pencemaran (CF) dan indeks beban pencemaran (PLI). Kajian penspesiesan dijalankan untuk sedimen dan tanah menggunakan prosedur pengekstrakan berurutan, menunjukkan REEs terjerap / boleh tukar / karbonat pecahan dan terikat kepada silikat / sisa pecahan manakala jumlah yang sangat kecil REEs didapati terikat kepada sulfida / organik dan amorfus dan hablur Fe oksida. REEs telah jelas dipisahkan kepada lima pecahan daripada pengekstrakan berurutan menunjukkan pergerakan aktif mereka dalam alam sekitar. Data yang diperolehi berjaya mengukur pergerakan potensi REEs dan ketara menerangkan lebih mendalam untuk unsur-unsur cahaya nadir bumi (LREEs) daripada unsur-unsur nadir bumi berat (HREEs). Ketersediaan bio REEs menunjukkan kebanyakan tumbuh-tumbuhan sebagai pengumpulan hiper dan meninggalkan bahagian di akar mereka manakala yang lain akumulator dan toleran. Transfer Factor (TF), faktor biokepekatan (BCF) dan faktor bio (BAF) dianalisis adalah > 1 untuk pengumpulan hiper, menjadikan mereka sebagai pemulihanfito yang baik untuk REEs. Berdasarkan kaedah analisis, teknik kemometrik dan faktor-faktor impak alam sekitar, boleh disimpulkan bahawa walaupun pembolehubah fizikal dan kimia yang berbeza dari sampel ke sampel, pemisahan yang ketara antara sampel dari pelbagai tanah bekas lombong boleh dilihat dengan jelas.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to pay thanks to Almighty Allah, whose blessings and miracles helped to forward my path to success. To my supervisors, Professor Dr. Ismail Yusoff, Professor Dr. Nor Kartini Abu Bakar and Dr. Ahmad Farid, please accept my deepest gratitude for accepting and guiding me as your PhD student; No words can express your support and compassion to achieve my dream. Dear Professors, especial thanks for your encouragement, support, expertise, guidance, unlimited assistance, kindness and infinite patience which were the keys to open my hidden potential to work as a researcher. I want to pay especial thanks to Professor Dr. Yatimah Alias, whose incredible support and help ease my path leading to PhD. God bless you all ever amen.

To my brother, Dr. Muhammad Ajmal Khan, who play a role of father by taking the responsibility for all my matters during my PhD. Thanks for standing by my side all the way. Today, I can only pay thanks for all your academic and financial support, guidance, encouragement and unbound affections. My sisters, whose care, unbound love, heart touching moments helps to achieve my goal in life. My niece, Hania Khan, whose innocent love and care make me cry for being far from her. Love to all of you.

To my parents, Muhammad Masood Khan (father) who left me in my early childhood and Nasreen Masood Khan (mother), thanks for being my mother over the years and doing everything for me and making me able for today to get my PhD. To my youngest brother, Muhammad Owais Khan, with who I share lovely moments of my childhood. My brother, I left you to achieve my dream but you left me forever in a strange way to Jannah making a dream for me to meet again in life. May God give you rest in peace.

To my all sincere and beloved friends, especially Nor Hayati Hussain for supporting and caring for me all through my PhD. You were the angels from God to help me in my hard time, making me feel happy and caring me more than anything else.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	iii
Abstrak	v
Acknowledgements	vii
Table of Contents	viii
List of Figures	xiv
List of Tables	xviii
List of Abbreviations	xx
List of Appendices	xxiii

CHA	PTER 1: INTRODUCTION1
1.1	Background of study1
1.2	Concentration, speciation and bioavailability of REEs
1.3	Problem Statement
1.4	Objectives of the Study6
1.5	The Scope of Present Study7
1.6	Study Area7
1.7	Contribution of Dissertation
1.8	Thesis Outline

CHA	APTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	. 14
2.1	Introduction to rare earth elements (REEs)	. 14
2.2	Sources of rare earth elements (REEs)	. 15
2.3	Characteristics of rare earth elements (REEs)	. 16
2.4	Mineralogy of rare earth elements (REEs)	. 18
2.5	Distribution of rare earth elements (REEs)	. 19

2.6	Rare ea	rth elements (REEs) global production, supply and demand	20
2.7	Applica	ations of rare earth elements (REEs)	24
2.8	Determ	ination techniques for rare earth elements (REEs)	26
2.9	Enviror	nmental impacts assessment of REEs (as pollutants)	27
2.10	Speciat	ion and Solubility of rare earth elements (REEs)	36
	2.10.1	Speciation study in sediments	37
	2.10.2	Speciation study in soil	39
2.11	Bioavai	ilability and uptake capacity of REEs	43
CHA	APTER 3	3: METHODOLOGY	47
3.1	Introdu	ction	47
3.2	Sampli	ng location	49
3.3	Pre-san	npling preparation	49
3.4	Sampli	ng and Preservation	49
3.5	Water a	analysis	52
	3.5.1	Determination of anions in water using IC	52
	3.5.2	Determination of REEs in water using ICP-MS	53
3.6	Sedime	ent analysis	54
	3.6.1	Determination of anions in sediments using IC	54
	3.6.2	TOC measurement	55
	3.6.3	Determination of REEs in sediments/soil using ICP-MS	55
3.7	Soil An	nalysis	56
	3.7.1	Grain Size	56
	3.7.2	Colour	56
	3.7.3	рН	57
	3.7.4	Electrical Conductivity (EC)	57

	3.7.5	Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC)	57
	3.7.6	Moisture content (MC)	58
	3.7.1	Organic matter content (OM)	58
	3.7.2	XRF analysis	60
	3.7.3	Determination of REEs in soil using ICP-MS	60
3.8	Speciat	ion study of REEs in sediments and soil	61
	3.8.1	Fraction I: AEC (adsorbed / exchangeable / carbonate) phase	61
	3.8.2	Fraction II: Amorphous Fe oxyhydroxides (Am Fe Ox)	63
	3.8.3	Fraction III: Crystalline Fe Oxide (Cry Fe ox)	63
	3.8.4	Fraction IV: Sulphides and organics	64
	3.8.5	Fraction V: Silicates and residual oxides	65
3.9	Bioava	ilability of REEs in Plants	65
	3.9.1	Pre-treatment of samples	65
	3.9.2	Sample preparation and analysis	66
	3.9.3	Translocation factor (TF)	66
	3.9.4	Bioconcentration Factor (BCF)	67
	3.9.5	Bioaccumulation Factor (BAF)	67
3.10	Enviro	nmental impact assessment in soil and sediments	67
	3.10.1	Enrichment factor (EF) and geoaccumulation index (Igeo)	67
	3.10.2	Contamination evaluation (CF and PLI)	68
3.11	Quality	Control (QC) and Quality Assurance (QA)	68
3.12	Statisti	cal data analysis	70
	3.12.1	Principal Component Analysis (PCA)	70
	3.12.2	Factor Analysis (FA)	70
	3.12.3	Hierarchical Culture Analysis (HCA)	75

Cl	HAPTER	4: ANALYSIS OF WATER, SEDIMENT AND SOIL	76
4.1	Water	Analysis	76
	4.1.1	Physico-chemical parameters	76
		4.1.1.1 Temperature	80
		4.1.1.2 Salinity	80
		4.1.1.3 pH	80
		4.1.1.4 Dissolved Oxygen (DO)	80
		4.1.1.5 Total suspended solids (TSS)	82
		4.1.1.6 Total dissolved Solids (TDS)	82
		4.1.1.7 Specific conductivity (SPc)	82
		4.1.1.8 Nitrates (NO ₃ ⁻)	82
		4.1.1.9 Sulphates (SO ₄ ²⁻)	83
		4.1.1.10 Ammonium (NH ₄ ⁺)	83
		4.1.1.11 Chlorides (Cl ⁻)	83
	4.1.2	REEs in ex-tin mining lake waters and Kinta River	84
	4.1.3	Statistical analysis	87
4.2	2 Sedim	ent Analysis	92
	4.2.1	Physico-chemical parameters of sediment from ex-mining lake	92
		4.2.1.1 pH	92
		4.2.1.2 Total organic carbon (TOC)	92
		4.2.1.3 Anions (SO42-, PO43-, NO3-, NO2-) and Halides (F-, Cl-, B	r-)92
	4.2.2	REEs concentration in sediment of ex-tin mining lake	95
	4.2.3	Environmental Assessment	98
		4.2.3.1 Enrichment Factor (EF) and Geo-accumulation Index (Igeo)	98
		4.2.3.2 Contamination Factor and Pollution Load Index (CF and PLI)).103
4.3	3 Soil A	nalysis	. 103

	4.3.1	Physical	properties of soil	
		4.3.1.1	Grain size	
		4.3.1.2	Colour	
		4.3.1.3	pH	107
		4.3.1.4	Electrical conductivity (EC)	
		4.3.1.5	Cation exchange capacity (CEC)	
		4.3.1.6	Moisture content (MC)	
		4.3.1.7	Organic Matter (OM)	
		4.3.1.8	X-ray Fluorescence (XRF)	
	4.3.1	Total Co	ncentration of Rare Earth Elements (REEs)	
	4.3.2	Vertical	distribution of REEs in different soil depths	
	4.3.3	Statistica	al Analysis	
		4.3.3.1	Box plot of soil samples from different depths of ex-	-tin mining
			ponds in Perak	
		4.3.3.2	PCA based on the depth of sampling points	
		4.3.3.3	Hierarchical cluster Analysis (HCA)	
		4.3.3.4	Variables of REEs based on land use	
	4.3.4	Environ	nental Risk Assessment	
CHA	PTER	5: SPECI	ATION STUDY OF SEDIMENTS AND SOIL	
5.1	REEs	speciatio	n and mobility in sediment using sequential	extraction
	procedu	ures		139
5.2	Speciat	ion study	of soil	
5.3	Potenti	al mobilit	y of REEs in the soil	154

6.1	Bioava	ilability of REEs in Plants
	6.1.1	Soil analysis160
	6.1.2	Uptake capacity and bioavailability of REEs161
	6.1.3	Distribution of LREEs and HREEs among different plant parts
	6.1.4	Translocation, Bioconcentration and Bioaccumulation of REEs172
		6.1.4.1 Translocation factor (TF)
		6.1.4.2 Bioconcentration Factor (BCF)173
		6.1.4.3 Bioaccumulation Factor (BAF)175
6.2	Uptake	capacity and bioavailability of REEs in abundantly wild plants 175
	6.2.1	Plant species and their uptake capacities
	6.2.2	Distribution of REEs in soil from ex-tin mining areas176
	6.2.3	Determination of REEs in wild plant species (Hyptis suaveolens L., Albizia
		myriophillia and Eleusine indica L.)
6.3	Bioava	ilability of LREES in Ricinus communis L. and unique Emilia sonchifolia
	plants.	
	6.3.1	Rare earth elements (REEs) uptake in the soil
	6.3.2	LREEs uptake capacity and bioavailability in plants
CHA	APTER	7: CONCLUSION
Refe	erences	
List	of Publi	cations and Papers Presented

Appendix	 	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Transfer of metals from their mined areas through soil and sediments to the earth crust (Salomons, 1995)
Figure 1.2: Geological map of the Kinta valley, Perak, Malaysia (Modified from9
Figure 1.3: Landuse map of Kinta valley, ex-tin mining area in Perak, Malaysia (Modified from Pradhan et al., 2014)
Figure 2.1: Some important rare earth elements (REEs) (Van Gosen et al., 2014)14
Figure 2.2: Periodic table of the elements showing the division between LREEs and HREEs (Schüler et al., 2011)
Figure 2.3: Rare earth elements distribution in (a) Bayan Obo, China (b) Mountain Pass, USA; (c) Mount Weld, Australia; (d) Lahat, Malaysia (USGS, 2013: Haque et al., 2014)
Figure 2.4: Top countries in rare earth mine production worldwide during 2010-2013 (USGS, 2014)
Figure 2.5: Rare earth supply and demand from 2005-2015 (USGS, 2014)23
Figure 2.6: Risks of REEs mining without or with insufficient environmental protection systems (Schuler et al., 2011)
Scheme 3.1: Flow chart of the research methodology
Figure 3.1: Map showing sampling stations from the study area50
Figure 3.2: Soil sampling activity in the study area
Figure 3.3: Anionic analysis for water samples collected using ion chromatography (IC) (861 Advanced Compact- Metrohm, Switzerland)
Figure 3.4: (a) Microwave digester CEM-Mars Xpress (CEM cooperation, Matthews, NC.U.S.A) for acid digestion of samples (b) ICP-MS (Agilent 7500ce-USA) for rare metal analysis
Figure 3.5: Variation in colour of soil samples collected from three different depths56
Figure 3.6: Furnace (LT1200-6, Germany) used for moisture content analysis59
Scheme 3.2: Schematic diagram for sequential extraction procedure where F represents
dilution factor (Hallet al. 1996)62

Figure 3.7: Laboratory work during speciation study (a) horizontal orbital shaker (TS- 560, Taiwan) (b) Hotplate with stirrer (SP 131320-33- USA)63
Figure 3.8: (a) Sonicator (LUC-405) (b) Centrifuge (Megafuge 8-Germany) used during speciation study
Figure 3.9: (a) Microwave digester (Titan- MPS, USA) (b) ICP-MS (7500ce-Agilent) used in bioavailability analysis
Figure 4.1: Box and whisker plots showing physical parameters of water quality for lake and river water quality (a) Temperature (b) pH (c) DO (d) TSS (e) TDS (f) Specific conductivity (g) Nitrates (h) Sulphates
Figure 4.2: Average concentrations of REEs in ex-mining lake water and river water samples from the study area
Figure 4.3: Scree plot representing two major components contributing for REEs90
Figure 4.4: Mean concentration (mg kg ⁻¹) of REEs in sediments (a) pH (b) TOC (c) Sulphates (d) Nitrates
Figure 4.5: Mean concentration (mg kg ⁻¹) of REEs in sediments96
Figure 4.6: (a) Enrichment factor (EF) (b) geoaccumulation index (Igeo) in sediments.
Figure 4.7: (a) Average contamination factor (CF) (b) Pollution load index (PLI) of REEs in sediments
Figure 4.8: Distribution of soil samples grain size classification (n=40) in USDA soil classification diagram. Most of the soil samples were classified as sand type and some of the soil samples classified as silty clay type107
Figure 4.9: XRF analysis of soil with percentage of compounds111
Figure 4.10: Rare earth elements (REEs) distribution in the surface soil specifically Ce, La, Sc, Y, Gd and Nd
Figure 4.11: Rare earth elements (REEs) distribution in the surface soil specifically Dy, Pr, Yb, Er, Tb, and Eu
Figure 4.12: Distribution of holmium (HO), thulium (TM), and lutetium (Lu) in the surface soil

Figure 4.14: Boxplots of REEs in surface soil (a) physical parameters; (b, c, d) chemical parameters
Figure 4.15: The biplot of soil samples collected from three different depths of 0-20 cm, 21-40 cm and 41-60 cm
Figure 4.16: Hierarchical cluster Analysis (HCA) following PCA with two major clusters.
Figure 4.17: Biplot of soil samples from different soil depths based on areas (a) surface soil (b) middle soil (c) lower soil
Figure 5.1: Fractional distribution of REEs in sediments
Figure 5.2: Potential mobility (%) of REEs in sediments
Figure 5.3: Relative distribution of REEs in different fractions of soil studied in three different depths (a) fractional distribution of REEs in surface soil (b) middle soil (c) deeper soil
Figure 5.4: Potential mobility of soil in three different soil depths (a) potential mobility of REEs in surface soil (b) potential mobility of REEs in middle soil (c) potential mobility of REEs in deeper soil
Figure 6.1: Plant species analyzed for REEs from ex-mining area163
Figure 6.2: (a) REEs distribution in the leaves of plant species (b) accumulation of REEs in the root parts (c) REEs in plant species having stem (d) REEs in flowering plants
Figure 6.3: Accumulation of LREEs and HREEs in different parts of plants in study area.
Figure 6.4: Rare earth elements (REEs) contents in all parts of the plants with their translocation factor (TF), bioconcentration factor (BCF) and bioaccumulation factor (BAF)
Figure 6.5: Concentration of rare earth elements (REEs) in wild plants collected from the study area
Figure 6.6: The uptake capacity of wild plants for light rare earth elements (LREEs) and heavy rare earth elements (HREEs)
Figure 6.7: Transfer factor (TF), bioconcentration factor (BCF) and bioaccumulation factor (BAF) of wild plants studied for REEs

- Figure 6.8: Concentration of light rare earth elements (LREEs) in plants stem, root and leaves of (a) *Ricinus Communis L*. root shows greater uptake capacity of LREEs from soil (b) *Emilia Sonchifolia* leaves were found loaded with LREEs.190

university

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Recovery (%), limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ) for the SRM 1643e.
Table 3.2: SRM 4354 for sediment analysis with recovery (%), limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ)
Table 3.3: Standard reference material (SRM-2586) for the soil with recovery (%), LOD and LOQ
Table 3.4: Summary of elements with their recoveries (%), limit of detection (LOD), limit of quantification (LOQ) in certified reference materials for apple leaves (1515a) and spinach leaves (1570a)
Table 4.1: Physico-chemical characteristics of ex-tin mining lake for 20 samples and Kinta River water for 10 samples
Table 4.2: Maximum allowable limit for raw water and portable water set by different Malaysian authority and USEPA
Table 4.3: Interim National Water Quality Standards for Malaysia (INWQS), (2006)79
Table 4.4: Average concentration (µg L ⁻¹) of REEs in ex-tin mining lake (20 samples) and river water (10 samples) with light and heavy rare earth elements
Table 4.5: Skewness, kurtosis, and normality tests for rare earth elements (REEs) provided by SPSS
Table 4.6: Correlation between different parameters for REEs in water
Table 4.7: Physical parameters of the sediment samples
Table 4.8: Concentration levels (µg L ⁻¹) of REEs in sediment samples from ex-tin mining lake
Table 4.9: Enrichment factor (EF) and geo-accumulation index (Igeo) values calculated for sediments from ex-mining lake. 100
Table 4.10: Classification of Enrichment factor (EF), Geoaccumulation index (Igeo),Contamination factor (CF) and Pollution load index (PLI).101
Table 4.11: Contamination factor (CF) and Pollution load index (PLI) in sediment samples collected from ex-mining lake. 104
Table 4.12: Physical characteristics of the soil collected from three different depths from abandoned mines

Table 4.13: Average concentration (mg kg ⁻¹), standard deviation, minimum and maximum values of REEs in different soil depths
Table 4.14: Significance of physical and chemical parameters in soil samples
Table 4.15: Mean values (mg kg ⁻¹) of REEs in different areas of ex-mining with standard deviations. 135
Table 4.16: Enrichment factor (EF), geoaccumulation index (I geo) values, contamination factor (CF) and pollution load index (PLI) of soil in different depths
Table 5.1: Speciation analysis of sediments using five step sequential extraction procedures and potential mobility (%)
Table 5.2: Percentage fractional analysis and potential mobility for REEs in sequential extraction procedures for different soil depths. 149
Table 6.1: Plant species with the family names, plant codes, habitat and uptake behaviour
Table 6.2: Plant species with individual REEs (µg g ⁻¹) in different plant parts and their LREEs and HREEs capacity
Table 6.3: Physical characteristics of the soil from ex-mining land and its distribution of REEs. 177
Table 6.4: Mean concentrations(µg g ⁻¹) of REEs in plant parts analyzed along with LREEs and HREEs
Table 6.5: Physico-chemical parameters of soil collected and analyzed for LREEs188
Table 6.6: Concentrations of LREEs in different parts of plant species analyzed 189

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AEC	Adsorbed Exchanged Carbonate
BAF	Bioaccumulation Factor
BCF	Bioconcentration Factor
m ³	Cubic meter
CEC	Cation Exchange Capacity
CV	Coefficient of Variation
r ²	Correlation Coefficient
С	Concentration
CF	Contamination Factor
DO	Dissolved Oxygen
°C	Degree Centigrade
EC	Electrical Conductivity
EF	Enrichment Factor
FA	Factor analysis
Igeo	Geo-accumulation Index
НСА	Hierarchical Cluster Analysis
HREEs	Heavy Rare Earth Elements
HR-ICP-MS	High resolution Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass
	Spectrometer

ICP-MS	Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometer
IC	Ion Chromatography
INWQS	Interim National Water Quality Standards
Kg	Kilogram
LOD	Limit of Detection
LOQ	Limit of Quantification
LREEs	Light Rare Earth Elements
МС	Moisture Content
MREEs	Middle Rare Earth Elements
µg kg ⁻¹	Microgram per kilogram
mg kg ⁻¹	Milligram per kilogram
μg L ⁻¹	Microgram per liter
μg g ⁻¹	Microgram per gram
mm	millimeter
М	Molar
mL	Milli liter
μm	Micrometer
Min	Minimum
Max	Maximum
NIST	National Institute of Standards and Technology
ОМ	Organic Matter

PCA	Principal Component Analysis
ppm	Parts per million
ppb	Parts per billion
pmol kg ⁻¹	picomol per kilogram
PLI	Pollution Load Index
REEs	Rare Earth Elements
REY	Rare earths Yttrium
REO	Rare Earth Oxide
rpm	revolutions per minute
SD	Standard Deviation
SRM	Standard Reference Material
SEP	Sequential Extraction Procedure
TSS	Total Suspended Solids
тос	Total Organic Carbon
TDS	Total Dissolved Salts
TF	Transfer Factor
WHO	World Health Organization
XRD	X-ray Diffraction
XRF	X-ray Fluorescence

LIST OF APPENDICES

- Appendix A: List of water sampling conditions collected from different 226 locations from the study area.
- Appendix B: Detailed analytical results for water samples after acid 230 digestion and ICP-MS.
- Appendix C:List of physical parameters of the soil samples collected from232different locations and from three different depths.
- Appendix D: XRF analysis of soil samples with all elemental content 235 collected from ex-mining area.
- Appendix E: Speciation study of Rare earth elements (REEs) in the soil 236 samples collected from three different layers from ex-mining areas by using sequential extraction procedures.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of study

Most of the countries in the world exploit their natural resources in various activities to attain better economic conditions. In order to achieve such developments for any civilization, environmental sustainability become a critical encounter (Emerson et al., 2012, Kobayashi et al., 2014). An example of such activities is the mining that provides economic growth, worldwide trading, employment and better living cost to the nations endowed with mineral resources (Casper, 2007). Mining is not considered as permanent land use activity in temporal and spatial domain, therefore, it has become very crucial to predict accurately disorders. Demand of the metals mining for industrial purposes and to build infrastructure has increased due to urbanization, minerals availability, and government policies for economic advancement and world's population sprawl (Kobayashi et al., 2014, Swenson et al., 2011, Zhang et al., 2017).

Such demand has put a significant attention to solve social conflicts (Jeromino et al., 2015: Sudmeier-Reiux et al., 2015), mitigate highly sensitive and vulnerable land degradation at all scales (Andrew, 2003) and to maintain land (Malaviya et al., 2010, Barkemeyer et al., 2015). Today, all over the world environmental concerns due to mining activities in developing and mineral bearing countries have been widely raised. To rehabilitate and re-use degraded land, human resources, financial inputs, physical efforts would be doubled if such problems associated with mining activities are not held. Rare earth elements (REEs) are obtained as a byproduct in tin mining activities.

Lanthanide series include rare earth elements (REEs) with scandium (Sc) and yttrium (Y), being similar in chemical properties and deposited in ores same as REEs (Zdzisław and Agnieszka, 2015, Khan et al., 2016). Rare earths are the elements with atomic number 57-71 including yttrium (39) and scandium (21), classified into two major groups i-e light

rare earth elements or Cerium group (LREE) and heavy rare earth elements or Yttrium group (HREE). Light REEs or Ce group contains La, Ce, Pr, Nd, Pm, Sm, Eu, Gd while Heavy REEs or Y group contains Y, Tb, Dy, Ho, Er, Tm, Yb, and Lu. LREEs are with atomic numbers 57- 62 and HREEs are with atomic numbers 63-71. Lu occurs more than gold and therefore information on their concentrations and distribution in the environment is important (Wedepol, 1995).

Tin is considered as oldest known metal to man. Until 2015, tins global production was about 335,000 tonnes of which 3-4 % cassiterite (SnO₂) contribute from Central eastern Africa (Barume et al., 2016). REEs are extracted as a byproduct in tin mining operations (Gupta and Suri, 1993). In the beginning of 19th century, Malaysia become world's largest producer of tin and second largest producer and importer of REEs after China (Khan et al., 2016, Min, 2007). For many years, human activities have been a significant source of trace metallic elements eventually contaminating the earth's surface. Such actions overburdened the regime of ecosystem in aquatic and terrestrial environments with large quantities of trace metallic pollutants and contaminants.

1.2 Concentration, speciation and bioavailability of REEs

Rare earth elements (REEs) are not rare in true sense as the term indicate but are widely distributed in the earth's crust (Min, 2007). Mining activities in the specific area leave behind wastes that is transferred to the surrounding environment through different paths ways. In recent years, REEs have been of major concern to the researchers because of their unlimited applications in engineering and different technologies. Determination of REEs concentration, chemical form and mobility in different environmental areas has become of utmost importance (Khan et al., 2016).

REEs concentration for environmental study is not enough but two most considered characteristics are the speciation and bioavailability. Speciation is closely related to

mobility and toxicity of the metals and also some techniques for remediation (Adamu et al., 2013). Recently this technique has been of significant importance in many fields of chemistry because of a determination of distinct species in different chemical forms or the compounds in which REEs are mostly bound or present. The REEs fractionation is most consistent measures of hazardous effects of REEs in the sediment/soil and its consequence on other environments. For soil, it is very hard to find the real system for metal in which it is present (Hill, 1997).

Sequential extraction procedures (SEPs) for REEs speciation study in different environmental media have been more common (Guevara et al., 2004). The form in which REEs are present is more important to evaluate their toxicity. This is acknowledged as a useful method for obtaining information on the concentration, bioavailability and mobility of REEs in soil and ecosystem quality (Kartal et al., 2006). It gives the digenetic transformation of REEs within the sediment/soils of an ex-mining area and the reactivity of both natural and anthropogenic origin. REEs speciation gives a better understanding of the contamination scenario in sediment/soil.

Bioavailability of REEs was determined in plants. Previously, it has been found that REEs have some positive effects on plant growth (von Tucher and Schmidhalter, 2005). However, little is known about their uptake capacity and the mechanism remains unclear. pH controls mobility and behaviour of REEs in the soil (Violante et al., 2010: Tang and Johannesson, 2010). It puts a significant effect on the complexes, clay content of the soil, lower cation exchange capacity (CEC), redox potential and organic matter due to adhering and chelating nature (Aggelides and Londra, 2000). Such parameters show negative impacts on the bioavailability. However, the mobility of REEs enhanced in the presence of rare earth phosphates (REE-PO₄) and metal hydroxides (von Tucher and Schmidhalter, 2005). Root is the most important part of the plant. REEs promote the growth of the root

system by enhancing the formation of adventitious roots and affecting cell differentiation and root morphogenesis (Zhang et al., 2013).

Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) is used as a major technique throughout this research. The main reason for the technique's unparalleled growth is its ability to carry out rapid multielement determinations at the ultra-trace level. Even though, it can broadly determine the same suite of elements as other atomic spectroscopic techniques such as flame atomic absorption (FAA), graphite furnace atomic absorption (GFAA), and inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES), ICP-MS has clear advantages in its multielement characteristics, speed of analysis, detection limits, and isotopic capabilities. It is accomplished by counting the number of ions at a certain mass of the element. A number of different ICP-MS share similar components such as the nebulizer, spray chamber, plasma torch, interface, and detector, but differ significantly in the design of the mass spectrometer and in particular the mass separation device.

1.3 Problem Statement

High levels of REEs in soil, sediments, water, their dispersion in aqueous media and ecological damage are common effects of mining activities all around the world (Gosar, 2004, Horvat et al., 2003, Sajn, 2002, Vreca et al., 2001, Astrom and Nylund, 2000, Durn et al., 1999, Salomons, 1995). Mining activities have been accompanied with many benefits. Apart from these, short comes are more drasting that persist for hundreds of years by leaving a toxic legacy, acid mine drainage and other negative environmental impacts (Hoskin et al., 2000).

China, United States, India, Australia, Brazil, Malaysia, Russia, Egypt, Canada, and South Africa are well known for REEs deposits. Malaysia hosts rare earth minerals, including monazite, xenotime and samarskite from tin ore tailings (Jewell and Kimball, 2014). Transfer of REEs from their point source to the surface of the earth through different pathways is shown in the **Figure 1.1.** Environmental degradation is now a day's closely related to REEs which are related to their mining and processing's (Salomons, 1995).



Figure 1.1: Transfer of metals from their mined areas through soil and sediments to the earth crust (Salomons, 1995).

Now the question arises that since the start of mining activities REEs have been exposed to the environment but until now there are few previous studies found on the concentration, speciation and bioavailability. There is a need to detail study REEs in different environmental samples and regions of mining areas. This has become a very interesting issue in recent times. Mining operations have been carried out in the current study area with many small ponds and big lakes left behind, radioactive waste and mined places which need to rebuild. Due to liability issues existing mining industries are reluctant to explore new resources. To achieve cost effective and long term improvements in mining areas, innovative approaches and technologies need to be adopted and applied. This has drawn much interest to the researchers for the removal of REEs from the environmental components by developing scientifically cost-effective remedial methods and techniques (Aiken et al., 1982). For more than 150 years, mining activities in Malaysia caused tin tailing and REEs disposal waste on large scale (Shamshuddin et al., 1986). There are many problems related to safety and environmental aspects during mine processing and even after its closure.

Rare earths mining and processing activities in Lahat and Kinta valley has created hazardous waste and put harmful impacts on the surrounding environment. So far no study has been done on the speciation and bioavailability of rare earth elements (REEs) in Lahat Perak, Malaysia. Current study focuses more on the chemical form of REEs and their mobility which are more important to control hazards and mitigate harmful impacts on the environment.

1.4 Objectives of the Study

The general objective of the research is to study the impact of REEs in surface water, sediments, soil and plants in the former tin mining catchments of Lahat, Perak and to access the bioavailability of these rare metals in the ecosystem. This work has the following specific research objectives:

1. To determine the concentration of rare earth elements (REEs) in surface water, sediments, soil and plants.

2. To determine the chemical speciation of rare earths in soil and sediments and evaluate their possible risk assessment.

3. To investigate the effects of chemical speciation on the chemical bioavailability of rare earth elements and assess their pollution impacts on the environment.

The main originality of the thesis is to combine, for the first time the geochemical, physico-chemical and analytical techniques to better understand the levels of REEs in the ex-mining area. It is anticipated that the knowledge gained in this study should provide a basis for a possible evaluation of the environmental impacts of tin mining in the Peninsular Malaysia.

1.5 The Scope of Present Study

In the light of all the aspects discussed above about REEs and their effects on environment in Lahat, Kinta valley and surroundings in Perak, Malaysia, it was decided to do present work in ex-mining area. Present study will reveal the facts about the presence and effects of REEs on the environment. Investigations relating to REEs will be done in water, sediment, soil and plants to evaluate their concentration, speciation, bioavailability and potential mobility. Environmental impact assessment will be done in sediment and soil that will be a very useful information in this study area. Main purpose of the study correlates with the hazards of REEs and their presence in environment in abandoned tin-mining land in Malaysia.

1.6 Study Area

Perak is the second largest state in Peninsular Malaysia (Hengky, 2011) with temperature range 23 °C - 33 °C throughout the year, 82.3 % humidity and 312 mm annual rainfall. By its geology largely governed by flanked mountains on the west side with alluvium cover, granitic mountains on eastern side, subordinate schist and low lying land

underlain by limestone hills prominently in the Kinta valley (Khan et al., 2016). Geological, landuse, hydrological and sampling area maps are shown in **Figure 1.2, 1.3**. **1.4 & 1.5**.

There is a river flowing along the length of the valley, known as sungai Kinta as shown in **Figure 1.5**. Perak is one of the richest states in the country; richness comes from tinmining in Kinta district. Bukit Merah, an elongated piece of land is located in Kinta valley, stretching about 1.6 km along the east by Menglembu Lahat, south from Menglembu Township and west by tin mining land. There are many small ponds and a big mining lake in the area.

1.7 Contribution of Dissertation

Rare earth mining process depends on the type of the ore processed during mining and elements which are extracted. In recent year rare earths have been focused much by public inquiry due to natural resource extraction and convergence of environmental narratives. Mining and extraction processes broaden the growth of social movements. In Malaysia, legacy of past projects enhance doubt between community and site developers and highlight strong universal connections and declare environmental inequality of activism around minerals.

In this research, REEs have been studied for the first time on ex-mining land in the state of Perak. Speciation and bioavailability are considered two more important aspects to evaluate REEs in the environment. A new novel, cheap, easy and reliable method has been developed for determining cation exchange capacity (CEC) for the soil. Sequential extraction procedure for chemical speciation has been modified for its simplicity and accuracy. The key findings in this research related to REEs will help to solve environmental issues already undertaken by environmental protection agencies.



Figure 1.2: Geological map of the Kinta valley, Perak, Malaysia (Modified from Yassin et al., 2015).



Figure 1.3: Landuse map of Kinta valley, ex-tin mining area in Perak, Malaysia (Modified from Pradhan et al., 2014).



Figure 1.4: Hydrogeology and drainage map of kinta valley, ex-tin mining area in Perak, Malaysia (Mineral and Geoscience department, Perak. 2008)



Figure 1.5: Map showing the current study area.

1.8 Thesis Outline

The thesis entitled "Speciation and Bioavailability of Rare Earth Elements (REEs) in extin mining Area: A Case Study from Lahat, Perak, Malaysia" is divided into six chapters.

Chapter 1: Introduction

This chapter describes the general background of Rare earth elements (REEs), speciation and bioavailability that have been the main objective of this study. Study area has been discussed. Scope of the current research and its contribution have been significantly described.

Chapter 2: Literature Review
This chapter comprises of a detailed studies of REEs, their characteristics, importance, global production, applications and determining techniques. REEs have been discussed for their environmental impacts related to speciation, bioavailability in different environmental samples and as pollutants.

Chapter 3: Methodology

The materials used and method adopted for the determination of REEs concentration, speciation and bioavailability have been described. Also include discussion on statistical methods used for analyzing the data obtained from physical and chemical parameters.

Chapter 4: Concentration of water, sediment and soil

This chapter elaborate the results and discussion related to the concentration and physical parameters of REEs in water, sediments and soil.

Chapter 5: Speciation study of sediments and soil

This chapter describes the detailed results and discussion of speciation study of sediments and soil based on sequential extraction procedures. Potential mobility based on speciation has been calculated and described.

Chapter 6: Plant analysis for REEs bioavailabilitiy

Bioavailability of REEs found specifically in plants in their different parts has been discussed in this chapter.

Chapter 7: Conclusion

Summarized part of the research has been given in this chapter.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

Following chapter provides background information about the present study and limitations of previous work. It describes the methodology used by the scientists, health risks, environmental and economic impacts of earlier studies. To investigate any issue or to proceed chemical analysis, analytical instruments and measurements play a key role. Some utilized for metals, non-metals, trace elements, ionic liquid crystals, nanomaterial's while other relates to the geology of earth science, their minerals, sample detection, concentration and to save natural environment for the betterment of human beings.

2.1 Introduction to rare earth elements (REEs)

Lanthanides are 15 elements termed as rare earth elements (REEs) (Wall, 2014). These include lanthanum (La), cerium (Ce), praseodymium (Pr), neodymium (Nd), promethium (Pm), samarium (Sm), europium (Eu), gadolinium (Gd), terbium (Tb), dysprosium (Dy), holmium (Ho), erbium (Er), thulium (Tm), ytterbium (Yb), and lutetium (Lu). Scandium (Sc) and Yttrium (Y) due to similar physicochemical behavior also include in Lanthanides. Important and commonly occurring REEs are shown in **Figure 2.1**.



Figure 2.1: Some important rare earth elements (REEs) (Van Gosen et al., 2014).

REEs are known as critical elements because of high tech industrial applications (Charalampides & Vatalis, 2015, Taylor & McClennan, 1985). REEs are categorized as light rare earth elements (LREEs) from La to Gd including Sc, also known as cerium group and heavy rare earth elements (HREEs) from Tb to Lu including Y, also known as Yttrium group as shown in **Figure 2.2**. After heavy metals abundance such as lead, molybdenum and arsenic in earth crust, two important rare elements (Ce and Y) are also present in higher concentrations. La and Nd have same occurrence as lead and thulium but more than gold, platinum and iodine (Reiners, 2001, Richter et al., 2006).



Figure 2.2: Periodic table of the elements showing the division between LREEs and HREEs (Schüler et al., 2011).

2.2 Sources of rare earth elements (REEs)

REEs are not rare in nature but extracted as a byproduct during mining of other elements or metals (Oko-Institut, 2011). First REEs was discovered in 19th century, cerium being more abundant was found in high percentage. REEs mostly occur in earth's crust and show great diversity in geological deposits.

Major ore deposits of rare earths include monazite, bastanasite and xenotime. Monazite (Cerium phosphate) with monoclinic unit contains LREEs like Ce, La and HREEs like Nd in greater amounts, found mostly in acidic igneous rocks, metamorphic rocks, vein deposits, placer deposits as host rocks eroded and resistant to weathering, minerals crystallized under low temperature and pressure. Xenotime (Y-phosphate) with tetragonal geometry contains HREEs along with uranium and thorium, crystallizes under high temperature and pressures, primarily called Yttrium phosphates mineral and is a constituent of granitic and gneissic rocks. Igneous rocks contains 100 ppm of lanthanides in their minerals where in sedimentary rocks such as carbonates and sand stones (high conc. of REE and Y), clay minerals are in abundance. LREEs strongly concentrate in continental crust due to large radii and less compatibility with other minerals. 80-90 % of REE deposits contain La, Ce, Pr, and Nd.

Among metamorphic rock minerals, efficient amount of REEs are found in garnet, fractionating the heavier lanthanides. Association of radioactive elements like U and Th with REEs pose environmental issues (Vaca-escobar and Villalobos, 2010). During 1950's and 1960's, marine and alluvial placer deposits considered most important source of REEs. Thorium by weight is present in monazite formed in granitic rocks. Metallothermic and electrolytic methods are considered more successful in rare earths production (Gupta & Krishnamurthy, 2005).

2.3 Characteristics of rare earth elements (REEs)

Unique chemical properties of REEs urged scientist to find application in geochemical studies and planetary systems (Bwire et al., 2003). All REEs occur in trivalent state except Ce⁴⁺ and Eu^{2+.} One of the basic property of REEs is Lanthanide contraction, due to decrease in ionic radii from La³⁺ to Lu³⁺ by progressive filling of electrons in inner shielded 4f-orbital. This property leads REEs in studying fundamental processes

governing oceanic cycling. REEs have been utilized to understand geo-chemical exchange between crust and ocean (Elderfield et al., 1988).

Most of the REE compounds are phosphatic. Naturally lanthanum exists as silicates, carbonates, oxides, phosphates and ion-halogenated compounds in minerals. REEs never occur as individuals so said that: nature no better than chemists in separating them. Weathering process causes fractionation of REEs (Tyler, 2004). According to Oddo-Harkins rule, elements with even atomic number are more abundant than odd atomic numbers however quantity decreases with increase in atomic number (Pendias and Pendias, 2001, Wen et al., 2001). Word rare, refer to the separation of rare earth elements (REEs) from other elements and earth refer to the old term for oxides as REEs were first identified as rare earth oxides (REO) (Richter et al., 2006). Magnetic and spectroscopic properties depend upon bindings. Rare earth compounds are predominantly ionic in nature, do not exhibit as covalent bonding or crystal field stabilization and show high affinity to compounds containing strong ligands (F', OH', O³⁻) (Bulman, 2003). REEs show some bonding with co-ordination compounds. Sc and Y forms two series of transition elements with La and actinium (Ac). Closely related chemical properties of REEs constitute their behavior in natural environment (Harbon, 2002).

REEs are generally lustrous from grey to silver in colour, soft, malleable, ductile, reactive, strongly paramagnetic with strong anisotropy and difficult to separate with high electrical conductivity and trivalent charge occur as monazite (Raileanu et al., 2013). REEs show similarity with Al and low solid solubility forming intermetallic bonds with alloying elements resulting in decrease electrical conductivity without affecting ductility (Pai et al., 1995, Handbook, 1979). Lanthanides with lower atomic number find more common and more abundant ores than high atomic numbers. Gadolinium and Dysprosium classified as medium weight lanthanides. In July 2011, mining of REEs resumed at

Mountain pass and started at mount weld reached at full production level in 2012 supplying globally 40,000 tons/annum (Protano and Riccobono, 2002).

REEs occur in dispersed form. Cerium being 25^{th} most abundant element. Few exploitable deposits are known as rare earth minerals. REEs are known to be found in more than 200 minerals. Many REEs are associated from the source from which they have been derived. Elemental forms of REEs derived from their ores are soft, malleable, ductile, magnetic, reactive, optical assets with lustrous surfaces (Merten and Buchel, 2004). Increase in melting points from cerium (798 °C) to leutetium (1663 °C) have been observed. Except scandium, yttrium, lanthanum, ytterbium and leutetium, REEs show paramagnetic and strongly magnetic anisotropy. In aquatic ecosystems REEs are in trivalent state (Ln³⁺) except cerium (Ce⁴⁺) and europium (Eu²⁺) (Merten & Buchel, 2004, Gupta & Krishnamurthy, 2005, Gupta & Krishnamurthy, 2004). Average abundance of REEs in earth crust vary from 66 µg g⁻¹ to 0.5 µg g⁻¹ (Greenwood and Earnshaw, 1984).

2.4 Mineralogy of rare earth elements (REEs)

REEs naturally occur in a diversity of mineral types. HREEs and Y are mostly associated with minerals such as xenotime, euxenite, yttrotantalite, samarskite, and gadolinite while LREEs are found in monazite, bastnasite, ancylite, lanthanite, stillwellite, allanite, cerianite, britholite, and loparite (Chakhmouradian & Wall, 2012). Bastnasite, monazite and xenotime ores are mostly extracted around the world in commercially operating mines. High concentration of REEs produces its own minerals. Despite of more than 200 REE minerals, only three ores considered suitable for extraction: Bastnasite, xenotine and monazite (Gupta & Krishnamurthy, 2004, Weng et al., 2013). **Bastnasite**, a carbonate mineral [(Ce, La, Y)CO.F] found associated with hydroxyl-bastnasite [(Ce, La)CO.(OH,F)], having dull to lustrous form and occur in different colors varying from white, gray, tan, brown to yellow or pink. This mineral was found similar to parisite [Ca

(Ce, La).(CO.).F.] and in vein deposits, pegmatite's and contact metamorphosis zones. It is highly enriched in LREEs such as cerium, lanthanum and yttrium (Haque et al., 2014, Keith et al., 2010). **Xenotime** and **monazite**, two phosphate minerals, found together, crystallize under different temperature and pressure regimes containing any of HREEs or LREEs. **Monazite**, an enriched LREE and phosphate mineral bearing thorium [(Ce, La, Y, Th)PO₄], characterized by low crystallization temperature and pressure with 60–62 % RE oxides, commonly present in yellow to brown or orange brown crystals having transparent and viscous shiny surfaces. Thorium imparts radioactive properties and waste produced from such mineral need special disposal methods, accounts disorder for financial extraction. Generally, minerals with radioactive properties are not easy to handle and process (Keith et al., 2010, Sprecher et al., 2014). **Xenotime**, an yttrium phosphate mineral (YPO₄) crystallizes under high temperature and pressure with enriched HREEs and minor component of granitic and gneissic rocks. In nature this mineral found as a part of acidic and alkaline rocks with lustrous surface and yellow to reddish brown in color (Keith et al., 2010, Harbon, 2002, Melfos & Voudouris, 2012).

Uranium ores have also been found to contain REEs in appreciable amounts. Processing of such radioactive minerals for REEs is very challenging to the world's producer and supplier countries. Four countries; China, USA, Australia and Malaysia are well known for REEs deposits. China has bastnasite and xenotime deposits while USA principally contains bastnasite deposits. Australia has major RE bearing minerals such as monazite and xenotime whereas Malaysia is known for xenotime deposits only (**Figure 2.3**) (Australia, 2013, Haxel et al., 2014).

2.5 Distribution of rare earth elements (REEs)

Rare earth distribution in minerals debated high co-ordination numbers (10-12) are Cs selection, with low co-ordination numbers (6) are Y selection and with intermediate

numbers (7-9) have complex composition for both LREE and HREEs. Availability and distribution of REEs identified by factors such as ionic radius, appropriate bonding forces, charge and optimum ionic radius. Similar ionic radii and oxidation states place REEs as substituent in crystal structures. High concentration of REEs is required for forming their own pure minerals. REEs enriched environment is divided into two categories i-e igneous and hydrothermal processes called primary deposits while weathering and sedimentary processes called secondary deposits. These two classes further subdivided on the basis of their occurrence, mineralogy and genetic associations. Orris and Grauch, 2002 gave most comprehensive list of REEs deposits and occurrence (Orris & Grauch, 2002). REEs distribution in different deposits is shown in **Figure 2.3**.

The distribution of this group of REEs shows significant differences in their contents in automorphic and alluvial soils in areas with different geological bases. It also indicate that the lanthanum contents vary in the range of 1.6–42 mg kg⁻¹ in the Kamenica– Zletovska Rivers quarter terraces. Lanthanum distribution is specifically correlated with the older volcanic formations of Paleogene flysch (with a median of 15 mg kg⁻¹). Cerium contents vary from 3.6 to 65 mg kg⁻¹ in the topsoil sample, with no significant variations between the contents in the topsoil versus the subsoil layer. The HREEs are deposited as geochemical association predominantly automorphic soil types on the terraces in the Bregalnica basin (Rollinson, 2014, Balabanova et al., 2013, Balabanova et al., 2015).

2.6 Rare earth elements (REEs) global production, supply and demand

USGS reported total worlds RE oxide reserves 99 million tons (MCS, USGS 2010). Actively mining RE countries includes China, India, Brazil, Malaysia, and USA as shown in Figure 2.4. Total worlds REE resources up till 2012 are 114 million metric tons with 48.3 % worlds reserve dominates in China, 16.7 % by common wealth of independent states (CIS) and 2.7 % by India.



Figure 2.3: Rare earth elements distribution in (a) Bayan Obo, China (b) Mountain Pass, USA; (c) Mount Weld, Australia; (d) Lahat, Malaysia (USGS, 2013: Haque et al., 2014).

Global REE demand continues to grow until 2016. Rare earth importers are Japan, Germany, France and USA. Largest importer in 2008 was Japan and USA followed by Germany, France and Australia. China export 48,000 tons of REEs in 2008 while Australian based companies export products like alloys, industrial metals misch metals, 15 cerium compounds and solutions, oxides of all REEs, ferrocesium and lighter flint alloys. China started REE supply in 1980's and in 1990's become principal supplier (Rose, 1960).

In 2008 Japan stands 3rd largest exporter of REEs after many European and Middle East countries. USGS reported large undiscovered reserves in the world to meet global demand as well as local Chinas demand as shown in **Figure 2.5.** REEs global production increased up to 123,000 tons in 2009. Increasing demand of REEs corresponds to their use in low C technologies. Most countries put emphasis on achieving global diverse supply; improve recycling and resources, reuses and identifying substitutes. Orthophosphates of LREE or Cerium group called Monazite, flurocarbonates as Bastanasite while orthophosphates of HREE or Y group called Xenotime. Of these deposits 80 % holds China, 11 % USA and 5 % India (Meyers, 2002). REEs exist in carbonate complexes [Ln(CO₃)₂] and 99 % in alkaline lake water. LREEs form strong complexes than HREEs. REEs considered providing valuable tracers or signature information (Johannesson et al., 1995).

REEs are not rare in nature but their extraction for promoting concentrations to appropriate level is very challenging (Report, Nolans project 2012).



Figure 2.4: Top countries in rare earth mine production worldwide during 2010-2013 (USGS, 2014).



Figure 2.5: Rare earth supply and demand from 2005-2015 (USGS, 2014).

2.7 Applications of rare earth elements (REEs)

REEs being major component of advanced material in high tech and green energy sector referred as "Seeds of technology" where durability, low carbon emission and robust performance required. In most countries of the world, commercially used REEs constitute technical applications. In 1903, industrial process and commercial utilization of REEs started after discovering their pyrophoric properties and alloys for flint and incandescent mantle containing thorium. In 1907, ferrocesium lighter flint discovered as first industrial product and others REEs in all countries especially United States (Calvert, 2005).

In nuclear technology REEs are useful as neutrons absorber to nuclear reactors and in neutron shielding metals. REEs show ease of oxidation, applied as reducing agent for other metals, as getters and for improving the physical properties of alloys. Carbon and other impurities removal from cast iron, grain refining in high grade steel, aluminium and magnesium containing alloys, rolling, tensile strength, creep, corrosion resistance properties in Cr, improved by REEs. REEs used as catalyst, permanent magnets, fluorescent, pigments, miscellaneous (superconductors, data saver, laser material, cement additives, glass fiber cables, magnetic cooling, grease, jewellery, solar energy system, textile, medical techniques) constitutes economic importance (Osoon, 2005). Lighter flints containing Auer incandescent mantles comprise classical applications.

Misch metals used in Ni metal hydride, rechargeable batteries like laptops, computers and mobile phones depends on their ability to absorb and store hydrogen in smaller space. REEs show applications as fuel cells, fluid catalyst; in cracking process as zeolites catalyst cracking efficiency enhanced 1-5 % of RE chlorides, hydrocarbon oxidation as cerium oxide used in self-cleaning ovens, autocatalytic counter and CFC catalyst (Darcy et al., 2014). REEs used as major components of solid state lasers, europium in addition to glue of postage stamps read by electronic sorting machines. Promethium serves as heat source in space crafts, satellites, space probes and nuclear powered batteries (Bergmann, 2005). High performance permanent magnets are usually based on REEs properties such as optimal, magnetic and alloy. Holmium and dysprosium used as pole pieces for high field and low temperature magnets. Permanent magnets used in computers, electrical, mechanical and automotive engineering, navigation, telecommunication, aviation and space operation.

Combination of REEs with transition metals acts as powerful permanent magnetic material. In glass industry REEs are used for colouring and decolouring as lanthanum used in high quality lenses, scientific instruments and cameras. REEs find use in goggles for welders and glass workers, electronic applications in band lamps, microwave filters (Sm), cathode ray tubes (CRT), ceramic for electronics (La, Ce, Pr) and flat plasma TV screens (Eu, Tm, Y, Pr) (Krebs, 1998, Bergmann, 2005). REEs being important laser materials used in laser medicine technology for therapeutic purposes, surgical procedures, dentistry, dermatology, angioplasty, ophthalmology, urology, neurosurgery and gastroenterology. Papillomavirus lesions treated by Neodymium YAG lasers (neodymium-doped yttrium aluminium garnet; Nd:Y₃Al₅O₁₂) and lithotripsy by holmium YAG lasers.

REEs perform anticoagulant, antimicrobial, cytotoxic, and phosphate binding with maximum effect on Ca²⁺ depending processes, anticancer diagnostic purpose and therapy (Zaak et al., 2003, Shamamian & Grasso, 2004). Medical uses of REE began with antiemetic containing cerium oxide for the treatment of vomiting, gastrointestinal disturbances, neurological disorders and cough. Hyperphosphatemia, disease developed by chronic renal failure need to lower phosphate levels. Lanthanum carbonate, RE salt due to less toxicity and low intestinal absorption capacity show highly effective phosphate binding properties (Harrison & Scott, 2004, Hutchison & Albaaj, 2005).

Most important use of rare earths lies in the magnets (Hollins, 2010). Neodymiumiron-borates magnets and smarium-cobalt magnets considered largest and strongest permanent materials. Neodymium magnets being hardest used in Hard disk drives (HDD), biggest application of recent era and in speakers, wind turbines, luminescence and hybrid electric motors etc. Worlds per year RE oxides consumption estimated 765, 000 tons. RE phosphorous used in X-ray photography, fluorescent lights, computer monitors, colour TV screens, trichromatic and super deluxe lamps. In industrial robots, space technology and military plans permanent magnets used in limiting motors (Cannon, 1980). Neodymium-iron-boron (Nd₂-Fe₁₄-B) permanent magnets constitute over 25 % of worldwide market in high tech (Davies, 1986). One of men's greatest achievements lies in the discovery, exploration and utilization of nuclear fission processes. REEs show more affinity towards nuclear technology with high capture cross-section for thermal neutrons and same time acts as poison for nuclear fuel if present in high concentration.

2.8 Determination techniques for rare earth elements (REEs)

REEs are determined at ppm level in uranium, expressing difficult task (Ahmad et al., 1984). Solvent extraction, distillation, precipitation followed by atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS), X-Ray fluorescence (XRF), DC-arc emission spectrometry and Inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry (ICP-AES) are some of the techniques used to determine REEs in different samples but these instruments lack reliability and sensitivity. Neutron Activation Analysis (NAA) and Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS) for REEs detection proves quite sensitive techniques. Main attraction to analytical chemists with broad variety for REEs lies in solvent extraction not only because of time savings but gives resolution and reproducibility in results. Geochemical reactions at low temperatures fractionate the REEs in water and sediments (Johan et al., 2000). Now a days, NAA and ICP-MS techniques are usually applied to determine REEs in soil, sediment and water. Until 1950s,

for REEs separation, fractional crystallization and precipitation superceded by ion exchange and solvent extraction considered laborious and inefficient techniques (Gupta & Krishnamurthy, 2005).

Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS) technique was first designed in 1980s (Dai et al., 2014) and used as a versatile detection technique for trace and rare elements. ICP-MS (Agilent 7500) is applied to trace and ultra-trace measurement of >70 elements from <1 ppt to >500 ppm (9 orders linear range). Spectral simplicity shows that every element (except In) has an isotope which is free from direct overlap. Speed of multi-element analysis lies for typical multi-element acquisition in 1-2 min (~4 min including rinse). Flexibility to optimize for specific applications such as automated set-up and auto tuning give improved ease of use. Fast semi-quantitative analysis give accurate data without calibration and measurement is based on comparison of relative isotope sensitivity. Detection limits are 10-100 times superior to those of ICP-AES and ICP-OES. It requires small amount of sample and has excellent dynamic range.

2.9 Environmental impacts assessment of REEs (as pollutants)

Risk and impacts of REEs availability depends upon life cycle costs and geopolitical considerations suggesting risk to increase in next few decades with supply disruption in the products sustained heat are anticipated. This is a critical issue not a crisis. Mining and processing techniques of REEs show considerable variations due to their diversity in deposits. Surface mining, one of the methods of rare earth extraction, performed separately or in combination with underground mining. Mining methods for placer deposits of REEs depend upon physical condition whether submerged or on land. REEs hardly mined separately. Mount pass in California operated exclusively only for REEs recovery while in China extraction from Bayon Oboyo REEs extracted as a by-product with 99.9 % purity (Zhondge, 2009). Oxidation and reduction can be useful in separation

processes for REEs, with fractional precipitation, crystallization, solvent extraction and ion-exchange, all differing in their basicity.

Anthropogenic sources considered main source of environmental pollution for REEs. Majority of REEs pollutants come from industrial effluents. Presence of REEs in aqueous media and atmosphere occur due to extraction from ores and refining by ion-exchange chromatography. REEs in the atmosphere are caused by oil based power plants and automobiles exhaust effecting not only air but also plants. REEs used as fertilizers by Chinese for more than 20 years (Zhang et al., 2001), now frequently applied in agriculture, entering in environment disturbing biogeochemical cycles of REEs causing adverse effects on air, soil and water, finally enters into human beings through food path. Therefore in most countries REEs restricted for only use in industries (Ichihashi et al., 1992).

Liming increases the pH with decrease in REEs concentration. High concentration of REEs up to 30-40 μ g L⁻¹ also determined. Soil loading capacity of REEs after emitting from agriculture and industry through mining, sewage, sludge and factory effluents increased (Jones, 1997). Generally REEs prove to be hazardous and fatal for health and put negative impacts. In extracted soil, REEs found in water soluble fractions, carbonate bond fractions, sulphide bond fractions, exchangeable fractions, organics and residual fractions. Potentiometric calculations are negatively affected by high amounts of REEs in different environmental samples (Shan et al., 2003). Transformation and distribution of REEs depends largely on Physico-chemical properties of soil. Acidity of soil causes leaching of REEs (Pang et al., 2002). Alkalinity show negative correlation with uptake of lanthanides indicating increased complexation with reduced bioavailability. In sea water depletion of REEs into LREEs and HREEs occur due to complexation with important ligands. REEs mining and processing proves a dirty business, economically

rebuilding the supply chain, domestically are prohibitive and environmentally unacceptable. Aggressive R & D agenda is recommended for REEs alternatives, new applications, REE free technology, recycling, and process optimization.

Recently, many environmental issues are concerned in REE mining and processing due to lack of environmental regulations and control over like xonetime in Malaysia placer deposits contain 2 % Uranium and 0.7 % Thorium, main cause to fail industrial plant in area (Yusoff & Latifah, 2002). Similarly beach sand processing banned due to environmental concerns in China, Australia and Europe. Chemicals used in processing of REEs proved hazardous likewise in China causing diseases to local irritants, destruction of farms and water pollution (Hilsum, 2009). To control environmental issues China stopped rare earth production facilities that impacts on global supply. World's largest institute for REEs, the Batou industrial institute, working with seven projects for technology refining and saving the environment (Daily, 2010).

Recycling of REEs has been a difficult and expensive process. Neodymium can be recovered from Nd-Fe-B magnets that produced large amount of Nd scraps (Binnemans, 2013) and recovery of rare earths is a major problem today in the world due to high cost, low yield recycling processes, not feasible commercially. However, the most promising technology used by Japan, the only country in the world is metal liquid extraction with 1 % recycling capacity (EPOW, 2011). Electric transactions, motors, regenerating braking systems of each hybrid vehicles and batteries contain about 20 kg of REEs. LCD and plasma also contain REEs due to spectroscopic properties. Tb³⁺ show green fluorescence and Eu³⁺ show red with high thermal stability.

According to EPA, REEs processing waste dumped in stream water possess hazardous potential, classified as waste solvent due to ignitability, zinc waste mercury contaminated, spent lead filter cake due to toxicity and solvent extraction (Eliseeva & Bunzli, 2011).

During mining and processing of REEs, major environmental risk are related to waste water, process chemicals and high surface area particles. REE affected areas, if not properly managed and controlled when exposed to weathering, contaminate air, soil and water. The solid, radionuclides, radons, ore-bearing heavy metals, sulphates and organics in trace amount acts as pollutants in areas affected with REEs. Fugitive dust contaminates air and soil in the surroundings. Precipitate events and dam overtopping transfers the pollutants from catchment to surroundings soil and surface water bodies through surface runoff water.

A serious long term environmental damage occurred when dam fails due to poor construction or from catastrophic events, termed as worst case scenario. Poor operation, design, handling, management of REE mine and concerned pollution control system collectively reduce the risk of REE environmental contamination due to REE mining and processing activities as described in **Figure 2.6**.

Environmental components of REEs sustainability have been emphasized in all aspects whether positive or negative (Yang et al., 2013, Ichihara & Harding, 1995). However, difficult to trace environmental aspects of REE compared to heavy metals. Leaching has been an issue of interest in Chinese environmental degradation (Cui et al., 2009). Some industrial, hazardous waste, when disposed of causes unrecovered REEs. China as high in REEs production causes serious environmental damage in areas with mining and processing, if in agreement with limited environmental regulations.

Bayan Obo mine, after 40 years of operation, radioactively contaminate soil, water and vegetation. Chinese society of RE stated, every tons of REE produced, generate 8.5 kg of fluorine and 13 kg of dust along with 9,600 - 12000 m³ of waste gases with dust concentrate, SO₂, 75 m³ acidic waste water, HF and 1 ton of radioactive waste residue. Sponification process produces harmful waste water. By estimation, up till 2005, process

generates 20-25000 tons of waste water and 300-5000 mg L⁻¹ total ammonia nitrogen concentration (Eliseeva & Bunzli, 2011).



Figure 2.6: Risks of REEs mining without or with insufficient environmental protection systems (Schuler et al., 2011).

Radioactive elements like uranium and thorium associated with RE deposits pose key issue with processing and disposing of waste. In United States, Molycorp mountain pass site observed for waste water and tailings as primary environmental pollution source.

Lots of attention done on environmental impacts of REEs production, distribution and politico-economics struggle to benefit the world but due to inadequate hypothetical dynamics interplay between environment and society contributing towards human and worldwide welfare. Number of environmental and safety concerns raises in rare earth extraction because minerals containing RE ores associated with radioactive elements like uranium and thorium. Lots of management practices need like less radiation exposure to worker, public and environment, transportation, extraction, mining and waste disposal.

To reduce its effects, dams used to dispose of tailings causes increase in TDS, neutralization of HCl in water with NaOH. TDS range 10,000 mg L^{-1} with low concentration barium, boron, strontium and radiological constituents. Metals, nutrients and radiological constituents in waste water and tailings show negative impact on groundwater quality. From a social sustainability perspective point of view, ex-mining sites of REE adequately rehabilitated for other uses like Lynas corporation plant in Malaysia (Japan, 2013). REEs development put social contribution towards green economy.

In order to maintain national sustainable technology development, common insights of risks need to be balanced at site. After great centralization of supply in China, for the advancement in alternative resources efforts made on the development in USA and Australia, reduced China dominance of production of REEs to 86 % in 2012 and unconventional resources like coal, coal ash and recycling and deep sea deposits that will be examined by Japan till 2018 (Calvert, 2003, Richter et al., 2006).

For many years, human activities have been a significant source of trace metallic elements eventually contaminating the earth's surface. Such actions overburdened the regime of ecosystem in aquatic and terrestrial environments with large quantities of trace metallic pollutants and contaminants. Mining, extraction and utilization of trace elements in high value goods and as major component of infrastructure became cornerstone in human development civilization. Consequently at local, national and universal scale, human awareness and individual role on the environmental components to manage and improve degraded terrestrial and aquatic system has been enhanced (Ozdes et al., 2011).

REEs speciation in the geochemical samples provides potential hazards and pathways for remediation. Factors like time and environmental conditions affecting speciation provide challenging and great opportunity for environmental science and technology to study rare earth elements. Evaluation of contaminants, assessment and remediation processes are recent in modern research (Ashraf et al., 2015).

Different species of ecosystem have 99 % REEs bioavailable in bound to suspended matter and sediment form. Bioavailability of rare earth elements (REEs) in different environments vary with change in ionic concentration and ligands and decrease among dissolved species as in the order: free ion, organic or inorganic complexes (Borrego et al., 2012, Sun et al., 2003). It also depends on equilibrium and change when there is a disturbance in equilibrium. Sediments may become a source of available rare earths in water which also become available to other biotic organisms feeding on them.

Hamzah et al. (2013) studied the sediments from abandoned tin mining lakes in Malaysia. Main focus of the study was to study the effect of anthropogenic heavy metals, U-238 and Th-232 in fresh water lake systems through Instrumental neutron activation analysis (INAA). Generally, synchronous higher concentrations were observed in the younger section of the cores. Mean metal concentrations for all cores for As, Cr, Mn, Zn, U-238 and Th-232 were 48.9 ppm, 41.1 ppm, 407.9 ppm, 199.1 ppm, 30.6 ppm and 85.7 ppm respectively. The results were twice as high compared to results of a control location on undisturbed land. Discharges from such activities containing heavy metals get their way into the lake through surface deposition by rain water, and remobilized from the depositional areas to the sediment coring sites. U-238 and Th-232 may be attributed to the minerals contained in the tin tailings left in the area.

Pradhan et al. (2014) studied the land subsidence in kinta valley using geographic information system and remote sensing techniques in collaboration with Department of Minerals and Geosciences, Malaysia. Urban areas and agricultural industries are the entities most affected by the consequences of land subsidence. The results indicated that the FR model could produce a 71.16 % prediction rate, while the EBF showed better prediction accuracy with a rate of 73.63 %. Furthermore, the success rate was measured and accuracies of 75.30 and 79.45 % achieved for FR and EBF, respectively.

REEs released from soil and sediments become significant as bioavailable to the algae. Sequential extraction method is commonly applied to study bioavailability of rare earths in geochemical sample analysis. Bioaccumulation of REEs in organisms depends in part upon their bioavailability. Few investigations describe the relationship between rare earth elements species and plant bioavailability. Sun et al. (2003) reported that most of the rare earths in soil and sediments are present in extractable species and increase with increase in spiking of REEs. Generally, REEs concentration in soil is very small in mg kg⁻¹ (Ebrahim et al., 2009) and in plants more than 10 mg kg⁻¹ (Ebrahim et al., 2009, Cao et al., 2000, 2001: Wood et al., 2004). This concentration is quite low to detect. Still no correlation in the studies found between REEs species in natural soil system and their bioavailability. The current review paper provides an overview of contents relating to geochemistry, bioavailability and speciation of REEs in the ecosystem and describes trace metal speciation and bioavailability in achieving result oriented remediation methods and risk in approaching pollution source (Haque et al., 2014).

The low concentrations of REEs (ng L⁻¹ or ng kg⁻¹) hinder their geochemical fate in many environmental mediums (Kynicky et al., 2012, Williams-Jones et al., 2012). Previous research work on biogeochemistry REEs in soil/plant system and their effects on agricultural ecosystem have been widely studied (Zhang & Shan, 2001, Wyttenbach, 1998, Zawisza et al., 2011). Work done can be categorized into four phases; one include study on efficacy of rare earths based fertilizers, second geochemical behaviour of rare earth in ecosystem, third include practices employment of rare earth based fertilizer, and fourth comprises of physiological processes of enhanced yield. Ferns show high enrichment of REEs in the soil by ICP-MS and INAA which are strongly recommended techniques for such determination. Many properties of the soil such as physico-chemical, affect the exchangeable fractions of speciation which ultimately put large impact on REEs bioavailability. Study also indicates average amount REEs in the soil ranging 85-522.7 mg kg⁻¹. LREEs show abundance in the soil (83-95 %) with average value and mean ratio of 89 % and 8, respectively. Cerium is correlated with 42 % of all the REEs and 48 % with LREEs. Wheat seeds found with rare earth elements ranging from 10⁻⁴-10⁻⁸ gg⁻¹ much lower than in soil but with similar distribution. Generally in roots and leaves, rare earth concentration increase with dressing (Tsirambides & Filippidis, 2012, Skarpelis, 2002).

Lot of studies has been done on geochemistry of rare earths in different coals as potential economic value of rare earths took much attention in this century. In coal mining sector and modern technology, REEs have largely been used as tracers for diagnostic and epigenetic purposes. Some coal deposits due to different geological settings and paleoenvironments show enrichment of HREEs as compared to LREEs. Different plies from same coal due to different depositional microenvironments have variable rare earths distribution paterrens. Rare earth elements (REEs) are found bound to minerals which are associated in large extent as organics. HREEs have more organic bound affinity than LREEs and extracted humic substances found enriched with MREEs (Wenfeng et al., 2008, PePiper & Piper, 2002, Bonev et al., 2012).

Study conducted on Antaibo surface mine in China for rare earth distribution show 3 patterens: shale like, LREEs enriched and HREE rich which were recognized from peat swamps, extent of aquatic control and rare earth resources. Results indicate that extract was relatively enrich in HREEs and depleted in middle rare earth elements (MREEs) with negative anomaly. Land derived debris in major while sea water influenced organic matter with hydrogen control over the LREEs found in organic matter of coal (Bonev et al., 2012).

2.10 Speciation and Solubility of rare earth elements (REEs)

Speciation of REEs usually determines solubility and bioavailability of a substance. It depends on salinity, pH and presence of anions (Liang et al., 2005, Ashraf et al., 2015). These parameters cause difference in REEs speciation in salt water compared to fresh water which contains 70-96 % of rare earth elements (REEs) as carbonate complexes while fresh water mostly impacted by humate complexes. At high pH compared to LREEs strong complexes with carbonate ions are significantly made by HREEs as with increase in atomic number stability constant also increases whereas at low pH REE³⁺ and (REE)SO_{4⁺} are more common. When hydrolysis is carried out at high pH (10), different hydroxyl products of REEs such as di, tri and tetra are more common. Generally, complex formation and low solubility product (Ksp) make the solubility of REEs low. Ksp of rare earths phosphate can be as low as 10⁻²⁵ mol² I⁻² while Ksp of RE carbonates and hydroxides at 25 °C is lowest as 10^{-30} mol⁵ I⁻⁵ and 10^{-24} mol⁴ I⁻⁴ respectively (Liu et al., 1996). Solubility depends on pH and temperature. Each factor reduces the concentration of dissolved REEs. In broad term, freely distributed ligands in the aquatic environment are considered carbonates, phosphates and hydroxides as these decrease concentration of REEs (Delgado et al., 2012, Pfau et al., 2013, Foucault-Collet et al., 2013).

Speciation analysis is widely acknowledged in environmental chemistry as importance tool for metals state in any medium. Chemical speciation encompasses functionally and operationally defined speciation. Functionally defined speciation determines speciation for plants in exchangeable form while extractable forms of elements are determined by operationally defined speciation. Many geochemical fractions among different sequential extraction methods, established by Tessier et al. (1979) and Kersten and Forstner (1986), respectively followed by five or six steps were analyzed for metals in soil and sediments (Clough et al., 2012, Ashraf et al., 2015).

2.10.1 Speciation study in sediments

In aquatic environments, large amount of rare earths were found in the sediment bound or in suspended form. Rare earth elements (REEs) have high affinity to sediments (Li et al., 2013, Hursthouse, 2001). Distribution co-efficient of rare earth elements in suspended matter and river water is about 31 μ g L⁻¹ described by (Maas & Botterweg, 1993). Oceans have value around 4 μ g L⁻¹ with exception for Ce which is about 5 μ g L⁻¹ due to low solubility main form of Cerium i-e CeO₂ in which it is present in Ce⁴⁺ state, far away from normal trivalent oxidation states of other rare earth elements. Log Kp values (sediment to pore water) for rare earth elements are much higher than other heavy metals.

Variables like pH, salinity, organic carbon content, composition of suspended matter, Fe-Mn bound hydroxides constantly change the equilibrium among sediment, pore water and surface water due to tidal movements causing change in rare earth concentration in each partition. Rare earth elements concentration varies in the ecosystem compared to other metals. Concentration of LREEs tend to be higher than lead while Tm and Lu (less abundant REEs) have high concentration than cadmium in earth crust. Generally, odd numbered rare earth elements have lower concentration than even numbered elements. Cerium found highest in concentration while others (Tm and Lu) were two orders less in magnitude. Main anthropogenic emission of rare earth elements are to the surface water while most lanthanides accumulated in sediments.

Wang et al. (2008) studied mining area (Antaibo, China) for the REEs in aquatic and coal organic solvent extracts. Twenty six samples were collected, analyzed by solid and organic solvent extracts on ICP-AES. Different distribution patterns were observed. The study concludes that detrimental minerals mainly control REEs in the coal but seawater has considerable effect on it (Wang et al., 2008).

Kumar et al. (2014) deliberated REEs in surface mangrove sediments from 10 locations in west coast of Malaysia by INAA technique. Samples dried, crushed to powder, and weighted for short and long irradiation time. Some specific REEs were studied. REEs concentration varies in the range 0.35-117.4 mg kg⁻¹ with neutron flux of $4x10^{12}$ cm⁻² S⁻¹. Whole procedure was done at MINT TRIGA Mark II research reactor running by pneumatic transport facility at 750 KW. Results showed 0.75-6.75 enrichment factor and high LREE abundance than HREE due to heavy mineral deposits in the study area (Kumar et al., 2014).

Leybourne and Johannesson (2008) determined REEs in 500 stream water and sediment samples by total digestion and leaching, speciation and controls over REEs patterns in surface environment. REEs were separated in oxygenated surface environment into labile (hydroxylamine) and harmful sediment fractions. Two main sources of REEs in stream sediments were found in different environments, the hostile lithologies and hydromorphically transported. Results suggest sediment organic matter and δ -MnO₂ (FeOOH) likely predominant sinks for Ce and to lesser extent to other REE in stream sediments. Results also indicate REEs normalized Ce anomalies [Ce/ Ce*] negative but Eu anomalies [Eu/Eu*] positive and NASC ranged from 0.295 to 1.77 (Leybourne & Johannesson, 2008).

Germain et al. (2009) determined the REEs in basalt, sediment, soil, ultramafic rock, and granite by spiking alkaline NaOH-Na₂O₂ and Tm and then co-precipitating on iron hydroxides in different environmental samples using ICP-MS. Nine different geological samples tested. Precision rate was found better than 10 % observed for most samples and 5 % below for the rare earth elements (Bayon et al., 2009).

2.10.2 Speciation study in soil

Speciation could be helpful in developing effective management strategies to control metal pollution in affected area. Speciation of REEs in Southern part of China with specific lateritic soil profiles was conducted. Mobilization of REEs during weathering processes is also well recognized but less data was found on REEs speciation in weathering profiles (Naji & Ismail, 2011, Aiju et al., 2012). Data analysis describes fractionation during weathering. Light rare earth elements (LREEs) leached from top zone, extremely enriched in the middle of profile whereas heavier rare earth elements (HREEs) found more depleted from bottom to top. Strong cerium anomalies found in the oxidized soil zone. Exchangeable fractions are highest carrier of rare earth elements with 40-90 % while 10-30 % is Fe-Mn bound oxides and 35 % in oxidized soil zone. Upper zone contain 10-25 % organic bound rare earths and 30 % in humus layer. Positive cerium anomaly in this zone was found with greater than 50 % exchangeable in clayey zone while up to 70 % bound to Fe-Mn oxides and in same percent ratio of Ce/Ce+ found in organic fractions. Study concludes that in soil clay minerals, Fe-Mn oxides and organic materials acts as main trap for rare earth elements and carrier of cerium anomalies.

Duan et al. (2002) determined REEs in the soil with NaOH- Na₂O₂ as flux, preconcentration technique for co-precipitation of titanium and iron hydroxides [Ti(OH)₄-Fe(OH)₃] and ICP-MS as concise for multi element solutions batch analysis. Accuracy of the results was recognized by Chinese soil (6-samples) and sediments certified reference materials (GSS and GSD) with less than 10 % relative standard errors. Results showed that in geological samples tightly co-existing of Ti with Nb, Zr, Ta, and Hf causes complete co-precipitation and recoveries of these metals become less with a decreased trend in basicity (Taicheng et al., 2002).

Liu et al. (2014) also determined REEs the soil with clay reference material especially GBW03102 and GBW03102a in China by using mixture of HF and HNO₃ acids in high temperatures and high pressures closed vessel digestion technique and detection of thirty seven (37) elements by ICP-MS. Results show precision lower than 5 % RSD, significantly different with reference values, reflecting the existence of >70 μ m coarse grained fractions in the sample and formation of fluorides (Liu et al., 2014).

Zhang and Shan (2001) conquered REEs accumulation and speciation in wheat soil by using RE based fertilizers. Winter wheat variety, *Triticum aestivm L*. was investigated in the current study. It was found that accumulation behaviour of La, Pr, Ce and Nd change with the amount of adding fertilizers. Three distinct fractions (B1, B2 and B3) in sequential extraction procedure were separated for fertilized and unfertilized soil. Root pH and REEs soil content show considerable negative relationship for each other. Considerable amounts of REEs were also detected in roots and shoots of wheat. A significant correlation was obtained between REEs in B1 fraction and roots. In fertilized soil REEs were present in two fractions (B2 and B3) while small amount in B1. Results for lower than 20 mg kg⁻¹ application of soil fertilizer indicate correlation coefficient range from 0.6519 - 0.7410 (Zhang & Shan, 2001).

Tao et al. (2005) environmentally studied (wheat and soil) the biogeochemical activities of REEs in order of their increased utilization in industrial and agricultural sectors under different soil plant system in China by INAA and ICP-MS. Results indicate mean REE soil value 176.8 mg kg⁻¹ with Σ LREE/ Σ HREE mean ratio of 8.0. REE in wheat

seed ranged between 10^{-11} - 10^{-8} g g⁻¹ in rye grass roots significantly related to soil. REEs contents in the spring wheat at maturing stage show ordered in roots > leaf > stem > crust (Liang et al., 2005).

Germund. (2004) reviewed REEs in different soil minerals with their solubility and transport in soil plant systems along distribution and localization in different organs, growth rate, crop production, plant physiology and biochemical study and soil-plant relationship and interactions. Study also focuses on some of the factors influencing adsorption and vertical distribution in soil profiles along with REE concentration. Due to weathering and leaching processes, REEs concentration in surface soil of humid climate was found lower than in parental material. Transfer ratio from soil to plant was observed low. Roots generally show high affinity than shoots and their uptake capacity was highly associated with soil acidity. Low concentration of REE favors plant growth and productivity. Due to increased analytical techniques in environmental sciences, addition of REEs based fertilizers to soil and in both pedagogical and physiological processes contribute great interest for trace metals (Tyler, 2004).

Zhang et al. (2001) made possible the use of RE oxides (REO) in soil accumulation and destruction as tracers by examining their binding capabilities and quick acid extraction procedures. It is well known that direct mixing of REOs do not change the physicochemical properties of soil. In the current study, five REE oxides in powder form were assorted in Miami soil (silt loam) for REEs mobility by simple acid leaching method. Samples analyzed on ICP-MS showed maximum co-efficient of variation < 10 % for all REEs. Results also indicate direct application of REE oxides would be better comparative to other REEs (Zhang et al., 2001).

Xinde et al. (2001) studied the REEs released from soil for their effect of redox potential and pH. Three pH values 3.5, 5.5, 7.5 along with redox potential of 400, 0, -100

Mv applied by introducing two gases such as oxygen and nitrogen into the soil solution. Results showed rapid release of LREEs, correlated positively under low pH conditions and reduction with Fe-Mn indicating might due to Fe-Mn oxyhydroxides but Ce remarkably influenced by redox potential. Low pH and redox potentials found more favourable. In solid phase exchangeable fractions, contents of LREEs and Fe-Mn fractions decrease as pH and redox potential decrease from soil solution (Cao et al., 2001).

Mobility of rare earths largely depends on chemical speciation in weathered profiles. Ground water chemistry, sediment provenance and chemical weathering of soil and sediments is achieved by distinctive features of REEs (Ding et al., 2001, Nyakairu & Koeberl, 2001). Rare earths and other element deposits exist in ocean from 3500-6000 meters below sea level containing 80-100 billion tons of REEs (Ragheb, 2014). LREEs enriched in kimberlite rocks extract by acid leaching of mantle under the action of fluids rich in H₂ and CO. Some kimberlite show high concentration of HREE due to the presence of xenogeneic grains of garnet. Geochemistry of REEs in kimberlite rocks is obtained by using ICP-MS (Bogatikov et al., 2004). On industrial scale, REEs produced from rare earth flurocarbonates termed bastanasite. 50 % REEs found in thorium re-phosphates termed as monazite (Richter et al., 2006). Both minerals provide LREEs and 95 % of currently utilized REEs. Bastnasite occur in calcium-silicon rich rocks while monazite and xenotime occur in low ca-granitoid rocks and pegmatite's (Chengdu, 2005).

Different concentrations of REEs found in different types of Chinese soil, reported values ranged in ppm in soil to ppb in plants. Concentration of REEs in plants ranged from less than 1 ppm to 15,000 ppb distilled water and La from 88 to 15,000 ppm distilled water (Kabata Pendias & Pendias, 2001). About 200 rare earth oxides species have been found up till now. LREEs mostly deposits in carbonates and phosphates while HREEs were found in titanates, tentalates, niobates and phosphates. Global REEs deposits

classified as igneous, sedimentary and secondary types. Largest REEs deposit in China, Bayon Oboyo, located in Magnolia formed by hydrothermal replacement of carbonate rocks. Mountain pass in United States, Maoinoing in China and Mount weld in Australia are worlds rare earth resources constitute by carbanatite deposits (Kanazawa & Kamitani, 2006).

2.11 Bioavailability and uptake capacity of REEs

REE widely distributed in the biosphere. REEs can be accumulated in different areas of the environment following anthropogenic inputs because of the low mobility of these elements. Life processes (physiological and biochemical) of plants, soil and living organisms effected by rare earth elements (Liu et al., 2011, Laveuf et al., 2008, Rollinson, 2014, Balabanova et al., 2013, Balabanova et al., 2015). There is a scarcity of information on REE bioavailability in soil. REE content in soil range from 30-700 mg kg⁻¹ (Bohn et al., 1985) move through roots and above ground organs in plants. Cerium, as the most dominant of the REEs, shows a certain variation compared with data from similar investigations; for example, in Australian soil Ce ranges from 21.0 to 120.3 mg kg⁻¹ in Japanese soil it ranges from 2.46 to 116 mg kg⁻¹ and in Swiss forest soil it ranges from 10.4 to 100.8 mg kg⁻¹. The contents of La in *E. citriodora* planted in La-treated soil were significantly higher than those grown in soil without addition of La. This implies that the plant could take up La.

REEs automorphic and alluvial distribution in soil (top, sub-soil samples) in the environs of Bregalnica River was studied by Balabanova et al. (2015). LREEs were predominantly related to the Quaternary terraces and the Paleogene flysch. The mean value of the sum total of rare earth elements (Σ REEs) was determined to amount to 79.3 mg kg⁻¹. The content of the light rare earth elements (LREEs) in the whole investigated

area ranges from 8.6 to 225 mg kg⁻¹, while the content of the heavy rare earth elements (HREEs) ranged 0.92 - 33.7 mg kg⁻¹ (Balabanova et al., 2015).

Bioavailability of REEs in the soil depends in exchangeable fractions range from trace to 24 mg kg⁻¹ and water soluble content from 10-20 mg kg⁻¹ (Zhu et al., 1997). Physicochemical properties of the soil (Liang et al., 2005) including soil cation exchange capacity (Li et al., 2001, Alonso et al., 2004), pH, organic matter, and organic acids controls REE distribution and transformation. At a higher pH level, the immobilization by soil found more rapid, and insoluble compounds would be formed when REEs reacted with hydroxides or oxides. However, at low pH, they dissolved and so released the bound REEs (Shan et al., 2002, Ghaderi et al., 2012).

In extracted soil, REE fractions are; water soluble fractions, carbonate bound fractions, the exchangeable fractions, the sulphide bound fractions, the Fe-Mn oxide bound and organic matter and residual fractions (Wang et al., 2001, Wali et al., 2014). Higher concentration of Rare earths in the soil may cause changes in the ecological system of microorganisms. REEs concentration in soil solution mostly controlled by adsorption and desorption process, acts as indicator of bioavailability of rare earths (Wang et al., 2003). Fast reactions of REE with soil followed by sorption but slow desorption rate results in low bioavailability with time and reduced uptake by plants.

Mobility differs in different parts. The total REE concentration not only included the portion available to plants, but also those strongly bound within crystal structure of soil. EDTA enhances the REEs uptake. Degree of translocation of REE in plants is 20 %, mostly present in roots, in intracellular and extracellular parts forming chelates with the components of metabolism (Tai et al., 2010). REE in plants stimulate uptake of certain elements, act like calcium by inhibiting calcium uptake. REE also effect enzyme activity, production and intensity of photosynthesis, content of phytohormones, water regime of

plants and water deficiency resistance and put favorable effects on seed germination (Liu et al., 2014). Some crops like sugar cane, sugar beet, rice favorably affected by REE. Rare earth elements in the grass roots depend on soil. Lots of research on biogeochemical behaviors (Zhang and Shan, 2001) and effect of REEs on agricultural ecosystems divided into four periods include; study on the efficiency of REE based fertilizers, geochemical behavior of REEs in ecosystem, practices on employing REE based fertilizers and physiological process of enhanced yield. REEs based fertilizers applied on tea plant for 25 days suggest REEs bound with polysaccharides which decreases with time (Wang et al., 2003). Rare earth based fertilizers show increased concentration of REE in roots, stem and leaves (Wen et al., 2001). REE content in wheat seed ranged between 10⁻¹¹-10⁻⁸ g g⁻ ¹ (Liang et al., 2005). Every year about 50-100 million tons of REE based salvolatile and phosphate fertilizers enters the agriculture system causing adverse health effects and detrimental environmental issues through bioaccumulation through the food chain (Xiong et al., 2001). A lower pH favors the uptake of REEs by plants. Rhizosphere has a lower pH than the soil far away from plant roots as root secretes acidic substances such as organic acids to facilitate the metal uptake. The result of present study shows that the final pH was lower than the pre-set pH which may be explained by the secretion. This would help the dissolution of metals so more REEs appeared as free ions for plant assimilation. Organic matter in soil plays an important role in providing REEs to plants. Dissolved organic matter had the highest affinity to REEs and was easily assimilated by plants.

A study conducted by Tyler (2004) in a forest in Germany comprises different varieties of plant materials and concentration of all REEs was also reported. Commercially grown cabbage (*Brassica oleracea var. capitata*), show very low concentration with transfer factor 0.04-0.09 and also *Agrostis capillaries* were also found with low concentrations. However, roots of plants such as maize and mungbean indicate

20-150 times high La if grown in culture media (Tyler & Olsson, 2001) while rice and pea plants roots significantly show only lanthanum and ytterbium in the xylem and endoderm (Tyler, 2004). Pteridophytes (ferns) are also well known as RE accumulators. In Japan 96 fern species also show positive correlation between lanthanum and cerium (Ozaki et al., 2000). Norwegian mosses containing La and Y indicate their main origin from windblown minerals particles with less contribution from anthropogenic pollution. Mesophyll tissue of leaves found accumulated with lanthanum (10– 40 µg g⁻¹) whereas cerium (3–30 µg g⁻¹). *Eichhornia crassipes* root hairs adsorb Eu³⁺ on their root hairs surface. This is also supported by the fact that carboxyl acid groups bind the Eu³⁺ on root hair surface (Kelley et al., 2000). Eu³⁺ has been found in a tendency to combine with carboxylic and phosphate groups in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Tyler, 2004).

Summary

In this chapter literature related to REEs, their sources, characteristics, global production, distribution has been discussed in detail. Different determination techniques used for REEs have been described as well. Environmental impacts of REEs have been given in detail in the light of different environmental media and mining. Speciation study related to previous literature has been highlighted for sediment and soil. Bioavailability and potential mobility of REEs in the plants has also been deliberated. The chapter basically reflects the overall literature of the previous work done but there are not enough data which deeply explains the speciation, bioavailability, uptake capacity and potential mobility of REEs. The current study has been focused mainly to find the speciation and bioavailability of REEs.

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

Water is an important tool for sustaining life on earth. Terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems are more related to the quality of water for giving habitat to living organism and aquatic fauna. Water quality is mostly related to the geology, morphology, rainfall, sunshine, climate etc. Different parameters such as pH, electrical conductivity (EC), cation exchange capacity (CEC), organic matter (OM), total dissolved solids (TDS), total suspended salts (TSS), moisture content (MC), anionic analysis provide difference in water quality criteria for a similar water bodies. Mining activities have major impact on water table disturbance and diversion from source.

Sediments have been an important part of aquatic media, acting as a source of many metals whether beneficial or harmful for aquatic biota. Soil is a medium where most of the metals could be found. Plants growing on the soils from the mining site have been utilized for many purposes. Up till now most of the work has been done to determine their concentration in different samples using different detection techniques. This chapter discusses the complete methodology that had been adopted to determine the amount, concentration and toxicity of rare earth elements with special emphasis on its speciation and bioavailability using the most sensitive and accurate technique of ICP-MS. In mining area of Lahat Perak, Malaysia for the first time this study has been done. Instruments used and techniques applied have been described in details. This chapter covers the whole period of research starting from fieldwork to collection, treatment and analysis of samples. The current research work follows the plan given as a research methodology flow chart shown in **Scheme 3.1**.



Scheme 3.1: Flow chart of the research methodology.
3.2 Sampling location

In this work, four types of samples were collected during the sampling trips which are water, sediments, soil and plants (**Appendix A**). The site selection is the ex-mining area in Perak. Sampling location map is shown in **Figure 3.1**. Sampling was done from December 2014 to February 2016. Sample collection was done for three times after every 6 months for three consecutive days.

3.3 Pre-sampling preparation

For water sampling 2 L plastic bottles were first soaked in 10 % nitric acid overnight. Then the bottles were washed with distilled water and dried. Distilled water, gloves, masks, lab coats, safety belts, batteries, notebook, tagging tapes etc were also kept. For *in situ* measurement of different parameters for water samplings Hydrolab DS5 (Hydrolab), portable pH meter (Orion Star A214, Indonesia), dissolved oxygen meter (Europe) and Van Dorn horizontal (KC-Denmark) water sampler were used. For sediments collection grab sampler (Wildco instruments, Petile Ponar-USA) was used. Soil samples were taken by digging the soil from different depths using auger.

3.4 Sampling and Preservation

Water samples from the mining lake were collected using Van Dorn horizontal (KC-Denmark) water sampler in 2 L plastic bottles. The sampler was made of sturdy transparent PVC and had a double release valve, activated by a drop messenger. The sampler had a capacity of 5 L in water boat. From each location, two bottles of water samples were collected. One used as pure for anions analysis while other preserved with 3% nitric acid. The bottles were kept in cooling boxes during the sampling trip.

After collecting samples, the initial parameters such as pH, dissolved oxygen, specific conductivity, temperature, salinity, total dissolved salts (TDS), ammonium ions, oxidation reduction potential and nitrates were measured *in situ*. pH and DO were

measured using portable pH meter (Orion Star A214, Indonesia) already calibrated while all other parameters were measured using multiprobe Hydrolab DS5 (Hydrolab) which was already calibrated using calibration standard solutions. The Hydrolab was calibrated again after taking samples from three sites or after three hours interval and electrode was rinsed before and after every reading with deionized water to keep the accuracy and precision in the measurements.



Figure 3.1: Map showing sampling stations from the study area.

Sediment samples were collected using Grab sampler according to pre-planned sampling locations from the lake. During the sampling, sediments were not found from Kinta River. Only ten sediment samples were collected from the ex-tin mining lake but the sedimentation rate was low. On one side of the lake high mountain range is present. These mountains due to heavy rainfall and high erosion rate together with reclamation activities cause sedimentation rate high but low towards the lower part of the ex-tin mining lake. After collecting the samples were kept in polyethylene plastic zip bags and put in cool box and transferred to the laboratory.

Soil samples have been collected from residential, mining, industrial, oil palm plantation, recreational and natural regions located in the west of state of Perak in Peninsular Malaysia consisting of Lahat, Menglembu, Kinta valley, Batu Gajah, Kampong Sri Kinta in three different depths of surface soil (0-20 cm), deep soil (21-40 cm) and deeper soil (41-60 cm) using an auger as illustrated in **Figure 3.2.** After samplings, the samples were stored in polyethylene bags, kept in the cool box and transferred to the laboratory for further analysis. All soil samples were air dried, grounded and sieved through <150 µm sieve to obtain homogeneous particle size and finally stored prior to analysis.



Figure 3.2: Soil sampling activity in the study area.

Most of the plants were collected from sampling stations where soil was taken. Plant samples were dug using scrapper from the roots and whole plant was collected. As samples collected from each location, they were tagged and then put in plastic bags and stored in cool box till taken to the laboratory. Sampling parameters have been given in detail in **Appendix A**.

3.5 Water analysis

3.5.1 Determination of anions in water using IC

Water samples collected from lakes and river were first filtered and sent for anionic analysis by using ion chromatography-IC (861 Advanced Compact- Metrohm, Switzerland) as shown in **Figure 3.3**. Fluorides (F^{-}), chlorides (CI^{-}), nitrites (NO_{2}^{-}), bromides (Br^{-}), nitrates (NO_{3}^{-}), phosphates (PO_{4}^{3-}) and sulphates (SO_{4}^{2-}) were analyzed. Multielement IC-standard solution was used from 5 mg L⁻¹ to 30 mg L⁻¹ for all the anions. Sample volume used was 2 mL and total running time for single sample determination was 17 minutes. The results were obtained in the form of spectra showing concentration of all these anions in a single sample.



Figure 3.3: Anionic analysis for water samples collected using ion chromatography (IC) (861 Advanced Compact- Metrohm, Switzerland).

3.5.2 Determination of REEs in water using ICP-MS

For sample preparation, water samples were first acid digested through microwave digester using three different combination of volume of acid. Firstly, 5 mL of sample and 1 mL of HNO₃ and second combination of 5 mL of sample and 2 mL of HNO₃ and then third combination 5 mL of sample and 3 mL of HNO₃ using temp 90 °C for 20 minutes. After adding sample and the reagents, the vessels were capped tightly and put in a microwave digester for the acid digestion using power time system for 20 minutes. After completion of the digestion, the vessels containing digestate were taken out from the microwave digester and kept in fume hood, cooled and slowly released the pressure to open the vessel. Then, the samples were shifted to centrifuged tubes graduated up to 50 mL and three times washed with deionized water for 20 minutes at 2800 rpm to remove and undissolved solid particles.

The solution obtained should be very clear not to affect the nebulizer of the ICP-MS instrument. Comparing the results for all three combinations, first combination found suitable and best to run samples as it gives maximum output with minimum amount of acid. This combination was found green environmentally as acid is used in very less quantity but gives better results. To validate the method, SRM 1643e (Trace elements in water- NIST) was used throughout this work. In this study, CEM-Mars Xpress (CEM cooperation, Matthews, NC.U.S.A) was used to digest the water samples as shown in **Figure 3.4 (a)**.

Water samples in this research were analyzed using ICP-MS 7500ce Agilent as shown in **Figure 3.4 (b)**. All calibration standards were prepared from the Agilent multi element calibration standard 8500-6944 containing Ce, Dy, Er, Eu, Gd, Ho, La, Lu, Nd, Pr, Sc, Sm, Tb, Tm, Y, and Yb in 5% HNO₃. All the standards were diluted by ultra-pure water for determining the concentration of elements in the digested soil samples.

For linear calibration plot, five standards namely 10, 30, 50, 75 and 100 ng ml⁻¹ were prepared. In the calibration plot the correlation coefficient was from 0.994 to 0.996 depending on the element.



Figure 3.4: (a) Microwave digester CEM-Mars Xpress (CEM cooperation, Matthews, NC.U.S.A) for acid digestion of samples (b) ICP-MS (Agilent 7500ce-USA) for rare metal analysis.

3.6 Sediment analysis

In laboratory, the sediment samples were stored at 4 °C until analysis. For the pretreatment, the samples were dried by heating in oven at 60 °C for about two days then, the samples were sieved using 2 mm steel sieve to obtain homogeneous particle size. Particles bigger than 2 mm were discarded. Finally, the samples were kept in the plastic containers prior to analysis.

3.6.1 Determination of anions in sediments using IC

After obtaining the homogeneous size, 5 g of sediment samples were agitated with 25 mL of water for 8 hours and then centrifuges at 2800 rpm and decant the supernatant liquid. 15 mL of this sediment solution was sent to analyze anion in Ion Chromatography (IC). Procedure for IC analysis is same as described earlier in section 3.5.1.

3.6.2 TOC measurement

For TOC analysis of sediments, fresh solutions of the sample were prepared using the same method as for anionic analysis. Then the samples were run using TOC analyzer (SHIMADZU-North America) to determine total organic carbon in the samples.

3.6.3 Determination of REEs in sediments/soil using ICP-MS

For sample preparation, 1 g of sediment/soil sample was first acid digested through microwave digester CEM-Mars Xpress (CEM cooperation, Matthews, NC.U.S.A) with 3 mL HNO₃ and 2 mL of H₂O₂ using pressure time system. After adding soil sample and the reagents, the vessels were capped tightly and put in a microwave digester for the acid digestion using power time system for 20 minutes. After completion of the digestion, the vessels containing digestate were taken out from the microwave digester and kept in fume hood, cooled and slowly released the pressure to open the vessel. Then, the samples were shifted to 50 mL graduated centrifuged tubes, diluted and centrifuged for 20 minutes at 2800 rpm to remove undissolved solid particles. The solution obtained should be very clear, so that it does not affect the nebulizer of the ICP-MS instrument.

To check the accuracy of sediment samples SRM 4354 (NBS) was run using the same method as described above while for the soil SRM NIST-2586 was used. Samples were prepared in triplicate to get better results. After digestion samples were diluted to 50 mL and then analyzed by ICP-MS.

Sediment/soil samples in this research were analyzed using ICP-MS 7500ce Agilent. All calibration standards were prepared from the Agilent multi element calibration standard 8500-6944 containing Ce, Dy, Er, Eu, Gd, Ho, La, Lu, Nd, Pr, Sc, Sm, Tb, Tm, Y, and Yb in 5% HNO₃. All the standards were diluted by ultra-pure water for determining the concentration of elements in the digested soil samples. For linear calibration plot, five standards namely 10, 30, 50 75 and 100 ng ml⁻¹ were prepared. In the calibration plot the correlation coefficient was from 0.994 to 0.996 depending on the element. From the results the concentration of REEs was determined.

3.7 Soil Analysis

Different initial physico-chemical parameters for soil were determined as follows:

3.7.1 Grain Size

For the particle size determination, electrical sieving method was used. In this method, 100 g of each soil sample was sieved using sieves ranging in size from 3.35 mm to < 0.063 mm. Running time was 20 minutes for each sample. After sample run, the soil obtained from all sieves including pan was weighted. The same procedure was repeated for all soil samples. Finally, the percentage of each soil fraction was determined to provide composition data of gravels, silt, sand and clay in soil samples taken from study area.

3.7.2 Colour

Colour of soil has been observed using Mansell colour chart.



Figure 3.5: Variation in colour of soil samples collected from three different depths.

pH of the soil was determined by using deionized water in 1:1 ratio. Mixture of soil and water will be shaken on horizontal shaker for 5 hours. Then the solution was centrifuged at 2800 rpm for 10 min. the supernatant was decanted and pH was measured by portable pH meter (Orion Star A214, Indonesia). The same procedure was repeated for all the samples.

3.7.4 Electrical Conductivity (EC)

Electrical conductivity of soil was determined using the sample solution as for the determination of pH. For the measurement of EC, fresh soil sample solutions were be prepared. Electrical conductivity meter (Orion Star A112, Indonesia) was used for Ec determination.

3.7.5 Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC)

CEC for soil was determined by a novel method using sorption technique. 1.0 g of soil samples was adsorbed with 10 mL of water and 100 ppb standard multielement solution on horizontal shaker for 1 hour. Samples were taken out after every five minute interval, centrifuged and then analyzed on ICP-MS. Secondly same procedure was repeated for CEC by using 1 M HCl. Soil samples were first soaked in 1 M HCl, stay for 1 hour then washed three times with HCl and further used. After repeating same procedure comparison was done in the results obtained after ICP-MS and found the cation exchange capacity of soil.

It is consider that the active mineral has the formula of R—X. R may be an anionic compound or ligand and X as cation part. Chemical reactions taking place are shown in Equation 3.1, 3.2 & 3.3.

First acid was added to the mineral

$\mathbf{K} - \mathbf{A} + \mathbf{\Pi} \leftrightarrow \mathbf{K} - \mathbf{\Pi} + \mathbf{A}$ (Equation 3.1)	R–	-X +	• H ⁺	\leftrightarrow R—H + X	(Equation 3.1
--	----	------	------------------	---------------------------	---------------

Then R—H can act as cation exchanger with most of trace elements " $_{M}Y^{n}$ " in the form of their cations. For simplicity, called as Y then

$$R-H + Y \leftrightarrow R-Y + H^+$$
 (Equation 3.2)

It was expected that the mineral can be recovered by washing it with acid

$$R - Y + H^+ \leftrightarrow R - H + Y$$
 (Equation 3.3)

3.7.6 Moisture content (MC)

Moisture content of soil was taken by using furnace (LT1200-6, Germany) as shown in **Figure 3.6**. First an empty crucible was taken and was weighted. Then some wet soil was put into the crucible and weighted. Then, subtract the total weight of wet soil and crucible from empty crucible. The crucible with wet soil into oven for drying at 105 °C and medium power overnight. The crucible was removed and weighted at ambient temperature. The mass of dry soil with crucible from the empty crucible was subtracted and divide to the dry soil mass by the wet soil and multiplied with 100 to give the moisture content of the soil samples. The same procedure was repeated for all soil samples.

3.7.1 Organic matter content (OM)

For determining the soil organic matter (OM), a very precise and accurate method developed by Walkley Black (WB) was used in this study (Gelman, Binstock, & Halicz, 2012). In this method dichromate solution is used to oxidize organic matter content of the soil. After completion of oxidation, titration is carried out. Titration involves dichromate and ferrous sulphate solution in specific volume (mL). After completing titration, organic matter content (OM) was calculated by taking the difference between amounts of dichromate solution added against volume titrated.



Figure 3.6: Furnace (LT1200-6, Germany) used for moisture content analysis.

To clearly observe the end point stirring plate with light was used. Reacting reagents were prepared by using careful and safe methods. Potassium dichromate 0.16 M solution was prepared by adding oven dried or desiccated 98.08 g and mixing in 1-2 L ultrapure water. Ferrous sulphate 1.0 M was prepared by mixing 556 g in 1500 mL ultrapure water. After that, 30 mL of concentrated sulphuric acid was added, diluted up to 2 L and cooled. After cooling, the solution was kept in a container not more than a month for the analysis. Before titration, wash and clean al the apparatus such as tubing's, burettes and stopcock with deionized water and dried.

To carry out titration for soil organic matter determination, burette must be rinsed thrice with FeSO₄ and then blank can be run. 1.0 g of dried soil sample was added in a wide mouth graduated Erlenmeyer flask (250 mL). Before running the sample check the accuracy and standardization of ferrous sulphate by running blank samples twice. Difference in the measurements of two blanks taken must be around 0.2 mL. If such results are not obtained then clean the burette again and repeat the blank samples to avoid the error. 10 mL of potassium dichromate solution was pipetted in a volumetric flask (250 mL). Soil sample was added in the flask and was shaken gently to mix the soil material. This flask was placed in a fume hood and then after some time 20 mL of conc. sulphuric acid was added and mixed with care. The flask was kept under a fume hood to keep the solution to room temperature. Then few drops of Phenanthroline complex (as indicator) were added and titrated with ferrous sulphate solution immediately. Stirring plate with lighting was used to observe the color change and complete mixing.

During titration as reaction proceeds colour of solution changed from reddish brown to green and then on abrupt change to reddish brown that showed the end point. Finally difference in the volume of ferrous sulphate solution used was noted before and after the titration and difference was calculated. Calculation for OM content of soil was done as follows using Equation 3.4.

Organic matter (%) of soil =
$$(1 - S / B) \times 10 \times 0.68$$
 (Equation 3.4)

Where S is amount of FeSO₄ used in titration, B is average FeSO₄ for both blanks, 10 is conversion factor and 0.68 is factor for converting organic carbon to organic matter.

3.7.2 XRF analysis

Xray fluorescence spectroscopy (XRF) (PANalytical- Netherlands) was employed to find out the percentage of elements in soil samples of the study area. 20 g of each sample was sent to XRF analysis and then results were evaluated for REEs and major elements.

3.7.3 Determination of REEs in soil using ICP-MS

Same as described earlier in section 3.6.3.

3.8 Speciation study of REEs in sediments and soil

A sequential extraction scheme for sediment and soil applied in the study described by Hall et al, (1996) as shown in scheme 2. This procedure was modified to obtain maximum output from different steps. Continuous shaking was provided in each step, resulting in higher concentration of the analyte. In previous studies agitation during different stages of extraction was provided for specific times but it was observed that maximum amount of analytes with good accuracy is achieved if agitation is provided continuously. The phases selected for extraction categorized into five steps (i) adsorbed/exchangeable/carbonate (AEC) (ii) Fe oxyhydroxide (amorphous) (0.25 M NH₂OH.HCI) (iii) Fe oxide (crystalline) (IM NH₂OH. HCI) (iv) sulphides and organics (KCIO₃/HCI) (v) silicates and residual (HF-HCIO₄-HNO₃-HCI).

Generally, all five steps consist of 22 sub steps to complete extraction for single sample. First three stages represent two extracts. Further application of sequential scheme to all sediment and soil samples demonstrate that summation of elemental concentrations compared favorably with those values obtained by direct acid digestion involving less material lost during the sequential procedure. The whole procedure was modified for REEs as follows.

3.8.1 Fraction I: AEC (adsorbed / exchangeable / carbonate) phase

Soil samples (1 g) were extracted at room temperature using 20 mL 1.0 M CH₃COONa at pH 5, vortex and agitated on horizontal shaking for 6 h as shown in **Figure 3.7 a**. Extracted samples were centrifuged for 10 min using 2800 rpm, decanted the supernatant and residue twice treated with 5 mL of water, vortexed, centrifuged, repeat the whole procedure to get maximum leach of the residue and finally analyzed.



Scheme 3.2: Schematic diagram for sequential extraction procedure where F represents dilution factor (Hall et al. 1996).



Figure 3.7: Laboratory work during speciation study (a) horizontal orbital shaker (TS-560, Taiwan) (b) Hotplate with stirrer (SP 131320-33- USA).

3.8.2 Fraction II: Amorphous Fe oxyhydroxides (Am Fe Ox)

The residue from fraction I was vortexed as shown in **Figure 3.8** (a) with 0.25 M hydroxylamine hydrochloride in 0.25 HCl using 20 mL, then placed in oil bath for 2 h with continuous agitation at 60 °C on hot plate with stirrer as shown in **Figure 3.7** (b). After that centrifuged as shown in **Figure 3.8** (b) the sample about 10 minutes and supernatant liquid was decanted and put into labeled test tube. Residue was rinsed, vortexed and centrifuged twice. The second leach of residue was carried out with 0.25 M NH₂OH.HCl but heat only for 30 min.

3.8.3 Fraction III: Crystalline Fe Oxide (Cry Fe ox)

Residue from fraction II was vortexed with 30 mL of 1.0 M NH₂OH.HCl in 25% CH₃COOH and placed in oil bath for 3 h with continuous agitation for homogeneous media during leach process at 90 °C. Then again centrifugation was done and supernatant decanted volume made up to 50 mL and analyzed. The same procedure was replicated but this time heat for 1.5 h only and finally analyzed.

3.8.4 Fraction IV: Sulphides and organics

Residue from fraction III was vortexed with 750 mg of KClO₃. Then 10 mL of HCl was added, again vortexed and paused for 30 min. After that 15 mL of water was added, vortexed and centrifuged followed by decantation of supernatant to labeled centrifuged tube. Then 10 mL of 4.0 M nitric acid was added to the residue obtained from the last step, again vortexed and heat on water bath at 90 °C for 20 minutes. When time passed, all of the material transferred to Teflon pressure tubes and the same procedure was repeated and added to test tube containing KClO₃/HCl extractants with this HNO₃ leachate. Washing was done as before and sample get ready to analyze. For absorbing REEs from the medium some of rare metals oxides acts as good substrate having greater surface areas. On such metals, REEs bound by complexation or by bioaccumulation through organic matter, surface coatings and living organisms. Such metals on oxidation could leach from their respective materials.



(a)

(b)

Figure 3.8: (a) Sonicator (LUC-405) (b) Centrifuge (Megafuge 8-Germany) used during speciation study.

3.8.5 Fraction V: Silicates and residual oxides

Residue from fraction V placed on an insulating heating system with 2 mL of 16 M HNO₃ at 200 °C till volume makes up to 0.5 mL. 2 mL of 12 M HCl was added as solution become cool and keep on hot plate for 20 min at 90 °C. Then the sample was cooled and 10 mL of mixture of acids was added; HF (5 mL)/HClO₄ (3 mL)/ HNO₃ (2 mL), connect with condenser and heated at 90 °C in oil bath for an hour. Here if condenser not connected and directly acid digestion done by keeping the cap tightly closed bumping of the sample solution have been seen that could be dangerous and life threatening. Therefore, condenser found best in such case.

After the completion of this reaction, material was shifted to Teflon beaker, rinsed and left overnight at 70 °C to evaporate but temperature raised to 120 °C to get incipient dryness at the last stage. Then spin the whole content with aqua rigia with 3 mL of H₂O and kept warm for 5-10 minutes. Finally whole mixture transferred to centrifuge tube, rinsed with water marking up the volume up to 20 mL and this sample became ready to analyze for silicates and residues.

In fraction V metals mostly bound with crystals in their structure and minerals compounds including sediments have been identified. To remove error and background correction, blank samples were also analyzed. Quality check for the instrument was performed by observing absorbance for every 10 samples run.

3.9 Bioavailability of REEs in Plants

3.9.1 **Pre-treatment of samples**

After completing field trip, the plant samples were taken to laboratory. All the collected plant samples were first cleaned with tap and distilled water in an ultrasonic water bath to remove dirt, mud or any adhering particles and then with Milli-Q water. Samples were air dried for three months and then all parts of each plant (root, shoot,

leaves, and flower) were separated, grind, weighted and stored in clean plastic bags separately.

3.9.2 Sample preparation and analysis

After drying each part of the sample were separated including leaves, shoots, roots and some of them containing flowers. Then they were grinded to obtain homogeneous particle size and sieved. After that 0.1 g of each sample weighted and digested in microwave digester as shown in **Figure 3.9** (a) using 7 HNO₃ and 2 mL H₂O₂ with power time system for 20 minutes. Samples were triplicate to get better results. To get reliable results, standard reference materials (Spinach leaves- SRM 1570a) and (Apple leaves-1515a) were run together with samples. After digestion samples were diluted to 50 mL and then analyzed by ICP-MS as shown in **Figure 3.9** (b). All the samples were digested and analyzed for REEs.



Figure 3.9: (a) Microwave digester (Titan- MPS, USA) (b) ICP-MS (7500ce-Agilent) used in bioavailability analysis.

3.9.3 Translocation factor (TF)

Translocation factor for REEs in plants was described as a ratio of REEs in a plant shoot in that in plant root given in Equation 3.5 (Mohebbi et al., 2012).

$$TF = C_{shoot} / C_{root}$$
 (Equation 3.5)

Where C_{shoot} and C_{root} present the concentrations (µg g⁻¹) of REEs in the shoot and root of the plant, respectively. TF >1 represent that translocation of metals effectively from the root to the shoot and accumulator or hyperaccumulator species of plant while with TF < 1 nominated as tolerant (Zhang et al., 2002, Fayiga & Ma, 2006).

3.9.4 Bioconcentration Factor (BCF)

Bioconcentration factor (BCF) was calculated for all REEs in plant species by using the following Equation 3.6 (Malik et al., 2010, Zayed et al., 1998).

$$BCF = C_{leaves} / C_{soil}$$
(Equation 3.6)

Where C _{leaves} and C _{soil} presents the concentrations of REEs in the leaves (mg kg⁻¹) and soil of plant (mg kg⁻¹), respectively.

3.9.5 Bioaccumulation Factor (BAF)

For the determination of REEs in plant species, bioaccumulation factor (BAF) was calculated using following Equation 3.7. Plants having BCF and BAF > 1 are considered as hyperaccumulator and accumulators while BCF and BAF < 1 is termed as tolerant (Cluis, 2004).

$$BAF = C_{plant} / C_{soil}$$
 (Equation 3.7)

Where C _{plant} and C _{soil} presents the concentrations of REEs in the stem (mg kg⁻¹) and root of plant (mg kg⁻¹), respectively.

3.10 Environmental impact assessment in soil and sediments

Degree of pollution in sediments and soil was calculated by using different environmental parameters by computing Microsoft excel 2013.

3.10.1 Enrichment factor (EF) and geoaccumulation index (Igeo)

Enrichment factors for the sediment and soil was calculated by using Equation 3.8 given Buat-Menard and Chesselet (Buat-Menard & Chesselet, 1979).

$$EF = \frac{\binom{M}{R}sample}{\binom{M}{R}UCC}$$
 (Equation 3.8)

M = concentration of the element, R = concentration of Reference Element. (M/R)UCC being ratio in continental crust. Sediment samples were found with 0.57 to 5.28 standard deviation. Classification for enrichment factor is given in seven classes (Appendix A). Igeo is calculated by using Equation 3.9 given by (Muller, 1969) as:

$$I geo = log2 \left(\frac{Cn}{15} * Bn\right)$$
 (Equation 3.9)

Cn = metal (n) concentration in sediment, Bn = background value of metal (n), 1.5= correction factor (matrix correction).

3.10.2 Contamination evaluation (CF and PLI)

Sediment/soil pollution was also evaluated by using different factors such as CF and PLI. Contamination factor (CF) is classified into four classes by (Hakanson, 1980) as shown in **Equation 3.10**.

$$CF = {}^{M \ sample} / {}_{M \ background}$$
 (Equation 3.10)

Pollution load index (PLI) was also calculated for all sediment samples collected and analyzed given by (Tomlinson et al., 1980) as shown in **Equation 3.11**.

$$PLI = (CF1 \times CF2 \times CF3 \times CF4 \times \dots \times CFn)1/n$$
 (Equation 3.11)

3.11 Quality Control (QC) and Quality Assurance (QA)

Quality control (QC) and quality assurance (QA) was maintained throughout the field and laboratory work. For *In situ* measurements, instruments used were pre-calibrated using standards. In the field for water samples, QA was also maintained by every time washing and drying the instruments, wearing gloves, carful sample collection, taking measurements, acidifying and preserving in the cooling boxes immediately.

In laboratory work, standard reference material was used to verify the data obtained in the analysis. Water quality analysis was done for REEs using SRM 1643e. The results are shown in **Table 3.1.** Table represents the recovery of the elements in the SRM, limit of detection (LOD), limit of quantification (LOQ) and coefficient of variation (CV %). The data shows promising in certified and obtained values and recovery is also satisfactory.

Quality control (QC) and quality assurance (QA) of the method used in sediment analysis was done by using SRM-4354. The results are shown in **Table 3.2**. Good recovery rates and low limit of detection confirms the validity of the method applied. Recoveries were found from 87.1 to 99.7 %. Limits of detection were below 0.1 which represents accuracy among the data.

For the soil analysis, QC and QA was performed by simultaneous analysis of the blank and certified reference material for soil. Promising results between analyzed and certified concentrations were obtained for all measured elements. The precisions of the measurements were shown as the percentage recovery. The results exhibited reasonably good precisions for all studied elements and typical recovery for rare earth elements with 2586 for all reference samples. The results for SRM with their recoveries are shown in **Table 3.3.**

Plant parts were analyzed using microwave acid digestion method. QA and QC in the results was maintained using two standard reference materials (SRMs). SRM of spinach leaves (1570) and apple leaves (1515a) were analyzed in the same way as the samples. The data was calculated in terms of recovery, limit of detection, limit of quantification

and coefficient of variation which shows reliability in the results. Results are expressed in **Table 3.4**.

3.12 Statistical data analysis

Statistical data analysis was carried out on the data obtained from various physical and chemical analysis. Descriptive statistics and chemometric tools have been used to analyze the data obtained in this research. In order to analyze, data pre-treatment was carried out. It has been noted that data pre-treatment is essential, especially standardization and normalization because without normalization, elements with higher concentration will have more influence compared to low level concentration elements (Li et al., 2014).

3.12.1 Principal Component Analysis (PCA)

PCA is one of the unsupervised linear multivariate data reduction methods which is used for variable reduction and is based on the correlations between the variables (Brereton, 2003). PCA maps samples into new uncorrelated latent variables named principal components (PCs) (Granato et al., 2010). From the PCs two or three dimensional score plots can be drawn with loadings presented as vectors (Zhang et al., 2013).

3.12.2 Factor Analysis (FA)

Factorial analysis is an explorative analysis similar to cluster analysis that describes observed variables in terms of unobserved latent factors which are represented as linear combination of the observed variables. Factorial analysis reduces the number of variables by reducing the dimensions of the observations and helps in providing meaningful explanation of the observed variables via the latent factors. The key concept of factorial analysis is that the observed variables have similar paterrens of the response because they are all in relation with a latent variable (the latent factor) (Sall et al., 2012).

SRN	1 (1643e)	Certified values	Obtained values	Recovery	LOD	ГОО
No. of samples	Elements	(µg L ⁻¹)	$(\mu g L^{-1})$	%	(µg L ⁻¹)	$(\mu g L^{\text{-}1})$
1	AI	141.8 ± 8.6	140.5 ± 9.5	66	0.033	0.11
2	As	60.45 ± 0.72	59.78 ± 0.88	98.8	0.008	0.02
ε	Ba	544.2 ± 5.8	542.2 ± 6.76	9.66	0.091	0.3
4	Be	13.98 ± 0.17	13.21 ± 0.23	94.4	0.072	0.24
S	Cd	6.568 ± 0.073	6.112 ± 0.12	93	0.055	0.18
9	Co	27.06 ± 0.32	27.01 ± 0.54	99.8	0.012	0.04
7	Cu	22.76 ± 0.31	21.96 ± 0.45	96.4	0.077	0.25
8	Fe	98.1 ± 1.4	97.4 ± 1.87	99.2	0.043	0.14
6	Li	17.4 ± 1.7	17.26 ± 1.66	99.1	0.078	0.26
10	Zn	78.5 ± 2.2	78.3 ± 3.2	99.7	0.011	0.03
11	Cr	20.4 ± 0.24	20.1 ± 0.37	98.5	0.003	0.01
12	Ni	62.41 ± 0.69	62.14 ± 0.95	99.5	0.063	0.21

16
SRM
the
) for
(LOQ
antification
f qu
nit o
and lin
$\hat{\mathbf{a}}$
LOL
detection (LOL
t of detection (LOC
limit of detection (LOE
%), limit of detection (LOC
y (%), limit of detection (LOE
3.1: Recovery (%), limit of detection (LOL

\overline{O}	
Õ	
F	
ų	
.9	
ät	
μ	
ĬŤ	
lar	
Ъ	
Ē	
t	
Ъ.	
lii	
p	
an	
$\widehat{}$	
E	
Ц	
Ū	
on	
Ξ.	
te	
Jei	
ſ	
0	
nit	
lin	
~ -	
%	
(%)	
ry (%)	
very (%)	
covery (%)	
recovery (%)	
h recovery (%)	
vith recovery (%)	
with recovery (%)	
sis with recovery (%)	
lysis with recovery (%)	
nalysis with recovery (%)	
analysis with recovery (%)	
nt analysis with recovery (%)	
nent analysis with recovery (%)	
liment analysis with recovery (%)	
ediment analysis with recovery (%)	
r sediment analysis with recovery (%)	
for sediment analysis with recovery (%)	
4 for sediment analysis with recovery (%)	
354 for sediment analysis with recovery (%)	
4354 for sediment analysis with recovery (%)	
M 4354 for sediment analysis with recovery (%)	
RM 4354 for sediment analysis with recovery (%)	
SRM 4354 for sediment analysis with recovery (%)	
2: SRM 4354 for sediment analysis with recovery (%)	
3.2: SRM 4354 for sediment analysis with recovery (%)	
le 3.2: SRM 4354 for sediment analysis with recovery (%)	
able 3.2: SRM 4354 for sediment analysis with recovery (%)	

We of ples Elements (mg kg ⁻¹) (mg kg ⁻¹) % (µg L ⁻¹) (µg L ⁻¹) 1 Sc 7.2 ^a 6.85 ± 0.01^b 95.1 0.075 0.25 2 Y 26^a 25.1 ± 0.04^b 95.1 0.075 0.12 3 La 93^a 25.1 ± 0.04^b 99.7 0.042 0.14 4 Ce 153^a 151.9 ± 0.11^b 99.2 0.0042 0.033 5 Pr 67^a 65.4 ± 0.04^b 99.2 0.001 0.003 6 Nd 150^a 154.9 ± 0.02^b 99.2 0.001 0.003 7 Eu 2.8^a 2.64 ± 0.04^b 99.2 0.001 0.003 7 Eu 2.8^a 163.4 ± 0.02^b 992.5 0.001 0.003 8 Gd 14^a 13.3 ± 0.07^b 992.5 0.001 0.003 0.025 9 Th 0.7 0.14^b	We of ples Elements (mg kg ⁻¹) (mg kg ⁻¹) (mg L	SRI	M(4354)	Certified values	Obtained values	Recovery	LOD	$\Gamma 00$
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1Sc 7.2^a 6.85 ± 0.01^b 95.1 0.075 0.25 2Y 26^a 25.1 ± 0.04^b 96.5 0.038 0.12 3La 93^a 92.8 ± 0.24^b 99.7 0.042 0.14 4Ce 153^a 151.9 ± 0.11^b 99.2 0.0055 0.018 5PrCe 153^a 151.9 ± 0.11^b 99.2 0.0055 0.018 6Nd 150^a 151.9 ± 0.11^b 99.2 0.0059 0.23 7Eu 2.8^a 2.64 ± 0.04^b 99.2 0.001 0.003 7Eu 2.8^a $14.8.9 \pm 0.06^b$ 99.2 0.001 0.001 9Th 14^a 13.33 ± 0.07^b 99.2 0.001 0.001 9Th 31^a 2.62 ± 0.10^b 95.2 0.0076 0.25 9Th 31^a 2.78 ± 0.03^b 89.6 0.017 0.025 10Dy 21^a 0.74 ± 0.12^b 99.2 0.0017 0.22 11Ho 6.7^a 8.78 ± 0.02^b 98.6 0.017 0.25 12Er 9.5^a 8.78 ± 0.02^b 92.4 0.096 0.22 13Tm 4.5^a 4.44 ± 0.05^b 92.4 0.096 0.25 14Yb 3.7^a 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.04 15LuH 12.2 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.015 0.04 14 </th <th>Vo. of iples</th> <th>Elements</th> <th>(mg kg⁻¹)</th> <th>(mg kg⁻¹)</th> <th>%</th> <th>$(\mu g \ L^{\text{-1}})$</th> <th>$(\mu g \ L^{\text{-}1})$</th>	Vo. of iples	Elements	(mg kg ⁻¹)	(mg kg ⁻¹)	%	$(\mu g \ L^{\text{-1}})$	$(\mu g \ L^{\text{-}1})$
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-	Sc	7.2ª	$6.85\pm0.01^{ m b}$	95.1	0.075	0.25
3La 93^a 92.8 ± 0.24^b 99.7 0.042 0.142 5PrCe 153^a 151.9 ± 0.11^b 99.2 0.0055 0.018 5Pr 67^a 65.4 ± 0.04^b 99.2 0.0059 0.23 6Nd 150^a 154.9 ± 0.06^b 99.2 0.001 0.003 7Eu 2.8^a 148.9 ± 0.06^b 99.2 0.001 0.003 8Gd 14^a 13.33 ± 0.07^b 93.5 0.0017 0.0056 9Tb 31^a 2.62 ± 0.10^b 93.5 0.0017 0.025 9Tb 14^a 13.33 ± 0.07^b 99.2 0.0017 0.0056 10Dy 21^a 2.78 ± 0.03^b 89.6 0.017 0.056 11Ho 6.7^a 6.11 ± 0.14^b 91.1 0.028 0.023 12Er 9.5^a 8.78 ± 0.02^b 92.4 0.096 0.22 13Tm 4.5^a 4.44 ± 0.05^b 97.8 0.015 0.026 14Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.025 15Lu 14^a 12.2 ± 0.11^b 87.1 0.022 0.012	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	7	Υ	26 ^a	$25.1\pm0.04^{ m b}$	96.5	0.038	0.12
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	ŝ	La	93 ^a	$92.8 \pm 0.24^{\rm b}$	99.7	0.042	0.14
5 Pr 67^a 654 ± 0.04^b 97.6 0.069 0.23 6 Nd 150 ^a 150 ^a 148.9\pm0.06 ^b 99.2 0.001 0.003 7 Eu 2.8 ^a 2.62\pm0.10 ^b 93.5 0.001 0.003 8 Gd 14 ^a 13.33\pm0.07 ^b 95.2 0.0017 0.056 9 Tb 31 ^a 2.62\pm0.10 ^b 95.2 0.0076 0.25 9 Tb 31 ^a 2.543\pm0.07 ^b 95.2 0.017 0.056 10 Dy 21 ^a 27.8\pm0.03 ^b 89.6 0.017 0.056 11 Ho 6.7^{a} 6.11 ± 0.14^{b} 91.1 0.028 0.023 12 Er 9.5 ^a 8.78 ± 0.02^{b} 92.4 0.096 0.32 13 Tm 4.5^{a} 4.44 ± 0.05^{b} 92.4 0.096 0.32 13 Tm 4.5^{a} 4.44 ± 0.05^{b} 98.6 0.0105 0.056	5Pr 67^a 654 ± 0.04^b 97.6 0.069 0.23 6Nd150^a148.9 \pm 0.06^b99.2 0.001 0.003 7Eu 2.8^a 2.62 ± 0.10^b 93.5 0.001 0.035 8Gd 14^a 13.33 ± 0.07^b 95.2 0.0076 0.25 9Tb 31^a 2.78 ± 0.03^b 89.6 0.017 0.056 10Dy 21^a 2.78 ± 0.03^b 89.6 0.017 0.056 11Ho 6.7^a 6.11 ± 0.14^b 91.1 0.028 0.023 12Er 9.5^a 8.78 ± 0.02^b 92.4 0.0066 0.22 13Tm 4.5^a 4.44 ± 0.05^b 92.4 0.0056 0.028 14Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.015 0.028 14Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.015 0.028 15Lu 14^a 12.2 ± 0.11^b 97.8 0.015 0.026 14b.Il the obtained values are calculated from a single method or a mean of two method 0.012 0.022 0.012 b All the obtained values are based on three observations and reported as mean $\pm SD$ 0.012 0.022 0.012	4	Ce	153 ^a	$151.9 \pm 0.11^{\rm b}$	99.2	0.0055	0.018
		5	Pr	67 ^a	$65.4 \pm 0.04^{\rm b}$	97.6	0.069	0.23
7 Eu 2.8^a 2.62 ± 0.10^b 93.5 0.0089 0.02 8 Gd 14^a 13.33 ± 0.07^b 95.2 0.076 0.25 9 Tb 31^a $2.7.8 \pm 0.03^b$ 89.6 0.017 0.056 10 Dy 21^a 27.8 ± 0.03^b 89.6 0.017 0.056 11 Ho 6.7^a 6.11 ± 0.14^b 98 0.066 0.22 12 Er 9.5^a 8.78 ± 0.02^b 92.4 0.096 0.32 12 Tm 4.5^a 4.44 ± 0.05^b 92.4 0.096 0.32 13 Tm 4.5^a $2.40.01^b$ 97.8 0.015 0.07 14 Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.02 15 Lu 1.22 ± 0.11^b 87.1 0.022 0.012 0.02	7Eu 2.8^a 2.62 ± 0.10^b 93.5 0.0089 0.02 8Gd 14^a 13.33 ± 0.07^b 95.2 0.076 0.25 9Tb 31^a 27.8 ± 0.03^b 89.6 0.017 0.056 10Dy 21^a 27.8 ± 0.03^b 89.6 0.017 0.056 11Ho 6.7^a 6.11 ± 0.14^b 91.1 0.066 0.22 12Er 9.5^a 8.78 ± 0.02^b 92.4 0.096 0.02 13Tm 4.5^a 4.44 ± 0.05^b 92.4 0.096 0.32 14Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.015 0.06 15Lu 14^a 12.2 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.015 0.07 * a The certified values are calculated from a single method or a mean of two method b All the obtained values are based on three observations and reported as mean \pm SD	9	PN	150 ^a	$148.9\pm0.06^{\rm b}$	99.2	0.001	0.003
8 Gd 14^a 13.33 ± 0.07^b 95.2 0.076 0.25 9 Tb 31^a 27.8 ± 0.03^b 99.6 0.017 0.056 10 Dy 21^a 27.8 ± 0.03^b 89.6 0.017 0.056 11 Ho 6.7^a 6.11 ± 0.14^b 98 0.066 0.22 12 Er 9.5^a 8.78 ± 0.02^b 91.1 0.098 0.093 12 Er 9.5^a 8.78 ± 0.02^b 92.4 0.096 0.32 13 Tm 4.5^a 4.44 ± 0.05^b 92.4 0.015 0.056 14 Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.012 0.04 15 Lu 14^a 12.2 ± 0.11^b 87.1 0.022 0.27	8Gd 14^{a} 13.33 ± 0.07^{b} 95.2 0.076 0.25 9Tb 31^{a} 27.8 ± 0.03^{b} 89.6 0.017 0.056 10Dy 21^{a} 27.8 ± 0.03^{b} 89.6 0.017 0.056 11Ho 6.7^{a} 21.1 ± 0.14^{b} 91.1 0.066 0.22 12Er 9.5^{a} 8.78 ± 0.02^{b} 91.1 0.028 0.093 13Tm 4.5^{a} 4.44 ± 0.05^{b} 92.4 0.096 0.32 14Yb 3.7^{a} 3.62 ± 0.01^{b} 97.8 0.015 0.05 15Lu 14^{a} 12.2 ± 0.01^{b} 97.8 0.012 0.015 0.04 * a The certified values are calculated from a single method or a mean of two method b All the obtained values are based on three observations and reported as mean \pm SD	7	Eu	2.8^{a}	$2.62\pm0.10^{ m b}$	93.5	0.0089	0.02
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	8	Gd	14^{a}	13.33 ± 0.07^{b}	95.2	0.076	0.25
		6	Tb	31 ^a	$27.8 \pm 0.03^{\rm b}$	89.6	0.017	0.056
II Ho 6.7^a 6.11 ± 0.14^b 91.1 0.028 0.093 12 Er 9.5^a 8.78 ± 0.02^b 92.4 0.096 0.32 13 Tm 4.5^a 4.44 ± 0.05^b 92.4 0.015 0.05 14 Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.04 15 Lu 14^a 12.2 ± 0.11^b 87.1 0.082 0.27	11Ho 6.7^{a} 6.11 ± 0.14^{b} 91.1 0.028 0.093 12Er 9.5^{a} 8.78 ± 0.02^{b} 92.4 0.096 0.32 13Tm 4.5^{a} 4.44 ± 0.05^{b} 92.4 0.015 0.05 14Yb 3.7^{a} 3.62 ± 0.01^{b} 97.8 0.012 0.04 15Lu 14^{a} 12.2 ± 0.01^{b} 97.8 0.012 0.04 * a The certified values are calculated from a single method or a mean of two method b All the obtained values are based on three observations and reported as mean \pm SD	10	Dy	21 ^a	$20.6 \pm 0.11^{\rm b}$	98	0.066	0.22
12 Er 9.5^a 8.78 ± 0.02^b 92.4 0.096 0.32 13 Tm 4.5^a 4.44 ± 0.05^b 98.6 0.015 0.05 14 Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.04 15 Lu 14^a 12.2 ± 0.11^b 87.1 0.082 0.27	12Er 9.5^a 8.78 ± 0.02^b 92.4 0.096 0.32 13Tm 4.5^a 4.44 ± 0.05^b 98.6 0.015 0.05 14Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.04 15Lu 14^a 12.2 ± 0.11^b 97.8 0.012 0.04 * a The certified values are calculated from a single method or a mean of two method b All the obtained values are based on three observations and reported as mean \pm SD	11	Ho	6.7^{a}	6.11 ± 0.14^{b}	91.1	0.028	0.093
13 Tm 4.5^a 4.44 ± 0.05^b 98.6 0.015 0.05 14 Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.04 15 Lu 14^a 12.2 ± 0.11^b 87.1 0.082 0.27	13 Tm 4.5^a 4.44 ± 0.05^b 98.6 0.015 0.05 14 Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.04 15 Lu 14^a 12.2 ± 0.11^b 87.1 0.082 0.04 * a The certified values are calculated from a single method or a mean of two method 87.1 0.082 0.27 b All the obtained values are based on three observations and reported as mean $\pm SD$ 5.1 0.012 0.04	12	Er	9.5^{a}	8.78 ± 0.02^{b}	92.4	0.096	0.32
14 Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.04 15 Lu 14^a 12.2 ± 0.11^b 87.1 0.082 0.27	14Yb 3.7^a 3.62 ± 0.01^b 97.8 0.012 0.04 15Lu 14^a 12.2 ± 0.11^b 87.1 0.082 0.27 * a The certified values are calculated from a single method or a mean of two method b All the obtained values are based on three observations and reported as mean \pm SD	13	Tm	4.5^{a}	$4.44 \pm 0.05^{\mathrm{b}}$	98.6	0.015	0.05
15 Lu 14^{a} 12.2 ± 0.11^{b} 87.1 0.082 0.27	15Lu 14^{a} 12.2 ± 0.11^{b} 87.1 0.082 0.27 * a The certified values are calculated from a single method or a mean of two methodb All the obtained values are based on three observations and reported as mean \pm SD	14	$\mathbf{Y}\mathbf{b}$	3.7^{a}	$3.62 \pm 0.01^{\rm b}$	97.8	0.012	0.04
	* a The certified values are calculated from a single method or a mean of two method b All the obtained values are based on three observations and reported as mean \pm SD	15	Lu	14^{a}	12.2 ± 0.11^{b}	87.1	0.082	0.27
		b All t	the obtained values	are based on three obse	rvations and reported as	mean ± SD		

Flamante	Certified	Obtained	Recovery	LOD	LOQ
	(mg kg ⁻¹)	(mg kg ⁻¹)	(%)	(µg L ⁻¹)	(µg L ⁻¹)
Sc	24 ^a	24.6 ± 12.8 c	95.83	0.040	0.130
Υ	21 a	22 ± 9.5 c	97.62	0.0004	0.001
La	29.7 ± 4.8^{b}	29 ± 5.1 c	97.64	0.0004	0.002
Ce	$58 \pm 8^{\text{b}}$	56 ± 9.5 c	96.55	0.002	0.005
Pr	7.3 a	7.01 ± 2.3 °	97.26	0.001	0.004
PN	26.4 ± 2.9 ^b	$26 \pm 3.1^{\circ}$	98.48	0.001	0.002
Eu	1.5 ^a	1.58 ± 0.7 °	96.67	0.001	0.003
Gd	5.8 ^a	$6.03 \pm 2.9^{\circ}$	99.13	0.002	0.007
Ъ	0.9 a	1.1 ± 0.28 c	94	0.001	0.002
Dy	5.4 ^a	5.3 ± 1.2 °	98	0.001	0.002
Ho	1.1 ^a	1.0 ± 0.062 °	91	0.0003	0.001
Er	3.3 ^a	3.7 ± 0.25 °	93.94	0.001	0.003
Tm	0.5 ^a	$0.5\pm0.07~^{\circ}$	100	0.0002	0.001
Υb	$2.64\pm0.51^{ m b}$	$2.62\pm0.73~{ m c}$	96	0.006	0.019

Table 3.3: Standard reference material (SRM-2586) for the soil with recovery (%), LOD and LOQ.

^bThe certified values are calculated based in two or more analysis and reported as mean \pm SD ^c All the obtained values are based on three observations and reported as mean \pm SD

SNO.	Elements	SRM 1515a reference conc. (µg/g)	SRM 1515a measured conc. (µg/g)	Recovery (%)	LOD (µg/L)	LOQ (µg/L)	CV (%)
1	Cd	0.013ª	$0.012\pm0.001^{\circ}$	92.3	0.029	0.0	0.08
7	Gd	3 ^a	$2.8 \pm 0.25^{\circ}$	93.3	0.0069	0.023	0.08
e	La	20 ^a	$18.9\pm0.45^{ m c}$	94.5	0.0031	0.01	0.02
4	Ba	49 ^a	$46.8 \pm 2.9^{\circ}$	95.5	0.051	0.17	0.06
Ś	В	27 ^a	$26.2 \pm 1.9^{\circ}$	97	0.088	0.29	0.07
9	Ce	$\mathfrak{Z}^{\mathrm{a}}$	2.88± 0.41°	96	0.0011	0.0036	0.14
7	Eu	0.2 ^a	$0.19\pm0.004^{\circ}$	95	0.0036	0.012	0.021
8	PN	17 ^a	16.1 ± 1.8^{c}	94.7	0.01	0.033	0.11
6	$\mathbf{Y}\mathbf{b}$	0.3^{a}	$0.27\pm0.01^{\circ}$	06	0.01	0.033	0.03
10	Sc	0.03 ^a	$0.028\pm 0.001^{\circ}$	93.3	0.103	0.34	0.03
S/NO.	Elements	SRM 1570a reference conc. (µg/g)	SRM 1570a measured conc. (µg/g)	Recovery (%)	LOD (µg/L)	L0Q (µg/L)	CV (%)
1	AI	310 ± 15^{b}	$287 \pm 11.5^{\circ}$	92.5	0.145	0.48	0.04
7	\mathbf{As}	0.068 ± 0.012^{b}	$0.056\pm0.008^{\circ}$	82.3	0.341	1.13	0.14
3	Ni	$2.142\pm0.058^{\rm b}$	$2.118\pm0.056^\circ$	98.8	0.0059	0.019	0.02
4	Eu	$0.0055\pm0.0010^{\rm b}$	$0.0048\pm0.0011^{\circ}$	87.2	0.0015	0.005	0.22
Ś	Sc	$0.0055\pm0.0006^{\rm b}$	$0.0051\pm0.0055^{\circ}$	92.7	0.0063	0.021	1.86
9	Cu	$12.22\pm0.86^{\mathrm{b}}$	$12.23\pm0.84^{\rm c}$	100	0.0781	0.26	0.068
٢	Co	$0.393\pm0.030^{\mathrm{b}}$	$0.382 \pm 0.022^{\circ}$	97.2	0.003	0.01	0.057

Table 3.4: Summary of elements with their recoveries (%), limit of detection (LOD), limit of quantification (LOQ) in certified reference materials for apple leaves (1515a) and spinach leaves (1570a).

3.12.3 Hierarchical Culture Analysis (HCA)

Hierarchical Culture analysis (HCA) is carried out to find the cluster of samples. It is also named as agglomerative clustering. HCA basically acts like a cluster which starts at its own row resulting in calculating distance and grouping the clusters closer to each other. Such clusters continue to make a single cluster at the end. There are five rules for determining the distance between clusters, they are the centroid, complete, average, ward and single. However, Wards method was used in this research to find the clustering in soil samples.

Summary

The current chapter detail out the methodology adopted in this research. Instruments used in the study have been given. Sampling locations map in the study area has been defined. Pre-sampling, sampling, preservation followed by laboratory analysis has been elaborated in detail. Analysis and physico-chemical parameter for water, sediments, soil and plants have been described. Different environmental impact assessment factors have been quoted in the equations. Quality control (QC) and quality assurance (QA) maintained throughout the research (*In situ* and laboratory) has also been explained. Statistical data analysis using PCA, FA and HCA has been also explained.

CHAPTER 4: ANALYSIS OF WATER, SEDIMENT AND SOIL

4.1 Water Analysis

Rare earth elements (REEs) have become a major concern these days especially in mining and industrial countries due to their persistent toxicity, radioactive nature and accumulation. Water is considered as most important, abundant and useful natural resource on the earth essential for sustaining life (Prasoon et al., 2015).

In this study thirty water samples were taken from mining lakes, ponds and Kinta River. Water samples were collected from 2014-2015 in two times field works. QC and QA was maintained throughout the fieldwork by using gloves, safety jackets, using precalibrated instruments, repeated washing of probes for every instrument, acidifying the samples and immediately preserving in cooling boxes.

4.1.1 Physico-chemical parameters

Table 4.1 represents the physico-chemical characteristics of mining lake water and Kinta River. Use of water supply for portable, agriculture or as raw water is based on the criteria set by Interim National Water Quality Standards Malaysia (2006) and Environmental Quality Report (2006) as shown in **Table 4.2** and **Table 4.3**.

Parameter	Temp	Salinity	SUL	Hq	SPc	ORP	DO	DO	Fluoride	Chloride	Bromide	Nitrites	Nitrates	TSS	Sulphate	Ammonia
Units	ç	NTU	mg L ^{-l}	Hd	μS/cm	mV	mg L ⁻¹	% age	$mg L^{-1}$	${ m mg}\ { m L}^{-1}$	${ m mg}{ m L}^{-1}$	${ m mg}{ m L}^{-1}$	${ m mgL^{-1}}$	${ m mg}{ m L}^{-1}$	$mg L^{-1}$	${ m mg}\ { m L}^{-1}$
Mining Lake	e water															
Average	31.80	0.15	1190.52	8.3	2194.09	387.73	12.79	189.50	0.80	3.52	0.56	1.52	115.50	127.60	43.32	0.54
Min	29.50	0.06	1179.80	6.7	2134.00	328.00	8.10	133.00	0.30	2.11	0.08	0.35	62.02	65.00	38.60	0.17
Max	34.50	0.19	1199.50	8.9	2237.50	488.00	22.50	325.00	1.17	5.61	1.20	2.42	151.90	208.00	46.31	1.20
Median	31.80	0.15	1191.90	8.7	2221.05	372.50	10.60	153.50	0.80	2.93	0.47	1.66	118.05	121.00	43.62	0.53
Stdev.	1.33	0.03	6.19	0.7	41.58	42.17	5.04	71.64	0.25	1.13	0.30	0.65	28.99	50.12	2.03	0.27
Range	5.00	0.13	19.70	2.2	103.50	160.00	14.40	192.00	0.87	3.50	1.12	2.07	89.88	143.00	7.71	1.03
Kinta River	water															
Average	29.05	0.13	1802.37	6.4	2038.95	444.20	17.69	388.20	1.12	4.42	0.53	2.17	103.20	196.50	69.22	136.63
Min	27.60	0.07	1779.50	5.7	2002.80	392.00	11.50	163.00	0.88	2.15	0.38	0.97	64.21	102.00	55.59	0.75
Max	29.70	0.15	1892.90	6.8	2203.20	498.00	21.20	1050.00	1.47	5.61	0.70	3.02	143.22	282.00	85.22	364.00
Median	29.25	0.14	1794.45	6.5	58.42	445.00	18.85	305.50	1.03	4.66	0.53	2.24	104.00	202.00	69.19	1.38
Stdev.	0.64	0.03	3.23	0.4	5.84	3.82	3.36	2.63	0.21	1.10	0.09	0.75	2.86	5.61	9.87	1.75
Range	2.10	0.08	113.40	1.1	200.40	106.00	9.70	887.00	0.59	3.46	0.32	2.04	79.01	180.00	29.63	363.25

Table 4.1: Physico-chemical characteristics of ex-tin mining lake for 20 samples and Kinta River water for 10 samples.

		Demonstrated a		Portable Water
Serial No.	Parameter	water (after Ministry of Health, Malaysia	Ministry of Health, Malaysia (2009)	US Environmental Protection Agency (2008) World Health organizatio (2009)
1		Physical C	Characteristics	
	Turbidity	1000NTU	5 NTU	5 NTU
	Colour	300 Hazen	15 Hazen	5 Hazen
	pH	5.5-9.0	6.5-9.0	6.8-9.2
2	•	Inc	organic	
	Dissolved Solids (mg L ⁻¹)	1500	100	500
	Total Solids	-	-	1500
	Chlorides(mg L ⁻¹)	250	250	250
	Nitrate (mg L^{-1})	10	10	45
	Iron Fe (mg L^{-1})	1.0	0.3	0.3
	Fluoride (mg L^{-1})	1.5	0.9	1.5
	Ammonia N (mg L^{-1})	0.5	0.5	-
	Total Nitrogen NO ₃	1.0	-	-
	(mg L [*])	500	500	
	Furthers (mg I ⁻¹)	500	500	-
2	Sulphate (ling L)	400 Elements	400	400
3	Mercury (mg I ⁻¹)	0.001		0.002
	Cadmium (mg L ⁻¹)	0.001	0.001	0.002
	Selenium (mg L ⁻¹)	0.005	0.005	0.01
	Arsenic (mg L^{-1})	0.01	0.01	0.01
	Cvanide (mg L^{-1})	0.1	0.1	0.05
	Lead (mg L^{-1})	0.1	0.05	0.05
	Chromium (mg L^{-1})	0.05	0.05	0.05
	Silver (mg L^{-1})	0.05	0.05	0.05
	Copper (mg L^{-1})	1.0	1.0	1.0
	Magnesium (mg L ⁻¹)	150	150	-
	Manganese (mg L ⁻¹)	0.2	0.1	0.05
	Zinc (mg L ⁻¹)	5.0	5.0	5.0
	Sodium (mg L ⁻¹)	200	200	200
	Aluminium (mg L ⁻¹)	-	0.2	0.2
	Oil & Grease (mg L ⁻¹)	0.3	0.3	0.3
	Phenol (mg L ⁻¹)	0.002	0.002	-

Table 4.2: Maximum allowable limit for raw water and portable water set by different Malaysian authority and USEPA.

D	T T •4		Classes				
Parameters	Unit	Ι	IIA	IIB	III	IV	V
Ammonical Nitrogen	mg/l	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.9	2.7	> 2.7
BOD	mg/l	1	3	3	6	12	> 12
COD	mg/l	10	25	25	50	100	> 100
DO	mg/l	7	5-7	5-7	3-5	< 3	< 1
pH	-	6.5-8.5	6.5-9.0	6.5-9.0	5-9	5-9	-
Color	TUC	15	150	150	-	-	-
Elec. Conductivity	μS/cm	1000	1000		-	6000	-
Floatables	-	NV	NV	NV	-		-
Salinity	%	0.5	1		-	2	-
Taste	-	NOT	NOT	NOT	-		-
Total suspended solids	mg/l	25	50	50	150	300	300
Temperature	° C		Normal + 2 °C		Normal + 2°C	-	-
Turbidity	NTU	5	50	50		-	-
Fecal Coliform	counts/100ml	10	100	400	5000 (20000)	5000 (20000)	-
Total Coliform	counts/100ml	100	5000	5000	50000	50000	>50000

Table 4.3: Interim National Water Quality Standards for Malaysia (INWQS), (2006).

Note: Class Uses

Class I: Conservation of natural environment.

Water Supply 1 – practically no treatment necessary.

Fishery 1 – very sensitive aquatic species.

Class IIA: Water Supply II – conventional treatment required.

Fishery II – sensitive aquatic species.

Class IIB: Recreational use with body contact.

Class III: Water Supply III - extensive treatment required.

Fishery III – common, of economic value and tolerant species; livestock drinking.

Class IV: Irrigation.

Class V: None of the above.

Detail of each parameter studied for water samples is explained by using box and whisker plots as follows:

4.1.1.1 Temperature

Temperature ranged from 29.5-34.5 °C and 27.6-29.7 °C for ex-tin mining lake and river water samples respectively as shown in **Figure 4.1 (a)**. Small changes in temperature of water have been seen at different locations along the lake. Due to tropical lowlands and heavy rainfall with high sunshine such temperature is considered normal for the current study area.

4.1.1.2 Salinity

Salinity was observed with nearly same value of 0.145 % in all the water samples collected and analyzed from lake and river. There were not so variations in this parameter.

4.1.1.3 pH

Water in the lake found nearly neutral in nature as shown in **Figure 4.1** (**b**). pH for mining lake water samples varies from acidic to basic while for river water was found acidic to neutral (5.7-6.8) with high pH 6.8 at sampling location R-8. Lake water draining to the nearby areas is more basic (6.7-8.9) than water chief inflow to the lake. Neutral pH may be because of transformation of mining land into oil palm plantation, formation of wetlands and dilution effects caused by rainfall and water flow channel.

4.1.1.4 Dissolved Oxygen (DO)

All the water samples were found high in DO as shown in **Figure 4.1** (c). For lake water samples studied average DO was found 12.79 mg L⁻¹ whereas for river water samples it was found 17.69 mg L⁻¹. The highest DO was found at five locations in lake waters (LI, L2, L3, L5 and L6) with more than 19 mg L⁻¹. Both values were higher than allowable limits. DO is mostly affected by temperature. Increase in temperature decreases the solubility of oxygen in water. However, in study area DO was found higher

than the allowable limit set by national water quality agencies. High sunshine and heavy rainfall could be the factors responsible for high DO levels in water.



Figure 4.1: Box and whisker plots showing physical parameters of water quality for lake and river water quality (a) Temperature (b) pH (c) DO (d) TSS (e) TDS (f) Specific conductivity (g) Nitrates (h) Sulphates.

4.1.1.5 Total suspended solids (TSS)

In the study area TSS was also found higher. In lake water average TSS were 127.60 mg L^{-1} and in Kinta river water were 196. 50 mg L^{-1} as shown in **Figure 4.1 (d)**. River water was found with higher TSS than lake water. River water flows throughout the length of the study area and receives water from different areas. In both water bodies TSS were high compared to the interim national water quality allowable standards. During wet season (rainy season) TSS slightly increase in concentration compared to dry season due to increased precipitation, soil and solid particles from urban and agricultural runoff.

4.1.1.6 Total dissolved Solids (TDS)

TDS in the study area has been found high having an average value of 1190 mg L^{-1} for lake water samples and 2038.95 mg L^{-1} for river water samples as shown in **Figure 4.1** (e). Lake water has less average amount of TDS than allowable limit as given in **Table 4.3** while the river water shows much contamination having higher TDS values for all samples.

4.1.1.7 Specific conductivity (SPc)

Specific conductivity values for lake and river water samples ranged more than 2000 μ s, two times greater than standard allowable limit i-e 1000 μ s according to INWQS, 2006. High specific conductivity represents the higher amount of free ions in both the samples as shown in the **Figure 4.1 (f)**. Oxidation reduction potential varies from 328-488 Mv. Maximum value is shown at sampling station L-17.

4.1.1.8 Nitrates (NO₃⁻)

Nitrates were also analyzed for mining lake water and river water samples as shown in **Figure 4.1** (g). The results indicate ex tin mining lake water with high nitrites and nitrates (Muhammad et al., 2012). Average nitrates in ex-mining lake water were 115.50 mg L^{-1} and in river water were103.20 mg L^{-1} . Both water bodies show higher values compared to allowable limits.

4.1.1.9 Sulphates (SO₄²⁻)

Sulphates in river waters were significantly high than INWQS Malaysia and WHO allowable limits. Average amounts of sulphates in ex tin-mining lake and Kinta River were 43.32 mg L⁻¹ and 69.22 mg L⁻¹ respectively as shown in **Figure 4.1 (h)**. Sulphide bearing bedrocks around the upper part of the ex-mining lake gets oxidized when exposed to air or water resulting in sulphide mineral oxidation. Production of iron oxides and sulphuric acid that affects the quality of water, decreasing pH and making it unsuitable for aquatic life. Other factors may be industrialization, agriculture, aqua culture, and construction and mining activities. These results support the previous study of Azyana and Nik. (2012) and Akif et al. (2014). Sulphates were below the allowable standard limit.

4.1.1.10 Ammonium (NH4⁺)

Water samples from study area also contain ammonium ions. Lake water contain 0.54 mg L^{-1} whereas river water contain at some locations 136.60 mg L^{-1} average concentration as described in **Table 4.1**. High amount of ammonium ions in river water indicate higher organic components dissolved. It is said that river water is more polluted because it receives water from industries, agriculture, commercial waste etc.

4.1.1.11 Chlorides (Cl⁻)

Chlorides in lake and river water from the studied area were found with lower concentration of chlorides in both water bodies than allowable national limit for raw and portable water (**Table 4.3**).

Other anions such as bromides, nitrites, fluorides were also detected in safe amount in lake and river water samples from the study area. Based on the current findings mining lake water could be categorized into class IV and V according to INWQS. Such water is used for plantation and also by the residents of nearby area circulating these rare earths throughout the food chain (Al-Fugara et al., 2014, Rahmanian et al., 2015).

4.1.2 REEs in ex-tin mining lake waters and Kinta River

Based on SRM results and recovery of the samples, the concentration of REEs in water from ex mining lake and Kinta River was found. **Table 4.4** and **Figure 4.2** represents average concentration of REEs in study area. Analytical data is provided in **Appendix B**.

Cerium was found in the highest concentration from 45.2-49.08 μ g L⁻¹ with average value 46.5 μ g L⁻¹. Ce is the major trace element in lanthanide series and chiefly found in REE bearing mineral. Maximum amount was found at sampling location L-13 (49.08 μ g L⁻¹). This site was located near the uphill of the mining lake and due to heavy rainfall and weathering process, Ce is leaching into lake water at very high rate. Yb was found in higher amount at location 20 with 23.11 μ g L⁻¹.

Lanthanum, yttrium and scandium were higher at L-16 with 20.54, 17.96 and 9.66 μ g L⁻¹, respectively representing this lake point more concentrated with monazite minerals or complexes. At site L-20 Er, Nd and Pr were chiefly found in 13.75, 12.68 and 10.67 μ g L⁻¹. Here distribution of REEs found much uniform. Gd and Ho were in lower concentration but their maximum amount was found at L-17 (7.99 and 4.55 μ g L⁻¹).
	light an	d heav	y rare e	arth eler	nents.			D							
Elements	Sc	Υ	La	Ce	Pr	Nd	Eu	Gd	ТЪ	Dy	Ho	Er	Tm	Yb	Lu
		Ligt	ht rare ear	th elemen	tts(LREE	S)				Heavy ra	re earth	elements	(HREES)		
Mining Lake	water														
Average	16.71	13.12	17.77	46.50	8.96	10.75	3.03	6.83	2.42	12.08	3.80	12.74	15.55	18.23	3.72
Min	7.85	10.09	16.15	45.20	8.30	9.41	2.71	6.11	2.01	11.14	3.17	12.05	14.35	15.36	2.88
Max	175.47	17.98	20.54	49.08	10.67	12.91	3.88	7.99	3.74	13.41	4.58	13.57	16.88	23.11	4.25
Median	9.13	10.72	16.63	45.39	8.42	9.66	2.86	6.22	2.12	11.74	3.56	12.44	14.97	17.71	3.79
Std.dev.	0.72	3.46	1.64	1.43	0.92	1.44	0.32	0.80	0.48	0.71	0.55	0.55	0.94	2.70	0.37
Range	167.62	7.89	4.39	3.88	2.37	3.50	1.17	1.88	1.73	2.27	1.41	1.52	2.53	7.75	1.37
Sum of conc.	175.47	262.37	355.47	930.05	179.22	214.93	60.57	136.51	48.31	241.55	75.95	254.79	310.99	364.648	74.31
ZLREE	2178.08														
ZHREE	1507.06														
ZREE	3685.14														
Kinta River w	'ater														
Average	9.87	7.37	11.51	29.95	7.74	9.23	1.72	5.29	1.75	7.63	1.33	8.49	10.50	12.66	1.81
Min	4.32	6.81	11.03	28.71	7.38	9.06	1.02	5.04	1.62	7.44	1.05	8.36	10.28	12.33	0.94
Max	54.31	7.96	12.82	33.15	8.21	9.41	2.46	5.49	1.89	7.82	1.56	8.77	11.05	13.44	2.44
Median	5.32	7.34	11.34	29.38	7.67	9.22	1.68	5.34	1.75	7.60	1.29	8.44	10.47	12.55	1.84
Std.dev.	0.54	0.39	0.50	1.59	0.29	0.11	0.49	0.14	0.10	0.13	0.17	0.14	0.23	0.35	0.47
Range	49.99	1.15	1.79	4.44	0.83	0.35	1.44	0.45	0.27	0.38	0.51	0.41	0.77	1.11	1.50
Sum of conc.	54.31 729.57	73.69	115.14	299.52	77.44	92.26	17.21	52.94	17.47	76.34	13.27	84.85	104.95	126.61	18.06
VUDFF	107 10														
VDFF	474.47 1774.06														
ZKEE	1224.00														

Table 4.4: Average concentration ($\mu g L^{-1}$) of REEs in ex-tin mining lake (20 samples) and river water (10 samples) with



Figure 4.2: Average concentrations of REEs in ex-mining lake water and river water samples from the study area.

Previous studies indicate higher concentrations of Gd in river waters due magnetic resonance imaging technology widely applied as modern technique recently (Ogata & Terakado, 2006; Kulaksız &Bau, 2007; Hatje et al., 2016). Dy concentration was higher (13.41 μ g L⁻¹) at site 15. Tb was found in less concentration but still the concentration was 3.74 μ g L⁻¹ at L-8. Such analysis reveal somewhat evenly distribution of REEs throughout the mining lake water.

Average REEs value found in current study are comparable with average values recorded by Muhammad et al. (2014) conducted in Bestari Jaya water samples. Acidic (pH 2.7) lake and ground water in Germany contain F^- , SO_4^{2-} and two of the REEs i-e lanthanum (La) and cerium (Ce) 70 µg L⁻¹ and 160 µg L⁻¹, respectively (Bozau et al., 2004). The current study shows lake water rich in sulphates (43.32 µg L⁻¹), pH in the range neutral (7) to less basic (6) and high average La and Ce concentration of about 17.77 µg L⁻¹, 45.50 µg L⁻¹ respectively. For a long time cassiterite ore, recovered from

alluvium in the plains of Kinta River and its tributaries. Tin has also been mined from lodes, veins and stock works in limestone, schist and granite. Monazite, ilmenite, zircon, and other heavy metals had also been used in tin mining industry (Ingham and Bradford, 1960). Tin tailing consist of magnetic minerals (iron ore, columbite) and non-magnetic minerals (cassiterite, monazite, zircon sand in large quantity and silica etc). Most of the tin tailings composed of inorganic oxides (Aigbodion et al., 2010).

Different mechanical and electrical industries running in the area use REEs in processing automobiles, magnets, glass etc. In river water sampling station (R-9) was significantly correlated with Ce, Pr, Dy, Eu, Lu and Ho (33.15, 8.21, 7.82, 2.46, 2.44 and 1.56 μ g L⁻¹, respectively). Samples analyzed from location R-8 mostly found enriched in La, Y, Nd, and Gd while Tb, Er, Tm and Yb were present at site R-7. Presence of REEs in these location indicate that they are sourced from those industries using REEs in modern technologies.

The current study indicate total concentration of REEs in lake and river water samples equal to 3685 μ g L⁻¹ and 1224 μ g L⁻¹ respectively (**Table 4.4**). Total concentration was also found for LREEs and HREEs as well. REEs in mining lake water ranged from 2.42 μ g L⁻¹ (Tb) to 46.50 μ g L⁻¹ (Ce) while Kinta river water contain REEs from 1.33 μ g L⁻¹ (Ho) to 29.95 μ g L⁻¹ (Ce). Water from ex-mining area found highly concentrated with light rare earth elements indicating the presence of monazite minerals in the area. Variations in all REEs concentration have been found but maximum value for all lake and river water samples obtained equal to 49.08 μ g L⁻¹. The higher REEs in this study area refer to mining activities and anthropogenic origin.

4.1.3 Statistical analysis

Data was evaluated statistically using SPSS for normality test as shown in **Table 4.5**. From the table it was concluded that Shapiro-Wilk test clearly define normal distribution of REEs having values p > 0.05 except Ho and Lu which are considered non-significant and abnormally distributed in water of mining area.

REEs concentration by linear correlation in the mining lake and river waters was determined by factor analysis (FA) which provide good chance to evaluate REEs in the study area. Pearson's correlation, descriptive analysis and principal component analysis (PCA) were determined using SPSS version 23. The correlation between different factors and REEs studied is shown in **Table 4.6**.

Value of 1 represents significant correlation between different parameters and REEs in sampling waters. TDS and pH show very weak correlation in waters meaning these two parameters independent of each other and together donot put significant impact both on the water quality and REEs. The presence of sulphates in water systems indicate that strong negative correlation with pH and relatively less strong with TDS at slightly basic pH.

Sulphates found freely in waters representing more cation anion exchange capacity. Scandium show negative strong correlation with TDS posing the presence of Rare earths bearing minerals in the abundant mined area. Yttrium show strong negative correlation with TDS in water but strong positive with Sc. Such an anomaly may refer to the monazite ores as chief source of yttrium and scandium in tin mines. This may be considered as a source of REEs and pollution hazards not only to water quality but onto public health and aquatic biota. Lanthanum is strongly positively correlated with scandium and yttrium again indicating the higher extraction of monazite mineral in the location. Lanthanum is strongly correlated in negative value with TDS in waters but good correlation found with sulphates. Cerium, praseodymium, neodymium, euphorbium, gadolinium, holmium, erbium and leutetium are strongly positive correlated with most of the REEs in mining lake waters and river waters in mining land.

-Wilk	lf Sig.	0 0.065	0 0.05	0 0.074	0 0.058	0 0.052	0 0.145	0 0.092	0 0.352	0 0.692	0 0.775	0 0.009	0 0.256	0 0.074	0 0.064	0 0.001
Shapiro	Statistic d	0.871 3	0.824 3	0.863 3	0.735 3	0.803 3	0.72 3	0.923 3	0.871 3	0.872 3	0.803 3	0.852 3	0.764 3	0.811 3	0.887 3	0.864 3
Z Kurtosis		-1.51	-1.11	-1.66	-1.72	-0.49	-1	-0.33	-1.15	-1.62	-1.54	-1.63	1.82	-1.8	-0.66	-1.03
SE Kurtosis		0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833	0.833
Kurtosis		-1.26	-0.93	-1.39	-1.44	0.41	-0.84	-0.28	-0.96	1.35	-1.29	-1.36	-1.52	-1.5	-0.55	-0.861
Z Skewness		-1.14	1.73	0.51	-1.66	0.43	1.61	1.59	1.33	0.74	-1.19	-0.85	-1.39	-1.07	-1.4	-1.71
SE Skewness		0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427
Skewness		-0.491	0.74	0.22	-0.711	0.185	0.69	0.682	0.57	0.32	-0.512	-0.365	-0.597	-0.46	-0.602	-0.732
Mean ± SEM		15.85 ± 1.73	29.70 ± 3.93	203.2 ± 3.29	73.83 ± 6.06	17.90 ± 0.95	16.70 ± 1.37	5.85 ± 0.73	$\textbf{5.85}\pm\textbf{0.98}$	2.839 ± 0.50	30.01 ± 2.12	4.60 ± 0.26	15.54 ± 1.08	14.94 ± 0.21	18.83 ± 1.45	6.29 ± 0.99
Mean ± SD		15.85 ± 2.30	29.70 ± 4.16	203.2 ± 7.35	73.83 ± 9.81	17.90 ± 2.60	16.70 ± 1.80	$\textbf{5.85}\pm\textbf{0.92}$	20.37 ± 1.90	2.83 ± 0.19	30.01 ± 2.35	4.60 ± 0.50	15.54 ± 1.20	14.94 ± 0.46	18.83 ± 0.83	6.29 ± 0.90
No		40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40
Parameters		Sc	Υ	La	Ce	Pr	Nd	Eu	Gd	Tb	Dy	Но	Er	Tm	Yb	Lu

Table 4.5: Skewness, kurtosis, and normality tests for rare earth elements (REEs) provided by SPSS.

Such an anomaly presents anthropogenic source and the alluvium and carbonaceous rocks bearing minerals on the upper side of the lake also attribute towards geogenic source of these REEs in the mining area. REEs were extracted from tin mining's as a byproduct from REE bearing minerals such as xenotime, monazite and stuverite.

PCA determines the individual performance of REEs in water by their distribution paterrens. Variability is explained by Eigen values and varimax rotation (about 93.76%) for waters in mining area. These factors exhibit total variance (93.76%) with positive loadings for La, Ce, Pr, Nd, Dy and rest of the REEs in all waters. Erbium shows maximum loading in the component. These values are compared with upper continental crust values found higher in concentration in all waters. Scree plot clearly define the two component as shown in **Figure 4.3**.

Such parameters refer to the source may be considered tin bearing minerals and compounds. Geogenic process in water do not correspond to background values of REEs in mining area water bodies and high variations in the data obtained in this study corresponds to some external sources.



Figure 4.3: Scree plot representing two major components contributing for REEs.

		uble 4.6: Correlation between different parameters for REEs in water.	

 n	- -		.49**	83**	92**	88		**68	91**	83**	**68	33**	92**	170**	91**	'46**	74**	1
٩	- 16	ŧ.	**8 *90 •	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	5 ^{**} .9	**8 [.]	6. ** .9	5 ^{**} .9	69	52** .9	13** 9.	'2** .9	i1** .9	6. **0)5** .9	3** .7	1.8	
> >	2	5	* <u>9</u> 1	*	** .86	** .81	** .86	**	** .86	**	**	** .87	** .84	**	*	.89		
Tm	0.16	1	.874	.711	.711	.656	.731	.680	.698	.716	.671	.786	.688	.870	808.	1		
ш	- 107	· ·	.984	.982	.985**	.973**	$.991^{**}$.979	.979	.976	.976	.948**	.981**	.991	1			
РH	- 205		.987** 535**	**096.	.962**	.940**	.968	.950**	.953**	.950**	.945**	.952**	.952**	1				
Q	י ג** ההא	t ' ``	.941 ^{**} 707	989.	.997**	.998	.997**	.996	.995**	.983**	.997**	.923**	Ч					
1p	351*	ı	.926** 583**	.942**	.935**	.914**	.935**	.927**	.926**	.903**	.920**	-						
Gd	** 	to: '	.930** 714**	.987**	.995**	.998	.992**	.997**	.993**	.985**	Ţ							
Eu	- 108**	0 '	.941** 651**	.967**	.979**	.982**	.986	.982**	.985**	Ţ								
PN	- 527**	· · ·	.936** 692**	.982**	.995**	.993**	.994**	.992**	1									
Pr	י א *	TOC:	.932** 777**	988**	.996	**866.	.993**	1										
G	- Ena**		.961** 664**	.989	.996	.993**	1											
La	- гел**	+or:	.926** 737**	.986	.994**	1												
>	- E76**	0 -	.945** 694**	.991**	1													
Sc	- 501**		.945** 673**	н,														
S04-	- **CAT	7 - 1	.470** 1	I														
TDS).294	-	I															
Hd	1 C																	
	Hd	TDS	504-	Sc	≻	La	Ce	Pr	рŊ	Eu	Gd	Ъ	Ŋ	Ю	Ъ	Tm	٩Y	Lu

4.2 Sediment Analysis

4.2.1 Physico-chemical parameters of sediment from ex-mining lake

Initial physical parameters for the sediments are described in Table 4.7.

4.2.1.1 pH

pH for the sediment samples studied from the mining lake ranged from 5.1 to 6.8 indicating acidic to neutral nature of the sediments as shown in **Figure 4.4 (a).** Although it is simple but very important parameter in determining quality of ecosystem.

4.2.1.2 Total organic carbon (TOC)

Total organic carbon (TOC) serves as basic factor for environmental quality status in both aquatic and terrestrial ecosystem. Amount of TOC in the aquatic ecosystem is mainly associated with organic contaminants for easy access to toxicity (Avramidis et al., 2015). Total organic carbon (TOC) ranged from 4.85 ppm in SD-2 to 11.2 ppm in SD indicating the presence of organic matter in the samples given in **Figure 4.4 (b)**. Such lower values show reduced risk of species organic richness in the ecosystem.

4.2.1.3 Anions (SO42-, PO43-, NO3-, NO2-) and Halides (F-, Cl-, Br-)

Sulphates were found in sediment samples ranging from 63.9- 102.4 ppm. The highest amount of sulphate was detected in sediment SD-6 as shown in **Figure 4.4 (c)**. Phosphates were detected in only two samples i.e. SD-3 and SD-4 with values 1.3 ppm and 3.7 ppm respectively. Eutrophication and lake water quality is dependent on the amount of phosphorous released from the sediments. On the other hand, nitrates were found to be the highest in concentration than any other anions in sediments. Average value of nitrates (NO_3^{-1}) was found to be 187.3 ppm (**Figure 4.4 d**). After the depletion of nitrates in anaerobic sediments, sulphates also get released to the lake water. In mining lake sediments nitrites were also detected ranging from 3.19 ppm to 7.56 ppm (**Table 4.7**).

Sediment J	paramete	rs from ex-	(All param	eters in ppm	except pH)				
n	nining lak	le le							
Sample	μd	Fluorides	Chlorides	Nitrites	Sulphates	Bromides	Nitrates	phosphate	TOC
SD-1	5.5	1.18	2.367	3.192	63.94	1.64	66.8	BDL	5.65
SD-2	5.1	1.31	2.285	4.319	74.84	1.35	78.9	BDL	4.85
SD-3	5.6	1.08	2.399	5.742	78.88	0.73	90.2	1.3	5.24
SD-4	5.7	1.2	3.456	6.025	88.21	0.82	148	3.7	10.8
SD-5	6.1	1.45	3.417	6.865	95.21	1.07	167	BDL	8.61
SD-6	6.3	1.264	3.486	7.13	102.58	1.15	225	BDL	8.96
SD-7	6.6	1.31	3.905	6.114	72.95	1.22	249.4	BDL	10.8
SD-8	6.8	2.34	4.347	6.991	90.31	0.99	276.8	BDL	11.2
SD-9	6.4	2.44	5.682	7.025	82.65	1.33	280.1	BDL	10.4
SD-10	6.3	2.58	5.932	7.556	96.78	1.51	291.1	BDL	10.5
Note: BDL	refers to "l	below detection li	mit"						

Table 4.7: Physical parameters of the sediment samples.





Fluorides in sediment samples have been found ranging from 1.08 ppm to 2.58 ppm as shown in **Table 4.7**. Chlorides were detected in 2.29 ppm to 5.53 ppm in all sediment samples as shown in **Table 4.7**. In water media concentration of chlorides vary widely. Bromides in the sediment samples were measured ranging from 0.37 ppm to 1.64 ppm. Lower concentration of bromides in the sediments reflects the high inflow water channel throughout the lake and heavy rainfall in the area caused less residence time to ions to be adsorbed on the sediment surface.

Sediments were found concentrated in most of the parameters than lake and river water samples posing greater hazard pollution source in the lake. The sedimentation rate on the upper side of the lake is higher as compared to lower ground part because of weathering process (Al-Fugara et al., 2014). This is probably due to hilly terrain and land clearing activities at the upper part of the lake. Furthermore, high rainfall throughout the year may induce erosional process around the lake.

4.2.2 REEs concentration in sediment of ex-tin mining lake

Table 4.8 and **Figure 4.5** present sediments average concentration values for the REEs from ex-mining lake. Sediment samples from 10 stations were collected and analyzed. Recovery for reference material ranged from 91.1 - 99.7 %. The values for REEs were found higher in sediments than in the lake water (**Appendix B**). La was found in maximum concentration at SD-2 with a value of 771.61 mg kg⁻¹ and mean value 765.83 mg kg⁻¹ in all samples. So, high degree of pollution may be related to La. Natural background value to calculate degree of pollution could not be found. Therefore, upper continental crust value was used. Average concentration of cerium in sediment was much lower (172.4 mg kg⁻¹) compared to La. Dysprosium (Dy) was found the third abundant rare element in sediment samples with average value of 88.2 mg kg⁻¹. Generally, all sediments found enriched with REEs considering as one of the biggest sources for REEs.

Very few studies have been found which focus on the REEs in the sediments while deeper water quality has been of major concern these days for the researchers (Wood, 2001). The concentration of REEs in the sediment samples from 10 stations varies from $4.21 - 771.6 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$.

Slightly higher concentrations of LREEs in sediment than HREEs indicates higher transfer of REEs from lake waters to the sediment particles. Weathering of minerals from REEs bearing soil and rock could be another reason for the sediments toxicity. Here, conclusion can be made that source of REEs in the sediments is the anthropogenic activities (mining) and the rocks bearing minerals of REEs surrounding the lake. Due to weathering and erosion process and tropical region with heavy rainfall, REEs deposited on the surface of sediments make complexes with other elements and get adsorbed. Sediments are found abundant in with La, Ce, Dy, Gd, Sc, Y Nd, Pr and Eu. Mining activities in the past have left their mining waste as sediments with deposited REEs can be nominated as contaminant.



Figure 4.5: Mean concentration (mg kg⁻¹) of REEs in sediments.

ke.
la]
рg
ni
Ξ.
in
K-t
G
no
fro
es
lqt
an
t s
len
in
ed
n s
S 1.
Η̈́
\mathbf{R}
of
$\overline{}$
Ľ
8n
S
/el
le
n
ίţ
ltra
Sen
эпс
ŭ
ö
4
ole
ab
Η

	Yb Lu	5 28.66±0.8 15.75±0.5	$3 28.17 \pm 0.4 16.29 \pm 0.2$	3 27.64±0.2 16.47±0.3	$2 26.17 \pm 0.3 14.37 \pm 0.2$	5 25.61±0.2 16.95±0.2	± 24.55±0.7 15.45±0.1	1 27.19±0.3 16.05±0.2	24.5±0.1 16.55±0.2	3 24.76±0.5 15.51±0.09	2 24.72 \pm 0.1 15.84 \pm 0.2
	Tm	16.85±0.	17.61±0.	17.15±0.	19.05±0.	18.6 ± 0.5	18.360.5	18.65±0.	18.6 ± 0.1	18.66±0.	18.42±0.
	Er	27.85±0.5	27.2±0.3	28.6±0.7	29.1 ± 0.1	29.3±0.3	28.75±0.2	28.55 ± 0.1	27.51±0.6	27.75±0.2	27.7±0.1
	Ho	9.35±0.2	9.3±0.2	9.19 ± 0.4	10.55 ± 0.4	10.14 ± 0.8	10.5 ± 0.2	9.45±0.2	9.92 ± 0.2	9.95±0.2	9.75±0.1
	Dy	86.98±0.3	92.28±0.30	92.96±0.2.	89.35±0.5	84.25±0.3	89.66±0.1	89.44±0.4	85.27±0.8	86.44±0.2	86.17±0.1
iing lake.	Tb	4.58±0.6	4.71 ± 0.08	4.64 ± 0.2	5.51±0.1	5.44±0.4	5.67±0.2	4.21±0.3	4.54 ± 0.4	4.28 ± 0.1	4.22 ± 0.1
ex-tin mir	Gd	$63.74{\pm}1.0$	61.08 ± 1.1	63.47±0.7	62.98±0.3	62.55±0.6	64.14 ± 0.8	67.75±1.0	63.77±0.6	$61.01{\pm}0.7$	54.95±0.1
oles from	Eu	16.33±1.7	14.25±1.3	14.66±0.6	16.78±0.5	15.35±0.5	12.25±0.8	19.66±1.0	15.65±0.6	14.8 ± 0.4	15.75±0.3
ment sam	PN	36.8±1.2	$38.69{\pm}1.0$	$38.74{\pm}0.9$	36.52 ± 0.4	$37.04{\pm}0.6$	33.64±1.6	37.2 ± 0.8	36.88 ± 0.3	33.11 ± 0.5	35.65±0.5
Es in sedi	Pr	44.6 ± 1.1	45.2 ± 1.0	44.67 ± 1.0	48.11±0.7	50.2±1.2	46.66±1.0	45.8 ± 0.5	44.23 ± 0.4	45.88±0.6	44.76±0.2
L ⁻¹) of RE	Ce	175.9±1.9	179.55±1.5	174.61 ± 0.7	178.59 ± 1.1	171 ± 1.8	168.58 ± 1.6	169.9 ± 1.2	170.8 ± 0.4	161.55 ± 0.4	173.5±0.9
levels (μg	La	765.1±2.9	771.61±1.6	769.8±2.0	770.33±1.3	764.59±1.1	765.2±1.8	762.8±1.3	763.55±0.8	765.36±1.0	760.02±1.0
centration	Y	85.28±1.2	88.76±1.2	88.21±1.3	86.53±0.6	84.11 ± 1.5	90.67 ± 1.0	$82.36{\pm}1.0$	83.47 ± 1.4	82.6 ± 1.2	80.22±1.3
4.8: Con	Sc	45.24 ± 1.1	38.12 ± 1.0	42.55 ± 1.6	45.99 ± 1.5	40.65 ± 1.0	44.12 ± 1.6	33.67±0.7	38.52 ± 0.9	41.2 ± 1.2	34.35±1.1
Table	S.Codes	SD-1	SD-2	SD-3	SD-4	SD-5	SD-6	SD-7	SD-8	SD-9	SD-10

Sediments collected from the hilly side show different behavior than sediments from the ground side of the ex-mining lake while sediments from the point of drainage are found less in REEs. Soil type around different parts of the lake also influenced the sediment properties. So far, no study has evaluated the source of REEs in the sediments in ex-mining lake water.

Most of sediment bound REEs were fixed on the surface and present in an inert state. Ex-mining area after evaluation for REEs was found to be rich in these elements and also detrimental effects on aquatic ecosystem. In general, decreasing trend of REEs in the sediment samples from ten stations is given as: La > Ce> Dy> Y> Gd > Pr > Sc > Nd > Yb > Er > Tm > Eu >Lu > Ho > Tb. The higher degree of pollution in the ex-mining lake is related to the sediments that acts as source of most of the REEs being deposited on the surface along with minerals.

4.2.3 Environmental Assessment

Degree of pollution in sediments is calculated by using different environmental parameters by computing Microsoft excel 2013.

4.2.3.1 Enrichment Factor (EF) and Geo-accumulation Index (Igeo)

Sediment samples were found with 0.0 to 4.6 standard deviation. Enrichment factor values with average, standard deviations, minimum, maximum, range and median are given in **Table 4.9** and **Figure 4.6**. Average EF value is maximum for Tm (124) and minimum for Nd (0.0) but generally sediments show REEs enrichment in the category minor to extremely severe enrichment (Franklin et al., 2016). Classification of samples into different categories is done on the basis of seven classes given in **Table 4.10**.

Average enrichment factor (EF) values for all REEs found as Sc (5.6), Y (0.4), La (48.5), Ce (0.4) Pr (12.7), Nd (0.0), Eu (30.7), Gd (0.1), Tb (13.4), Dy (0.4), Ho (23.2),

Er (0.2), Tm (119), Yb (0.3) and Lu (100.8). From these results it is indicated that Y, Ce, Nd, Gd, Dy, Er and Yb show no enrichment factor or minor enrichment while Sc, Pr, and Tb show moderately severe enrichment. La, Tm and Lu show extremely sever enrichment in sediment samples. Based on the classification, sediment samples fall into the category of severe enrichment. Therefore, anthropogenic contributions can be observed throughout the mining lake including the points near the catchment of water supply to the near urban area (Franklin et al., 2016).

The enrichment of surface sediments for REES in the Penang River, Malaysia indicate value less than 2 for all REEs in the samples representing less contamination of the river sediments and of natural origin (Ong et al., 2015) while this study shows much higher enrichment nearly up to 100 for Lu imposing the anthropogenic sources mainly by ore mining activities. REEs in Periube black mud show the enrichment of light REEs than High REEs. Enrichment value for light REEs observed more than 1 showing compactness of the structure whereas for the heavy REEs less than 1 showing scattered behaviour. Similar correlation was found in the study. Sediments found much deposited with LREE compared to HREE.

Geoaccumulation index (Igeo) significantly define and determine contamination level in sediments. For the first time Muller (1969) determine Igeo in the sediments. It is considered as qualitative pollution index analysis. Results indicate maximum average value for La and Ce with 14 and 12.8 representing extremely polluted sediments in the mining lake as shown in **Figure 4.6**.

Table 4.9: Er	rrichmen	t factor ()	EF) and ξ	geo-accun	nulation	index (]	lgeo) val	ues calc	ulated f	or sedin	nents fro	ım ex-n	nining l	ake.	
Parameters	Sc	Υ	La	Ce	Pr	ΡN	Eu	Gd	$\mathbf{T}\mathbf{b}$	Dy	\mathbf{H}_{0}	Er	\mathbf{Tm}	Υb	Lu
					Enr	ichmen	t Factor	(EF)							
UCC value	7	20	31	63	7.1	27	1	4	0.7	3.9	0.83	2.3	0.3	2	0.31
Average	5.7	0.4	48.5	0.4	12.7	0.0	30.7	0.1	13.4	0.4	23.2	0.2	119.0	0.3	100.8
Stdev	0.6	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.5	0.0	3.8	0.0	1.6	0.0	1.2	0.0	4.8	0.0	4.6
Min	4.7	0.4	48.1	0.4	12.2	0.0	24.0	0.1	11.8	0.4	21.7	0.2	110.2	0.3	91.0
Max	6.5	0.4	48.9	0.4	13.9	0.0	38.6	0.1	15.9	0.4	25.0	0.2	124.6	0.4	107.3
Range	1.7	0.1	0.7	0.0	1.7	0.0	14.5	0.0	4.1	0.0	3.2	0.0	14.4	0.1	16.3
					Geoace	cumulat	ion Inde	ex (Igeo							
Average	7.6	10.2	14.0	12.8	7.8	9.4	3.4	7.4	1.2	7.8	2.4	5.4	1.9	5.1	1.7
Std.dev.	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1
Min	7.3	10.1	13.9	12.7	7.7	9.2	3.0	7.2	1.0	7.8	2.4	5.4	1.8	5.0	1.6
Max	7.8	10.2	14.0	12.9	7.9	9.5	3.7	7.5	1.4	6.7	2.6	5.5	1.9	5.2	1.8
Range	0.5	0.2	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.7	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2
Median	7.6	10.1	14.0	12.8	7.8	9.4	3.4	7.4	1.1	7.8	2.4	5.4	1.9	5.1	1.7
Note: UCC vi	alue = up	per conti	nental cri	ust value	backgro	and valu	ie (Wede	pol, 199	(2)		5				

-	-
	ρŊ
	Ξ.
	E
•	Ξ
	T
	×.
	-
	Ξ
	2
د	F
	S
	ġ.
	g
	Ξ
	ਰੁ
	s
	ĥ
,	0
	_
	ĕ
-	at
-	T
	ฮ
-	ā
	õ
	Ś
	пe
-	F
	22
,	-
	õ
	Б Ш
Ę	Ë
	2
	Ð,
	g
•	Ħ
	Ц
	2
	H.
-	Ë.
	ď
	II
	บ
	g
	ï
	00
	бо
-	ວ່
	ğ
	3
ŕ	L
í	I)
	<u>ب</u>
	S
	Ĕ
	ы
د	H L
	IJ
	В
	Ц
-	<u>-</u>
•	Ĕ
	ġ
ļ	I)
	\mathbf{r}
	4
	L
	Ξ.
-	ğ
r r	able

	load index (PLI).				L.		
	Classification of Enrichmer	nt factor ((EF), Geoaccumulation inde	x (Igeo), Conta	mination factor (CF) and Pollutic	on load in	dex (PLI)
Enrichment	Factor (EF)	Geoacc	cumulation index (Igeo)	Contaminat	ion factor (CF)	Pollutic	on load index (PLI)
EF	Class	Igeo	Class	CF	Class	PLI	Class
EF< 1	No enrichment	$\overset{0}{\succ}$	Unpolluted	$\overline{\nabla}$	Low contamination	0	Perfect
EF 1-3	Minor	0-1	Moderate polluted	1 <cf<3< th=""><th>Moderate pollution</th><th>$\overline{}$</th><th>Non polluted</th></cf<3<>	Moderate pollution	$\overline{}$	Non polluted
EF 3-5	Moderate	1-2	Moderately	3 <cf<6< th=""><th>Considerable pollution</th><th>\sim</th><th>Polluted</th></cf<6<>	Considerable pollution	\sim	Polluted
EF 5-10	Moderately Severe	2-3	High pollution				
EF 10-25	Severe	3-4	Highly polluted				
EF 25-50	Very Severe	4-5	Extreme pollution				
EF >50	Extremely severe	~5	Extremely polluted				

Table 4.10: Classification of Enrichment factor (EF), Geoaccumulation index (Igeo), Contamination factor (CF) and Pollution



Figure 4.6: (a) Enrichment factor (EF) (b) geoaccumulation index (Igeo) in sediments.

4.2.3.2 Contamination Factor and Pollution Load Index (CF and PLI)

Contamination factor is also classified for its pollution level as shown in **Table 4.10**. The results from sediment analysis for contamination factor are represented in **Table 4.11** and **Figure 4.7** indicate that sediments in the mining lake are less deposited in Sc, Y, Pr, Ce and Nd and show considerable contamination. Sediments were much loaded with La, Eu, Gd, Tb, Ho, Er, Tm, Yb and Lu falling in the class very high contamination. Highest contamination factor was found in SD-6 for Tm (63.5) reflecting high contamination for all sediment samples.

Contamination factor (CF) and Pollution load index (PLI) gives very easy and simple evaluation of contamination level in sediments and is classified only into two classes. Sediments from mining lake were found rich in REEs as their pollution load index were very high. Highest PLI was noted at site SD-7 (17.41) indicating hazardous aggregation of REEs pollutants in the mining lake.

4.3 Soil Analysis

Rare earth elements (REEs) are widely distributed in the earth's crust and have an igneous, metamorphic, geogenic or sedimentary origin. These elements are transferred to the environment through natural but most often by anthropogenic sources (Babula et al., 2008). Accumulation of REEs in the soil is much more important due to their damaging and long-term hazardous effects (Liu et al., 2014). Soil pollution in urban areas due to mining of REEs is a major contributor to anthropogenic activity leading to damaging effects on nature and environment (Wang et al., 2001a).

In countries like Malaysia where equatorial or tropical climate with high temperature and heavy rainfall exist around the year, favor distribution and transport of REEs from source to the sink. Soil behaves as a sink for REEs by depositing particles released from industrial activities, mining, and automobile exhaust, etc (Hamzah et al., 2008).

Sample	Sc	Y	La	Ce	Pr	PN	Eu	Gd	Tb	Dy	Ho	Er	Tm	Yb	Lu	PLI
UCC Value	1	20	31	63	7.1	27	-	4	0.7	3.9	0.83	2.3	0.3	1.96	0.31	
SD-1	6.46	4.26	24.68	2.79	6.28	1.36	16.33	15.94	6.54	22.30	11.27	12.11	56.17	14.62	50.81	16.79
D-2	5.45	4.44	24.89	2.85	6.37	1.43	14.25	15.27	6.73	23.66	11.20	11.83	58.70	14.37	52.55	16.93
SD-3	6.08	4.41	24.83	2.77	6.29	1.43	14.66	15.87	6.63	23.84	11.07	12.43	57.17	14.10	53.13	16.98
SD-4	6.57	4.33	24.85	2.83	6.78	1.35	16.78	15.75	7.87	22.91	12.71	12.65	63.50	13.35	46.35	17.24
SD-5	5.81	4.21	24.66	2.71	7.07	1.37	15.35	15.64	7.77	21.60	12.22	12.74	62.00	13.07	54.68	17.39
SD-6	6.30	4.53	24.68	2.68	6.57	1.25	12.25	16.04	8.10	22.99	12.65	12.50	61.20	12.53	49.84	16.94
SD-7	4.81	4.12	24.61	2.70	6.45	1.38	19.66	16.94	6.01	22.93	11.39	12.41	62.17	13.87	51.77	17.41
SD-8	5.50	4.17	24.63	2.71	6.23	1.37	16.65	15.94	6.49	21.86	11.95	11.96	62.00	12.50	53.39	17.16
SD-9	5.89	4.13	24.69	2.56	6.46	1.23	14.80	15.25	6.11	22.16	11.99	12.07	62.20	12.63	50.03	16.81
SD-10	4.91	4.01	24.52	2.75	6.30	1.32	15.75	13.74	6.03	22.09	11.75	12.04	61.40	12.61	51.10	16.69

Table 4.11: factor (CF) and Pollution load index (PLI) in sediment samples collected from ex-mining lake.



Figure 4.7: (a) Average contamination factor (CF) (b) Pollution load index (PLI) of REEs in sediments.

The exploitation of REEs in Perak may led to increasing levels of contaminants in the environment. This is one of the major causes of soil pollution (Liang et al., 2014).

In this study soil samples from forty different locations from ex-mining area in Perak were taken. Samples were collected from three different depths (0-20 cm, 21-40 cm, 41-60 cm) using auger. Soil sampling was done in 2014 to 2016 in three times fieldworks.

4.3.1 Physical properties of soil

REEs reach the surface of the soil, whether originated from any source. Physicochemical properties, distribution patterns and speciation study, evaluate their providence in soil. Textural distribution and physical characteristics with three different depths of the samples have been studied. Physical properties are shown in **Table 4.12 & Appendix C.**

4.3.1.1 Grain size

Data analysis shows the high percentage of sand with average values 86 %, 85 % and 83.2 % in all samples with three depths (0-20 cm, 21-40 cm, 41-60 cm) respectively and some clay content is shown in **Figure 4.8**. Such condition allows excessive drainage and intensive leaching of soil ultimately lowering cation exchange capacity (CEC) and organic matter (OM).

4.3.1.2 Colour

Soil colour varies with depth. Soil collected from different locations was found with Mansell colour chart with 10YR4/3 brown, sandy clay, 7.5YR 8/0 silvery white, 10YR 8/8 yellow mustard, 5YR 5/8 orange red, 10YR 8/4 yellow beige, 10YR 3/3 brownish black, 5YR 7/8 orange brown, 5Y 5/1 dark grey and 10YR 2/1 dark black colour.



Figure 4.8: Distribution of soil samples grain size classification (n=40) in USDA soil classification diagram. Most of the soil samples were classified as sand type and some of the soil samples classified as silty clay type.

4.3.1.3 pH

pH is much lower in some soil samples with the lowest value of 3.0 at sampling site 12 but higher up to 8.3 at site 23. Lower pH value indicates negatively charged soil surface together with weathering of soil (Chutian et al., 2015). In contrast to tin mining areas in Selangor where pH is up to 3, the areas in Lahat have better soil pH as the problem of acidity does not arise. In fact, pH is too high in some sites. The high pH value may indicate the influence of limestone in some underlying deposits. Decrease in soil pH also decreases the REEs mobility and potential availability in the soil. CEC is generally low for soils having low clay content. Increase in organic matter content of the soil increases REEs potential availability and also enhance the CEC values (Medunić et al., 2014).

4.3.1.4 Electrical conductivity (EC)

Electrical conductivity (EC) found higher in most of the soil samples. Average EC values for all three soil depths vary as 55.85 μ S cm⁻¹, 58.53 μ S cm⁻¹ and 56.56 μ S cm⁻¹ respectively. The maximum EC value was found to be 299.7 μ S cm⁻¹ in the second layer of soil (21-40 cm).

4.3.1.5 Cation exchange capacity (CEC)

A novel method for CEC shows good results for soil samples. The average value of CEC in the top layer (0-20 cm) of soil was found 17.06 cmol kg⁻¹, in the second layer (21-40 cm) was 17.28 cmol kg⁻¹ while in the third layer (41-60 cm) was 17.36 cmol kg⁻¹.

4.3.1.6 Moisture content (MC)

Average moisture content (MC) of soil was also found in all three layers of soil and vary as 22.13 %, 24.13 %, and 25 % respectively.

4.3.1.7 Organic Matter (OM)

Organic matter content increases down the depth of soil. Maximum value was found at S14 (29 %) at the depth of 41-60 cm. However, all soil samples collected and analyzed for organic matter, it was found much lower compared to sandy. Mean values of physical parameters are shown in **Table 4.12**. Average values of organic matter for all three layers of soil ranged as 13.1 %, 15.05 %, and 15.60 %, respectively.

4.3.1.8 X-ray Fluorescence (XRF)

X-ray fluorescence (XRF) was studied for the elemental contents of soil given in **Figure 4.9** (**Appendix D**). The study area is flanked with alluvium cover after extensive weathering.

XRF analysis of clay indicates that sites with less than 50 % silica, about 30 % alumina. Calcium and magnesium oxides are generally low with 6 % and 3 % respectively. Oxides of iron, titanium, tin, phosphorous, REEs also found in considerable percentages (Malaysia, 2011).

The study found similar patterns like ex-mining tin lands in Malaysia (USGS, 2011). This data give valuable information about the presence of metal compounds in the soil samples. Overall analysis reveals the disturbed soil profile due to mining activities, weathering processes, acid rain and heavy rainfall. These physical characteristics together keep soil, prevent from structure development. A currently structure of the soil in that area is massive and in time come to the structure developments until organic matter is present in considerable amount along with silt, sand, and clay.

4.3.1 Total Concentration of Rare Earth Elements (REEs)

Soil analysis reveals that in majority of the samples, the total concentration of REEs decrease with increasing atomic number and soil depth from the ex-mining area. Surface soil found rich in light rare earth elements (LREEs). The concentration (mg kg⁻¹) of REEs in surface soil (0-20 cm) determined was maximum for Ce, Nd, La, Y and Sc with 75.03, 62.90, 46.05, 38.12, 31.19 (mg kg⁻¹), respectively with decreasing trend for other REEs as shown in **Figure 4.10, 4.11** and **4.12**. Concentration of each rare element increase from 0-200 (mg kg⁻¹) shown by lighter to darkest grey color in the maps. Average, maximum and minimum concentration of REEs in surface soil (0-20 cm) have been given in **Table 4.13**. Subsoil (21-40 cm) was found enriched with Ce, Nd, La, Y and Sc but in less concentration than surface soil. Ce was found in highest concentration (41.61mg kg⁻¹). Deeper soil layer (41-60 cm) followed the same pattern of REEs as subsoil layer (21-40 cm). In this layer, Ce was found with 35.11 mg kg⁻¹. By comparing three soil layers, it can be concluded that distribution of Ce, Nd, La, Y and Sc is more significant than other REEs.

Depth	Parameters	No. of samples	Hq	EC(µs/cm)	CEC(cmol/kg)	OM(%age)	Moisture Content (%)	Gravel (%)	Sand (%)	Silt and clay (%)
	Mean			C						
			6.19	55.85	17.06	13.10	22.13			
	Min		4.40	8.35	7.50	2.00	8.00			
0-20cm	Max	40	7.80	276.20	32.00	28.00	39.00	12.60	86.00	0.50
	Range		3.40	267.85	24.50	26.00	31.00			
	Median		6.55	25.37	14.75	12.00	20.00			
	Stdev		1.08	58.40	7.95	5.47	8.27			
	Mean		60.9	58.53	17.28	15.05	24.13			
	Min		4.20	7.24	7.00	4.00	8.00			
1000	Max	¢,	8.30	299.70	31.00	30.00	41.00	00.01	96.00	02.0
71-40CIII	Range	40	4.10	292.46	24.00	26.00	33.00	12.20	00.00	00.0
	Median		6.20	29.28	15.25	14.50	24.00			
	Stdev		1.19	61.81	7.79	5.81	8.15			
	Mean		6.05	56.56	17.36	15.60	25.00			
	Min		3.90	6.71	6.00	6.00	10.00			
41 60cm	Max	QV	8.30	273.50	33.00	29.00	42.00	10.40	00 20	000
1112000-14	Range	40	4.40	266.79	27.00	23.00	32.00	10.40	07.00	06.0
	Median		6.05	25.93	15.75	15.00	25.00			
	Stdev		1.26	63.46	8.18	5.49	8.01			

Table 4.12: Physical characteristics of the soil collected from three different depths from abandoned mines.



Figure 4.9: XRF analysis of soil with percentage of compounds.

The concentration of rare earth elements ($\Sigma REEs$) was higher in all the three depths of soil with the average value of 230.53, 196.55 and 377.66 mg kg⁻¹ in the surface, subsurface, and deeper soils, respectively. These values are much higher compared to upper continental crust such as the average Post-Achaean Australian shale (PAAS, Taylor and McLennan 1985; $\Sigma REE = 183$ ppm) and global sub ducting sediment (GLOSS, Plank and Langmuir 1998; $\Sigma REE = 137$ ppm) (Taylor & McLennan, 1995, Hall et al., 1996) while in mining areas of China, Nd level up to 5726 mg kg⁻¹ and 310 mg kg⁻¹. In soil,

natural crust level of Nd is 40 mg kg⁻¹ (Jinxia et al., 2010). Abandoned mine soils in the SW of Spain investigated REEs and signify Ce, La, and Nd up to 82.1, 43.3 and 40.6 mg kg⁻¹ which resides within the crystal structure of monazite (Fernández-Caliani et al., 2009).

Abandoned mine area in Perak represents high concentration for some REEs. A study reported by Khalid et al (2013) shows the contamination of soil with REEs (Ce, Sc, Y, and La) crossing the background values and mine waste was found responsible for soil contamination (Khalil et al., 2013). In surface soil REEs were present in same order of magnitude as suggested by (Taylor & McLennan, 1995).

4.3.2 Vertical distribution of REEs in different soil depths

REEs abundance in soils is influenced by factors such as soil structure, ancient material, weathering, OM, human activities, different reactions and pedogenic processes. In the Lahat, Perak soil samples, the average mean values and standard deviations of detected concentrations of REEs are presented in **Table 4.13** and **Figure 4.13**. The concentration and distribution of REEs in the soil depend on its different types and mining activities. The REEs concentration largely influenced by atomic number. REEs with even atomic number are in excess than odd atomic number (Wang & Liang, 2015).

The data describe the high concentration of cerium, neodymium, yttrium and scandium in all surface soil samples (0-20 cm). This may be due to the previous mining activity byproducts, monazite and xenotime minerals present in the soil of the area. Major resources of REEs are bastnasite, monazite, loparite and lateritic adsorption clays. In the soils of Baotou mining area in China, the concentration of REEs ranged from 156 to 5.65 x 10^4 mg kg⁻¹ (Wang & Liang, 2015). However, with increasing depth, in subsurface soil layer (21-40 cm) most of the REEs decrease in concentration and become constant for some elements.













Lower layer (41-60 cm) studied show somewhat similar values with sub surface of soil. Average concentrations measured in Sweden soil also show 25.3 mg kg⁻¹ of LREEs abundance with La, Ce and Nd, and 53.6 mg kg⁻¹ in subsoil surface (Sadeghi et al., 2013).

Generally, cerium (Ce) and neodymium (Nd) being highest in concentration while holmium (Ho) and lutetium (Lu) in lowest concentration were observed. Results show similarity with Muhammad et al. (2015).

Soil samples found rich in light rare earth elements (LREEs) like Ce, Nd, Pr, La) as compared to high rare earth elements (HREEs) from gadolinium to lutetium (Humphries, 2013). Some anomaly also found in inverse relation down the earth. Certain elements have a slightly more concentration in three depths. Sc, Y, La, Nd, and Ce have slightly higher concentrations in 0-20 cm depths from the surface while their concentration decreases with depth (Fiket et al., 2016). Results strongly follow Oddo- Harkins rule. This can be concluded from **Figure 4.13**.

Distribution of REEs is much more common from S01-S10 and S13, S28, S33, S34 due to the place around the mining lake and mining area (Goonan, 2011). Sampling locations with the natural origin (S24-S28 and S36) have been found high amount of REEs after mining land. The reason is that mining area converted into palm oil plantation after reclamation. Lots of fertilizers added to make the land fertile. After an industrial application of REEs now, REEs are also utilized in fertilizers. Increasing utilization in agriculture leads to the increased REEs into the ecosystem and food chain (Torrisi, 2014) through soil accumulation, crops bioaccumulation. Populated areas generally found in low rare earth concentration distribution levels. This may be due to the construction and removal of original soil profiles in that area (Nicoletopoulos, 2014).

Parameters	Depth	Sc	Υ	La	Ce	\mathbf{Pr}	Nd	Eu	Gd	$\mathbf{T}\mathbf{b}$	Dy	Ho	Er	Tm	Yb	Lu
Average values	0-20 cm	31.19	38.12	46.05	75.03	19.19	62.90	6.45	24.81	18.02	15.45	4.18	9.30	8.30	15.81	2.86
Minimum		10.22	11.75	11.41	27.68	3.15	12.62	1.36	2.55	2.05	4.17	1.02	1.35	1.18	3.19	0.65
Maximum		51.47	84.70	95.16	159.50	37.16	112.30	21.72	61.02	42.26	37.37	12.45	47.35	14.28	41.32	9.33
Std.dev.		6.14	5.72	2.56	4.61	0.27	2.25	0.29	1.03	0.89	0.11	0.53	0.97	0.66	1.35	0.37
Average values	21-40 cm	19.32	30.84	27.13	42.68	9.41	35.45	4.56	13.71	12.86	10.30	2.81	4.44	5.26	11.40	2.17
Minimum		7.65	7.66	8.18	7.43	2.05	11.30	1.55	4.66	3.21	3.99	0.85	1.20	2.76	1.79	0.84
Maximum		30.32	70.36	76.34	92.07	23.04	60.18	16.02	23.65	25.51	28.74	7.96	10.35	8.84	28.66	5.96
Std.dev.		1.43	1.52	2.34	1.98	0.72	2.18	0.15	1.17	2.62	0.71	0.27	0.12	0.22	0.02	0.39
Average values	41-60 cm	17.19	26.17	24.51	35.11	7.49	31.57	3.53	10.67	10.77	8.16	2.52	4.39	3.98	9.65	2.07
Minimum		6.48	6.98	6.33	6.05	1.86	9.78	1.01	2.00	3.07	2.57	0.69	0.08	1.06	1.36	0.09
Maximum		28.90	69.48	69.43	89.75	20.69	55.28	14.07	19.05	24.74	17.82	7.75	13.68	6.87	25.32	5.70
Std.dev.		1.30	1.12	1.21	1.01	0.14	0.24	0.36	0.33	0.89	0.06	0.14	0.01	0.33	0.34	0.02

Table 4.13: Average concentration (mg kg⁻¹), standard deviation, minimum and maximum values of REEs in different soil depths.



Figure 4.13: Average concentration variation of some REEs in different depths.

Recreational places near residential have been seen with considerable amounts of REEs which is a very bad signal to the young population residing in that area. Results indicate REEs concentration high in the ex-tin mining area but variations have been observed with the distance from the source (Charalampides & Vatalis, 2015).

Different studies showing mean values for soil REEs were found similar to previous studies. REEs in the soil surface and earth crust were found quite similar in magnitude (Taylor & McLennan, 1995). In most cases lowest values are observed in sandy soil compared to loamy. Potential mobility of REEs enhanced by their high presence in silicate and residual fraction. Sandy soil containing high silica content show positive behavior for REEs mobility whereas loamy soil due to its fertility, complex and compact structure with different REEs decrease their mobility but increase bioavailability.

Generally, acidic soils contain less REEs than alkaline soil. However, REEs in different soils indicate the strong positive correlation with each other. From the (Figure 4.7), it is clearly seen that the trace metals are more deposited in the upper soil surface. Other two depths 21-40 cm and 41-60 cm have about equal concentrations of REEs. There is an abrupt change in rare earth along the depth but at some sites increase in concentration also observed for increasing soil depth. Decreasing concentration with increasing depth range in the order Ce > Nd > La > Y > Sc > Gd > Tb> Dy >Yb. While average concentrations of REEs in surface soils in mining area of China show Ce > La > Nd > Pr > Sm > Gd > Dy > Er > Yb > Eu > Tb > Ho > Tm > Lu (Cheng et al., 2013). It can also be concluded that light rare earth (LREEs) are more common in soil samples of current study area than heavy rare earth (HREEs).

In the deep soil (21-40 cm) Tb and Tm have higher EF average values with 48.35 and 43.29 meaning that Tb increasing with depth, showing very severe enrichment. Yb and Lu show severe enrichment while the rest of REEs has moderately severe to minor

enrichment in this soil depth profile. Deeper into the soils (41-60 cm), enrichment factor increases for all REEs compared to subsoil surface. Tb and Tm show average enrichment factor of 83.18 and 71.77 respectively. Average values of Yb and Lu varies as 26.61 and 36.05 while average EF values for Eu, Gd, Dy, Ho, and Er are 19.1, 14.42, 11.31, 16.44 and 10.32 respectively. Y, Sc, La, Ce, Pr, and Nd show minor to moderately enrichment factor with average values 7.07, 2.79, 4.27, 3.01, 5.71 and 6.32 respectively. Such distribution may be related to many sources of pollution mainly focusing on mining in that area, agriculture, and expansion of tin mining anthropogenic activities in the area (Liang et al., 2014). These results describe extant evidence of ex-tin mining sites in Kinta district, especially in the Lahat, Kampar, Batu Gajah, Taman Bukit Merah, Menglembu and Kota Bharu areas. Average I*geo* values show elevated amounts of REEs in the soil, suggesting area heavily polluted.

Geoaccumulation index appear to be in last category having values greater than 5 indicating severely polluted with rare earth where Cn is the concentration of the element in the sample and Bn is the background value of the element based on (Gao et al., 1998). Almost all REEs are mostly accumulated in the upper soil surface and decrease with depth. This area already nominated as contaminated by Akif et al. 2014.

4.3.3 Statistical Analysis

Statistical data analyses were carried out using the data analysis software, JMP version <pro 12.0.01>SAS institute Inc., Cary, NC, U.S.A, 2015 software. PCA was applied to the data in order to map the soil samples' REEs and the physical parameter distribution based on the different soil depths.
4.3.3.1 Box plot of soil samples from different depths of ex-tin mining ponds in Perak

Based on the results of the PCA, a test was carried out to ascertain the differences between the physical and chemical parameters from the different sampling depths. To test for the differences in the physical and chemical characteristics between the different depths, one-way analyses for comparing means was conducted, and the significance of the results was tested for all pairs Tukey HSD at 95% confidence interval.

The p-values for each soil depth are noted for all the parameters studied in the **Table 4.14**. For p-values which are less than 0.05 denote a significant difference between the mean values of two soil depth groups, while p-values which are larger than 0.05 shows that the means of the two soil depths being compared are significantly similar. The variations in the values of the physical and chemical parameters are plotted in a boxplot, as shown in **Figure 4.14** (a, b, c, and d).

The physical parameters such as pH, EC, and CEC are significantly (p>0.05) similar in all three depths and this can be observed from the box and whisker plots as well. It is understood that for sandy soils with less clay and organic matter content, the physical parameters remain low with base cations associated with the soil carbonate content. However, comparison of OM values between the depths of 0-20 cm and 41-60 cm (0-20 cm vs 41-60 cm) and (0-20 cm vs 21-40 cm) show that they are significantly (p<0.05) different from one another. While, those between depths of 21-40 cm and 41-60 cm are significantly (p>0.05) similar due to similar soil particle arrangement and their undisturbed nature. This is observed in **Figure 4.14 (a)** as inter-quartile range (IQR) for samples from the depth of 0-20 cm is lower than the other two depths and has smaller median values.

I able 4.14: Significance	טו אוואאנכפו פווט כוופווווכפ	и раганистствути вол ван	pres.
Parameters	p- va	lues between different soil	depths
	(0-20 cm vs 41-60 cm)	(0-20 cm vs 21-40 cm)	(21-40 cm vs 41-60 cm)
Hd	0.5485	0.7599	0.9385
EC (µs/cm)	0.9404	0.9670	0.9958
CEC(cmol/kg)	0.9675	0.9798	0.9985
Organic Matter (%age)	0.0018	0.0213	0.7196
Moisture Content (%age)	0.0275	0.1640	0.7273
Sc	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.1298
Υ	<0.0001	0.0057	0.1158
La	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.4342
Ce	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0829
Pr	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0713
Nd	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.2794
Eu	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0905
Gd	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0346
Tb	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0331
Dy	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0209
Ho	<0.0001	0.0002	0.1815
Er	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.9675
Tm	<0.0001	0.0004	0.5451
Yb	<0.0001	0.0005	0.2779
Lu	<0.0001	0.0032	0.5018

1 4 ų Table 114. Cim



Figure 4.14: Boxplots of REEs in surface soil (a) physical parameters; (b, c, d) chemical parameters.

Moisture content (MC) is another physical parameter that has significantly similar values with the (0-20 cm vs 41-60 cm) depths, while the other two groups [(0-20 cm vs 21-40 cm) and (21-40 cm vs 41-60 cm)] has significantly similar values. This could be explained by the low water content of soil with lesser compactness, and high sand percentage that could easily allow water percolation through soil. This can be clearly seen from the boxplot of **Figure 4.14 (a)**, where the IQR range is approximately similar. The median at the depths of 21-40 cm and 41-60 cm are in the same range, but for the depth of 0-20 cm, the median is lower and closer to the lower values due to mining activities that had taken place over a long period of time.

In the case of chemical parameters, comparing samples at the depths of (0-20 cm vs 41-60 cm) and (0-20 cm vs 21-40 cm), they are significantly (p<0.05) different while those at the depths of (21-40 cm vs 41-60 cm) are significantly similar (p>0.05) except for Gd, Tb and Dy that are the same which is observed from boxplots in **Figure 4.14 (b, c and d)**. This could be explained by taking into consideration that these REEs are a part of the monazite mineral used in many industries for mechanical manufacturing.

4.3.3.2 PCA based on the depth of sampling points

PCA was applied to a matrix of 20 variables and 360 samples. These soil sample data from the state of Perak have been seen to cluster based on the sampling depth. 4 principal components with eigenvalues>1 were extracted explaining a total variance of 60.4 %. **Figure 4.15** shows the biplot of soil samples collected from three different depths of 0-20 cm, 21-40 cm and 41-60 cm. From the PCA, two main clusters are observed. Cluster 1 consists of samples from the depth of 0-20 cm, while samples from the depth of 21-40 cm and 41-60 cm are identified as cluster 2.





Moreover, visual inspection of colour of the soil samples can gives us the same clustering. Soil samples at depths of 0-20 cm had a lighter colour compared to two other depths which had fairly the same colour and were clustered in one group. This could be explained by the presence of iron sulphates mixed with middle and deeper soils which were absent in surface soil. As well, it might be due to limestone and alluvium bedrocks covers.

Separation of samples in clusters 1 and 2 are mostly based on the scores of the first principal component (PC1). From the plot, it can be observed that although the samples from the depth of 0-20 cm are spread out, there are still samples at the right hand side of the graph. Samples in this cluster are mostly loaded by Gd, Nd, La, Pr, Ce, Sc, Tm, Dy, Er, Eu, Tb, Ho and Lu. Samples taken from the depth of 21-40 cm and 41-60 cm are mostly located at the left hand side of the plot, and are loaded by MC, EC, and pH, while a small number of samples in this cluster are loaded by OM and CEC. It can be concluded that the rare elements are the main discriminating factors for the separation of soil samples at the depth of 0-20 cm from the others. It can also be observed that at depths of 21-40 cm and 41-60 cm, the soil profile in terms of rare earth elements is rather similar. This conclusion is made based on the fact that the samples from these depths are inseparable in the scores plot. The discriminating factors of samples in cluster 2 are the physical parameters of pH, EC, OM, and CEC. The PCA was further applied to the samples of cluster 2 to see if these two groups are separable from one another, but it was observed that soil samples at depths 21-40 cm and 41-60 cm cannot be separated.

The results in the current study conclude that REEs concentration in surface soil is high compared to other soil depths. Concentration range for surface soil vary between 2.86 to 75.03 mg kg⁻¹. This layer (0-20 cm) has greater concentrations of REEs compared to other two layers (21-40 cm, 41-60 cm). Some REEs such as Ce, La, Nd, Gd, Sc, and

Y were consistently higher throughout the soil. In general, soil physical properties contribute more to the high concentration of rare elements in the surface soil. PCA revealed clustering of soil samples into two clusters and the discriminating factors between the clusters are Er, Dy, Sc, Eu, Tb, Ho, Lu, Tm, Ce, Pr, La, Nd and Gd. Indeed, mapping the soil samples according to sampling depths was possible by PCA. Investigating the physical and chemical properties of the different depths between each other was done by one way analysis using all pairs Tukey HSD with 95% confidence interval. It is noted that physical parameters such as pH, EC and CEC are significantly similar (p>0.05) in all three depths suggesting that the information on these three parameters can be obtained from analyzing any layers of soil whereas Gd, Tb and Dy are the only chemical parameters that are significantly different (p<0.05) in all the three depths. This shows that in order to obtain information on these parameters, analysis of three different depths is required. For Sc, Y, La, Ce, Pr, Nd, Eu, Ho, Er, Tm, Yb, Lu and OM (21-40 cm vs 41-60 cm) depth comparison, there is no clear trend in terms of similarity and dissimilarity. MC is the only physical parameter that show significantly similar values for (0-20 cm vs 21-40 cm) and (21-40 cm vs 41-60 cm.) The comparison for (0-20 cm vs 41-60 cm) is significantly different.

4.3.3.3 Hierarchical cluster Analysis (HCA)

Hierarchical cluster analysis is an important means to investigate the distinctiveness of REEs concentrations in the soil environment, especially for environmental qualities (Xue et al., 2013). HCA was also applied to all the samples in this work. It is observed from **Figure 4.16** that there are two main clusters which follow the grouping of PCA. Ward's method was used for obtaining the histogram applied to 360 samples.

Samples in cluster 1 are mainly from the 0-20 cm depth. In this cluster nearly all the rare earth elements are present and in close relation with each other shown by a light blue

color while those in cluster 2 are from the depths of 21-40 cm and 41-60 cm shown by darker blue circles. HCA also indicates that some of the elements from the subsoil and deeper soil layer are in relation with the elements from the surface soil. This follows the clustering obtained from PCA, which indicates that the conclusions obtained from the principal component analysis are sufficient in understanding the profile of the samples in this work. REEs bearing minerals such as monazite, xenotime etc. are present across the Lahat, Menglembu, Kinta Valley, Perak renowned as former tin mining and ex-mining areas in Malaysia.

Concentration of Ce was found high in all the soil layers studied with highest in the surface layer (0-20 cm) and positively correlated with monazite mineral. Other REEs have also been found which indicate that soil loaded with REEs which acts as a sink of pollution. Moreover, separation of soil samples based on sampling depths into two clusters was made possible by PCA and HCA. Separation is observed between samples collected near the surface (0-20 cm) compared to samples collected from the deeper soil. The discriminating factors are the concentrations of the rare elements La, Ce, Gd, Nd, Tm, Pr, Sc, Er, Eu, Tb, Ho, Lu, Yb, and Dy. Different environmental risk assessment has shown that top soil is much polluted with rare earth, but less polluted in deeper layers. It conclude from the study that REEs in high concentration deposited in different depths of soil profile could be a source of these elements and their environmental risk impacts could be reduced by different techniques to save humans and other living organisms present in terrestrial as well as aquatic ecosystem.



Figure 4.16: Hierarchical cluster Analysis (HCA) following PCA with two major clusters.

4.3.3.4 Variables of REEs based on land use

PCA was applied to a matrix of 360 samples and 20 variables. Five principal components with eigenvalues >1 were extracted explaining (61.1) % of total variance. Soil samples from ex-mining areas of Perak Malaysia have been mapped according to the concentration of rare earth elements and physical properties of pH, EC, CEC, OM and MC.

Figure 4.17 (a) illustrates the biplot of soil samples from different sampling areas of 'industrial', 'mining', 'residential' and 'natural' at the surface soil (0-20 cm). From the PCA, four main clusters are observed. Although some of the samples from each group are spread out but in general, the samples from each group are seen to be more populated on one side. Samples from 'industrial' area have both negative PC1 and positive and negative PC2. pH, EC and MC are the most dominant parameters for discrimination of samples in 'industrial' area of surface soil from mining, natural and examining areas in 0-20 cm depth. The mean concentration of rare elements and the values of physical parameters for surface soil (0-20 cm) is listed in **Table 4.15**.

Most of the samples from the 'natural' area have positive and negative PC1 as well as positive PC2. In other words, PC1 is responsible for the separation of samples in the 'natural' area from other two groups of 'mining' and 'residential'. The most important factor in this separation is the electrical conductivity (EC) and the concentration of Pr. Samples from the 'residential' area are mostly located at the lower left hand side of the quadrant having negative PC1 and PC2. In other words, both PC1 and PC2 are responsible for the separation of most of the samples in this area from the other three groups. This separation is mainly due to the lower concentrations of Pr, Sc, Tm, Nd, Gd and La. While most of the samples in residential area are enriched in MC. Furthermore, samples from the 'mining' area spread out and mostly located at lower half of the graph.



Figure 4.17: Biplot of soil samples from different soil depths based on areas (a) surface soil (b) middle soil (c) lower soil.

This means that PC1 is responsible for the separation of most soil samples within the 'mining' area from natural and industrial where PC2 causes the separation of most of the samples of the residential area from mining.

The soil samples from the 'mining' area located at the lower right hand side of the quadrant are loaded Er, Eu, Ce, Dy, Ho, Lu, Tb, Y, CEC, Yb and OM while those in the lower left hand side of the quadrant are depleted in Pr, Sc, Nd, Gd, La and Tm. MC is the dominant factor for the mining samples located at lower left of the quadrant. In surface soil (depth of 0-20 cm), most of the samples from mining area were enriched with REE elements of Er, Ce, Dy, Eu, Y, Tb, Lu, Ho, and Yb. Two physical parameters of OM and CEC are the discriminating factors for separation of most of the samples in mining area while MC is an important factor for the small number of soil samples in mining area. Rare elements were not noticed in samples from natural, industrial and residential areas and were found in samples of majority of mining areas.

Fig. 4.17 (b) biplot presents the separation of soil samples at the depth of 21-40 cm. PCA explains 59.1% of the total variance with five eigenvalues >1. As observed, the samples are generally clustered into four samples from each group although some samples are also seen to spread throughout the graph. Samples from the industrial area mostly have positive PC2 and are located in upper left quadrant of the graph loaded with pH and EC. Few of the industrial samples are located in lower left quadrant and are depleted with Gd, Ce, La, Nd. The mean concentration of rare elements and the values of physical parameters for middle soil (21-40 cm) is listed in **Table 4.15**.

Most of the samples from the 'natural' area are located at the upper half of the graph and their separation is due to the PC1 scores. Samples in this group are loaded in Ce, pH, Gd, La, Nd and Ec but depleted in Mc, Yb, Lu, OM, Y, Ho, and CEC. On the other hand, most samples in the 'residential' area are located at the lower left hand side of the

132

quadrant and have negative PC1 and PC2. The separation of samples in this group is based on both the PC1 and PC2 scores. Samples in this group are depleted in Ce, La, Gd, Nd, Tm, Dy and Pr. Samples from the 'mining' area are spread in the second, third and fourth quadrant and are loaded by pH, EC, MC, Yb, OM, Lu, Ho, Y, CEC, Tb, Eu and Er. Overall in the middle soil layer (21-40 cm) rare elements were found in fewer samples of mining areas. Physical parameters of MC, OM and CEC are important in separation of most of the samples from mining areas. Separation of samples in residential area is only because of depletion of rare elements of Ce, Gd, La, Nd, Tm and Dy while MC is not the dominant factor in separating samples from residential area as it was in 0-20 cm layer.

Figure 4.17 (c) biplot illustrates the lower soil (41-60 cm) explaining 58.4 % of total variance with five eigenvalues >1. As observed, the samples are in general separated into four clusters although the spread of data is higher compared to the samples collected from the surface and middle soil. Most of the samples from the 'industrial' area have been found in positive PCI and PC2 and are loaded with pH and EC. Some of the samples in this group are located in upper right half of the graph and loaded with Nd, Gd, Dy, Tm and Ce.

Most of the samples from the 'natural' area are located at the upper half of the graph and are loaded with Ce, La, Gd, Nd and pH. PC1 scores are still responsible for the separation of most of the samples in this group from the other two areas. Samples from the 'residential' area are depleted in Ce, Gd, La, Dy, Tm and Nd while samples from the 'mining' area are more spread out in the second, third and fourth quadrants and loaded with Eu,Tb, Sc, Pr, Er, Y, Ho, Yb, Lu, pH and EC.

In general, it can conclude that comparing the distribution of rare elements and physical parameters for the different sampling depths does not affect the clustering of samples. However, it can be noted that the samples are more spread out as we move from the surface soil to deeper soil although the loadings do not change much and the clustering is still clear. In other words, mapping the distribution of soil samples to four groups of 'mining', 'natural' and 'residential' and 'industrial' areas give similar information for the different depths confirming that the analysis of surface soil (0-20 cm) is sufficient for the current study except that moving from surface soil to middle and deeper soil as the samples spread out the number of samples in mining area being loaded with REE gets less and physical parameter of MC gets more dominant in samples of middle and bottom soil mining areas. The mean concentration of rare elements and the values of physical parameters for lower soil (41-60 cm) is listed in **Table 4.15**.

4.3.4 Environmental Risk Assessment

Average values of enrichment factor (EF), geoaccumulation index (Igeo), contamination factor (CF) and pollution load index (PLI) for the soil samples are shown in Table 4.16.

The calculated average EF values for all fourteen REEs except Sm and with Sc and Y in three depths of the soil samples listed in Table 4.16. The mean enrichment factors (EFs) of Sc, Er, Tm, Eu, Gd, Tb, Dy and Lu in surface soil (0-20 cm) were greater than 9, suggesting major effects from source such as non-crustal. Meanwhile, the EF values in lower soil depth (41-60 cm) found higher than deep soil (21-40 cm) suggesting that REEs are more deposited in complex mineral form. The mean values of EF ranged from 9.02 to 83.18 from surface to bottom layers for Sc, Er, Tm, Eu, Gd, Tb, Dy and Lu suggesting these elements also originated from anthropogenic sources. Such high values represent mining activities carried out long ago but their significances are still present. High EF values point towards more pollution.

Deeper soil (41-60 c	Middle soil (21-40 cm)	Surface soil (0-20 cm)
	rrent areas of ex-mining with standard deviations.	e 4.15: Mean values (mg kg ⁻¹) of REEs in diffe

Soil		Surface soi	il (0-20 cm)			Middle soil	(21-40 cm)			Deeper soi	il (41-60 cm)	
depth		Average co.	ncentration			Average coi	ncentration			Average co	oncentration	
Areas	Industrial area	Mining area	Natural area	Residential area	Industrial area	Mining area	Natural area	Residential area	Industrial area	Mining area	Natural area	Residential area
Hd	6.38 ± 1.42	5.9 ± 0.88	6.65 ± 1.11	6.10 ± 0.96	6.52 ± 1.40	5.48 ± 1.42	6.77 ± 0.72	6.03 ± 0.48	6.43 ± 1.28	5.45 ± 1.69	6.84 ± 2.06	$\textbf{5.96} \pm \textbf{1.35}$
EC	75.18 ± 4.51	22.25 ± 1.64	99.16 ± 6.59	58.21 ± 2.55	75.23 ± 5.95	34.56 ± 5.88	107.4 ± 8.27	45.31 ± 4.95	77.39 ± 5.91	25.30 ± 2.08	108.8 ± 12.77	47.06 ± 4.18
CEC	14.74 ± 4.88	19.42 ± 3.56	12.80 ± 2.47	18.72 ± 4.55	14.22 ± 3.95	20.22 ± 2.95	13.24 ± 1.15	18.23 ± 2.77	15.07 ± 1.45	20.14 ± 1.11	13.15 ± 1.58	18.13 ± 2.44
MO	11.72 ± 3.21	12.79 ± 2.25	12.67 ± 4.45	15.25 ± 5.58	12.81 ± 4.75	15.51 ± 3.49	14.15 ± 1.09	16.64 ± 3.15	14.32 ± 2.55	16.47 ± 2.75	14.40 ± 2.29	16.41 ± 2.23
MC	26.38 ± 2.55	23.73 ± 3.81	18.26 ± 3.66	20.31 ± 2.84	27.90 ± 6.71	25.93 ± 4.88	20.83 ± 2.55	21.58 ± 2.96	29.24 ± 3.18	26.49 ± 4.55	22.29 ± 1.75	21.70 ± 3.95
Sc	25.94 ± 5.82	35.63 ± 1.25	38.15 ± 6.81	22.65 ± 7.25	19.12 ± 3.17	22.65 ± 6.15	17.68 ± 3.63	15.38 ± 3.35	14.57 ± 4.48	20.51 ± 3.44	16.36 ± 4.57	14.72 ± 3.78
Υ	26.30 ± 2.55	50.1 ± 5.58	30.09 ± 3.96	34.88 ± 6.34	23.83 ± 5.85	39.83 ± 4.14	23.34 ± 1.52	26.41 ± 4.55	15.54 ± 2.88	35.72 ± 4.66	19.59 ± 3.12	24.57 ± 3.41
La	42.79 ± 3.71	51.97 ± 2.83	53.63 ± 2.87	33.39 ± 5.78	28.06 ± 4.33	23.97 ± 3.02	36.28 ± 4.17	23.30 ± 1.44	27.88 ± 6.39	20.85 ± 3.12	30.84 ± 7.08	22.65 ± 5.58
Ce	63.54 ± 6.22	90.61 ± 4.22	73.47 ± 7.20	61.20 ± 5.33	46.98 ± 4.15	35.97 ± 4.74	55.36 ± 6.12	36.69 ± 1.82	35.55 ± 4.98	30.83 ± 4.27	43.48 ± 6.27	34.53 ± 5.75
Pr	19.99 ± 4.76	19.78 ± 4.50	27.55 ± 6.32	11.04 ± 3.32	7.43 ± 1.08	10.49 ± 1.33	11.37 ± 2.10	7.39 ± 1.01	4.77 ± 1.08	8.80 ± 1.11	8.27 ± 1.31	6.84 ± 1.24
ΡN	87.17 ± 1.81	66.23 ± 1.19	76.85 ± 5.56	41.70 ± 3.23	39.94 ± 4.40	34.46 ± 2.85	43.36 ± 5.24	25.98 ± 4.04	39.82 ± 6.15	30.32 ± 1.24	35.62 ± 5.58	24.47 ± 6.15
Eu	3.16 ± 5.33	8.43 ± 3.70	6.04 ± 1.02	6.11 ± 2.05	2.70 ± 0.75	$\textbf{5.66} \pm \textbf{1.72}$	3.64 ± 1.11	4.34 ± 0.76	1.87 ± 1.05	4.47 ± 1.02	2.84 ± 0.55	4.03 ± 0.58
Gd	32.37 ± 4.25	25.58 ± 3.62	28.37 ± 2.55	15.55 ± 2.17	17.54 ± 2.01	13.62 ± 2.93	14.62 ± 3.44	9.37 ± 1.11	14.12 ± 2.44	10.54 ± 1.55	10.73 ± 1.63	8.44 ± 1.33
đ	13.93 ± 1.41	24.16 ± 4.96	14.06 ± 4.85	14.84 ± 3.39	10.49 ± 1.36	17.09 ± 3.35	10.76 ± 1.15	9.11 ± 1.55	7.29 ± 1.11	15.39 ± 3.45	8.91 ± 1.91	8.27 ± 1.25
Dy	11.67 ± 3.15	20.1 ± 6.84	14.33 ± 2.15	12.01 ± 1.52	$\textbf{8.50}\pm\textbf{2.55}$	11.41 ± 2.22	10.99 ± 3.55	8.19 ± 2.44	6.63 ± 1.33	8.91 ± 1.58	9.56 ± 1.44	6.99 ± 1.18
Но	1.49 ± 0.86	5.78 ± 1.52	3.06 ± 0.57	4.59 ± 1.12	1.71 ± 0.95	3.62 ± 1.11	2.30 ± 0.25	2.61 ± 0.84	0.91 ± 0.18	3.77 ± 1.11	1.87 ± 0.63	2.41 ± 0.66
Er	7.75 ± 1.17	13.46 ± 2.70	7.45 ± 1.59	5.66 ± 0.86	4.98 ± 2.17	5.45 ± 0.88	3.55 ± 1.08	3.39 ± 0.77	3.60 ± 1.14	5.86 ± 1.07	3.38 ± 1.00	3.44 ± 1.15
Tm	9.49 ± 2.24	9.67 ± 2.51	14.90 ± 4.34	6.07 ± 1.75	5.40 ± 1.04	5.46 ± 1.28	5.60 ± 1.32	3.70 ± 0.44	4.02 ± 0.66	4.44 ± 0.88	4.06 ± 0.75	3.23 ± 0.85
Yb	9.59 ± 1.46	22.92 ± 3.99	8.91 ± 2.88	15.02 ± 2.69	7.23 ± 1.99	16.68 ± 1.77	5.36 ± 1.19	10.93 ± 1.55	3.92 ± 0.77	14.06 ± 2.89	5.30 ± 0.34	10.56 ± 2.44
Lu	1.33 ± 0.23	4.49 ± 1.28	2.04 ± 1.87	2.17 ± 0.88	0.76 ± 0.25	3.18 ± 1.08	1.37 ± 0.63	1.57 ± 1.01	0.61 ± 0.15	3.11 ± 0.69	1.58 ± 0.49	1.65 ± 0.22

REEs stored in profiles comes from different rocks, including carbonate, sillicalite and shale were determined by various methods and enrichment properties of soil. Grayish black carbonaceous mudstone in China was found highly enriched with REEs. Σ REE contents ranged from 89.0 to 9965 mg kg⁻¹ with a mean value of 1312 mg kg⁻¹ (Zhang et al., 2016).

Both Tm and Tb have the highest enrichment in certain locations in surface soil (0-20 cm) exceeding the concentration of all locations. For Tm has very severe enrichment factor which it's average EF is 61.65 while Tb has a high EF with the average value of 57.39 in surface soil. Yb, Gd, Eu, Er and Ho show severe enrichment in the upper soil surface. Sc, Pr, Nd, and Dy are moderately enriched while Ce, Y and La fall in the category having minor enrichment.

In the deep soil (21-40 cm) Tb and Tm have higher EF average values with 48.35 and 43.29 meaning that Tb increasing with depth, showing very severe enrichment. Yb and Lu show severe enrichment while the rest of REEs has moderately severe to minor enrichment in this soil depth profile. Deeper into the soils (41-60 cm), enrichment factor increases for all REEs compared to subsoil surface. Tb and Tm show average enrichment factor of 83.18 and 71.77 respectively. Average values of Yb and Lu varies as 26.61 and 36.05 while average EF values for Eu, Gd, Dy, Ho, and Er are 19.1, 14.42, 11.31, 16.44 and 10.32 respectively. Y, Sc, La, Ce, Pr, and Nd show minor to moderately enrichment factor with average values 7.07, 2.79, 4.27, 3.01, 5.71 and 6.32 respectively. Such distribution may be related to many sources of pollution mainly focusing on mining in that area, agriculture, and expansion of tin mining anthropogenic activities in the area (Liang et al., 2014).

			emdan 1													
Parameters	Depth cm	Sc	Y	La	Ce	Pr	рŊ	Eu	Gd	Tb	Dy	Ho	Er	Tm	Yb	Lu
(EF)	0-20	9.93	4.25	3.31	2.66	6.03	5.19	14.37	13.83	57.39	8.83	11.23	9.02	61.65	17.98	20.59
	21-40	2.68	4.06	3.49	2.12	4.27	3.73	8.57	9.02	48.35	7.14	9.01	5.31	43.29	13.64	14.27
	41-60	2.79	7.07	4.27	3.01	5.71	6.32	19.1	14.42	83.18	11.31	16.44	10.32	71.77	26.61	36.05
I (geo)	0-20	11.4	10.15	9.78	9.54	10.51	10.41	11.76	11.79	13.87	11.17	11.25	11.02	13.98	12.08	12.21
	21-40	9.31	9.78	9.36	8.89	9.86	9.73	10.83	11.04	13.36	10.62	10.83	10.18	13.32	11.3	11.46
	41-60	8.74	9.46	8.83	8.25	9.22	9.45	10.91	10.65	13.11	10.26	10.61	9.88	13	11.19	11.52
CF	0-20	4.46	1.91	1.49	1.19	2.7	2.33	6.45	6.2	25.75	3.96	5.04	4.04	27.66	8.07	9.24
	21-40	1.02	1.54	1.13	0.79	1.62	1.42	3.18	3.34	18.37	2.71	3.42	2.02	16.04	5.18	5.42
	41-60	0.69	1.31	1.47	0.56	1.06	1.17	3.53	2.67	15.39	2.09	3.04	1.86	13.28	4.92	6.67
PLI	0-20 cm			4.4		21-4() cm		2.54		41-6	50 cm		2.3	31	

Table 4.16: Enrichment factor (EF), geoaccumulation index (I geo) values, contamination factor (CF) and pollution load index (PLI) of soil in different depths.

These results describe extant evidence of ex-tin mining sites in Kinta district, especially in the Lahat, Kampar, Batu Gajah, Taman Bukit Merah, Menglembu and Kota Bharu areas. Average I*geo* values show elevated amounts of REEs in the soil, suggesting area heavily polluted.

Results appear to be in last category having values greater than 5 indicating severely polluted with rare earth where Cn is the concentration of the element in the sample and Bn is the background value of the element based on (Gao et al., 1998). Almost all REEs are mostly accumulated in the upper soil surface and decrease with depth. This area already nominated as hazardous by Akif et al. 2014.

Summary

This chapter detailed out the physico-chemical parameters of REEs in water, sediments and soil. Microwave acid digestion method was used to digest the sample and analyzed using ICP-MS. Concentration of REEs in water, sediment and soil has been found and toxicity has also been identified. Data obtained in analytical results has been identified by statistical analysis such as factor analysis (FA), principal component analysis (PCA) and Hierarchical component analysis (HCA). Environment impact assessment has been done using different environmental factors such as enrichment factor (EF), geoaccumulation index (Igeo), contamination factor (CF) and pollution load index (PLI). The study confirms the presence and distribution of REEs in different samples collected from the study area and pollution impacts on the environment.

CHAPTER 5: SPECIATION STUDY OF SEDIMENTS AND SOIL

In this study based on the research, speciation of REEs using sequential extraction procedure has been done. Sediment and soil samples were collected from the ex-mining area for speciation study. Sediment samples were taken from ex-mining lake while soil samples were collected throughout the area from three different depths at each sampling station. REEs speciation study gives a better understanding of the contamination scenario in sediment/soil.

5.1 REEs speciation and mobility in sediment using sequential extraction procedures

Relative standard deviation obtained from replicate samples of mining lake sediments demonstrate REEs in good agreement. Results of sequential extraction procedure are presented in **Table 5.1** and **Figure 5.1** along with the determination of the total content of particular REEs in the samples studied and the percentage of the five fractions distinguished. Variations in the results after fractionation have been found for REEs as given in **Table 5.1**.

Analysis of the data obtained showed that REEs occurred mainly in the adsorbed/exchangeable/carbonate fraction (45 %) and in the form bound to silicates/residuals (32 %), and in much smaller amounts in the form of sulphides/organics (22 %). Only minor amounts of REEs were detected in the Fe oxides (13 %).

Scandium (Sc) is present about 35.4% in adsorbed/ exchangeable/carbonate (AEC) and about 32 % in silicates and residual oxides which is the highest of all the REEs. The greater percentage of Sc in the residual fraction indicates less pollution. Very small percentage of Sc of 8.2 %, 7.3 %, and 17.1 % was found in amorphous, crystalline Fe oxyhydroxides and sulphides and organics respectively. Such differentiation reflects the

deposition of Sc on the surface of sediments in the form of carbonates. Yttrium (Y) shows a maximum of 46.2 % in AEC phase in all REEs but less in other fractions. Perak morphologically is famous for its tin mining operation represents both original and anthropogenic origin of yttrium in the sediment samples (Ong et al., 2015).

Lanthanum (La) being second most REE in AEC phase after Y but the highest in silicates and residual oxides (41.1%). Monazite mineral used for extraction of REEs in tin mining operation in the study area clearly indicate anthropogenic origin of this element. La could be released from REO while carbonates leach REEs under acidic conditions. Cerium (Ce) shows 39.0 % and 30.7 % in AEC and silicates and residual oxides respectively. This is also a chief element of tin bearing mineral.

Praseodymium (Pr) shows much variation in its percentage fractions, but more uniformly distributed in all sediment fractions than other REEs. Pr found distributed with 39.3 %, 10.7 %, 9.7 %, 16.0 % and 24.3 % in all the five fractions of sequential extraction procedure. Neodymium (Nd) shows relatively 36.1 % in AEC fraction, but less in bound to sulphides and organics (19.4 %). Some distinct part also found in crystalline Fe oxyhydroxides. Many rocks found on the upper side of lake rich in Fe making different layers were seen clearly. Such rocks were found red and yellow in colour with iron bearing minerals, meaning that REEs could also be associated with these minerals along with tin bearing minerals. Heavy rainfall, acidic rain, erosion, weathering processes and natural disasters cause the damage to these rocks resulting in spreading of REEs into the lakes, reservoirs, rivers, oceans and all around the terrestrial and aquatic ecosystem.

		H	ractions			Total	Datantial
Metals	Adsorbed/Exchangeable/	Bound to Amorphous Fe	Bound to	Bound to Sulphides and	Bound to Silicates and	concentration	Four Mobility
	Carbonates. (AEC) mg kg ⁻¹	oxyhydroxide mg kg ⁻¹	Urystallme Fe oxide mg kg ⁻¹	Ôrganics mg kg ⁻¹	Residual Oxides mg kg ⁻¹	(mg kg ⁻¹)	(Yoage)
Sc	35.54 ± 0.15	8.2 ± 0.09	7.3 ± 0.04	17.1 ± 0.46	32.0 ± 0.11	404 ± 1.22	50.9
Υ	46.24 ± 0.08	8.6 ± 0.22	5.5 ± 0.16	12.3 ± 0.13	27.3 ± 0.22	852 ± 0.11	60.3
La	44.2 ± 0.29	2.8 ± 0.21	2.8 ± 0.11	9.1 ± 0.25	41.1 ± 0.19	7658 ± 0.22	49.8
Ce	39 ± 0.24	5.4 ± 0.18	5.5 ± 0.28	19.3 ± 0.17	30.7 ± 0.15	1723 ± 1.15	50.0
Pr	39.3 ± 0.11	10.6 ± 0.04	9.7 ± 0.06	16 ± 0.11	24.3 ± 0.18	460 ± 0.55	59.7
Nd	36.1 ± 0.15	8.9 ± 0.26	9.3 ± 0.17	19.2 ± 0.28	26.5 ± 0.08	364 ± 0.15	54.3
Eu	39.6 ± 0.08	7.2 ± 0.02	8.0 ± 0.11	19.4 ± 0.05	25.8 ± 0.07	156 ± 0.12	54.8
Gd	41.8 ± 0.11	11 ± 0.29	9.4 ± 1.12	13.4 ± 0.26	24.4 ± 0.22	625 ± 0.33	62.2
Tb	29.2 ± 0.05	11.7 ± 0.01	12.7 ± 0.11	19.3 ± 0.16	27.0 ± 0.03	47.8 ± 0.05	53.7
Dy	39.5 ± 0.23	11.2 ± 0.15	9.6 ± 0.20	15.4 ± 0.28	24.3 ± 0.25	882 ± 1.11	60.3
Но	29.7 ± 0.36	11.7 ± 0.22	9.9 ± 0.25	22.9 ± 0.11	25.8 ± 0.21	98 ± 0.11	51.3
Er	38.1 ± 0.24	12.3 ± 0.19	9.1 ± 0.27	17 ± 0.17	23.5 ± 0.13	282 ± 0.17	59.4
Tm	34.2 ± 0.12	13.1 ± 0.08	9.5 ± 0.15	19.4 ± 0.1	23.7 ± 0.24	181 ± 0.23	56.9
Yb	44.7 ± 0.23	12.7 ± 0.14	9.9 ± 0.33	15.4 ± 0.21	17.4 ± 0.18	261 ± 0.11	67.3
Lu	28.5 ± 0.17	12.7 ± 0.11	9.2 ± 0.16	21.1 ± 0.11	28.5 ± 0.17	159 ± 0.33	50.4

Table 5.1: Speciation analysis of sediments using five step sequential extraction procedures and potential mobility (%).



Figure 5.1: Fractional distribution of REEs in sediments.

Heavy rainfall, acidic rain, erosion, weathering processes and natural disasters cause the damage to these rocks resulting in spreading of REEs into the lakes, reservoirs, rivers, oceans and all around the terrestrial and aquatic ecosystem. From the speciation study, Euphorbium (Eu) show quite similar distribution with Ce in sequential extraction procedure. This trace element found maximum (39.6 %) in AEC fraction. Gadolinium (Gd) shows 41.8 % in fraction I and 11.0 % in amorphous Fe oxyhydroxides fraction which is higher than other previous rare earth elements. Terbium (Tb) found almost equally distributed in all fractions of the extraction procedure. This refers to enhanced danger and pollution because of application in different technologies. So it can conclude that occurrence of Tb could be because of anthropogenic origin.

Dysprosium (Dy) found 39.5 % in AEC fraction and 24.3 % in bound to silicates and residual oxides. Such percent distribution refers to anthropogenic origin in the mining lake sediments. Holmium (Ho) found only rare earth in sediments with a maximum distribution percentage of about 22.9 in bound to sulphides and organic fraction. This indicates the presence of compounds of sulphur and organic material deposit onto the sediment surface. Erbium (Er) found in higher amount in fraction I while thulium (Tm) shows the highest percentage of 13.1 in amorphous Fe oxyhydroxides fraction in nearly all sediment samples. REEs usually acts as a main barrier, cement and nodule present in oxide form among particles. Such REO become mobile if conditions become acidic even REEs organic phase because of organic matter also become mobilized under such conditions (Huang et al., 2007).

Ytterbium (Yb) shows 44.7 %, 12.7 %, 9.9 %, 19.4 % and 23.7 % in all five fractions respectively. The main source of ytterbium is related to the mining activities, land use changes and some of the anthropogenic activities (Long et al., 2012). Leutetium (Lu) found second maximum rare earth in sediment samples with 21.1 % in sulphides and

organic fraction. The REEs degree of pollution is measured by residual fractions. More REEs represents less pollution index.

Overall results indicate REEs potentially more available for exchange and/or release into the aquatic environment was found in the adsorbed/ exchangeable/carbonate fraction and residual fraction, the most chemically recalcitrant and least bioavailable in sediments. Anthropogenic REEs extracted during the first step of sequential extraction while lithogenic REEs were more present in the residual fraction (Martins et al., 2013).

Speciation study basically gives information about the potential mobility of trace elements. Sum of concentrations of the REEs in different media indicate potential mobility (Ashraf et al., 2011). The potential mobility of all rare earths is obtained by taking the sum of AEC, amorphous Fe oxy, Cry Fe oxy, bound to sulphides and organics and silicates and residual phase of that rare earth element (Huang et al., 2007). As depicted from **Table 5.1** and **Figure 5.2**, it can be considered that maximum potential mobility is for Yb (67.3 %), Gd (62.2 %) and then Dy (60.3 %) and Y (60.3 %) show same potential mobility in sediments.

The main source for their mobility may be the minerals and the complex ions adsorbed on the surface of sediments. REEs mobility and bioavailability is dependent on exchangeable phase and easily available to the environment. Pr (59.7 %), Er (59.4 %), Tm (56.9 %), Eu (54.8 %) and Nd (54.3%) show about similar potential mobility while Sc (50.9 %), La (49.8 %), Ce (50.0 %), Ho (51.3 %) and Lu (50.4 %) show similar trends in sediment fractions.



Figure 5.2: Potential mobility (%) of REEs in sediments.

Higher percentage of silicates and organics present in sediments indicate more oxidizing capacities of REEs in the aquatic environment. REEs mobility vary in the following order: Adsorbed/exchangeable/carbonates > silicates and residual bound > sulphides and organics bound > bound to Fe oxyhydroxides (amorphous) > bound to Fe oxyhydroxides (crystalline).

There are many factors that control the mobility of REEs in aquatic ecosystems. Such factors may include pH, climatic conditions, weathering, nature of the rocks (igneous) bearing REEs in the vicinity of water body, dissolution, solubility, ionic radius, dissolved ionic species, alluvial deposits and adsorption capacity (Davranche et al., 2015). pH is considered as important in REE mobility. Absorption of rare earth elements (REEs) increases with increase in pH which ultimately decrease its mobility. Absorption and removal of REEs from water depend on the coagulation and precipitation of Fe-Al- Mn oxyhydroxides on the surface of sediments. In water bodies pH also controls the behaviour of REEs by their presence and total concentration. Potential mobility of REEs in soluble fractions of speciation can also be determined by their total load in suspended and sediment condition transferred to river or lake waters. Areas with massive igneous rocks have more potential for REs mobility by dissolution in water body. A previous study conducted by Martins et al (2013) also demonstrates higher potential mobility of HREEs than LREEs due to their ionic strength and low bonding capacities.

In the current study, concentration of Ce, La, Nd, Sc and Y is higher with average values (ppm) 67.21, 337.85, 13.1, 14.2, 39.47 in adsorbed/exchangeable/carbonate fraction and 33.19, 69.33, 6.98, 6.86, 10.52 in organic fraction and 52.99, 314.5, 9.61, 12.87 and 23.47 in residual fraction respectively. Martins et al (2013) also present concentration of sediments in sequential extraction procedure show Ce, La, Nd, Sc and

Y with average concentration (ppm) 1.327, 0.414. 0.681, 0.902 and 0.068 respectively in AEC fraction.

A previous study conducted by Kato et al (2011) in east south and central north Pacific Ocean describe sediments as potential REEs and yttrium oxides source (9,110 \pm 1,460 tonnes) producing 25000 \pm 4000 tonnes of REY oxides competing annual consumption (Kato et al., 2011) while in the current study REEs ranged from 9-800 mg kg⁻¹ in the sediments.

Sequential extraction Indicate neodymium concentration in sediments (3.7 to 10.1 ppm) which was found less than upper continental crust value for Nd (Willis & Johannesson, 2011). In this study, Nd in all sediment samples ranged up to 38.7 mg kg⁻¹ which is much higher than compared to Willis and Johannesson, (2011). Nd found more bound in adsorbed/ exchanged/ carbonate fractions and then in silicates and residues. This suggests silica nature of sediments and preferring source of REEs to mining lake water may be dissolution of carbonate from limestone rocks in the mining area and after mining water sediments found rich in REEs minerals.

This study also gives ratio of REEs from light to heavy (L/H) ranging from 4.87 ± 1.46 to 765.8 ± 3.66 . Higher contents of LREEs were found in the sediment samples compared to the study Liu et al. 2011 which show REEs in two lacustrine sediment cores in the maritime Antarctic with relative to concentrations of REEs illustrate intense variations (Liu et al., 2011). This indicates higher deposition of REEs onto the sediment surface.

5.2 Speciation study of soil

Determining the total REEs concentration in the soil through acid digestion does not provide complete information about their ecotoxicity and potential mobility in the environment. Toxicity of the REEs largely depends on the form in which they are bound to different components and distributed in the soil (Aikpokpodion et al., 2013). A chemical speciation is a unique tool in understanding the REEs chemical form, potential mobility, bioavailability as well as transformation under suitable conditions to other environmental compartments such as from soil to water, plants and human beings (Barkouch and Pineau, 2015). It follows a five-step procedure proposed by Hall et al. (1996). Speciation identifies sources of metal pollution in the soil environment. REEs which are extracted in the first step of extraction procedure are due to anthropogenic activities while in the last step of extraction (silicate and residual fraction) signifies lithogenic origin (Todorović et al., 2014).

REEs speciation in three different depths in soil shows much variation. It is considered important for the potential mobility and bioavailability of REEs in ex-mining soil. Mean values of REEs in five steps sequential extraction procedure carried out for speciation are listed (**Appendix E**), where distribution of major species is represented as mg kg⁻¹ and percentage in **Table 5.2** of total REEs dissolved content.

Potential mobility of the REEs indicates their abundance in different soil depths and is described as bound to silicates and residuals > bound to adsorbed/exchanged/carbonates > bound to sulphides and organic > bound to crystalline Fe oxyhydroxides > bound to amorphous Fe oxyhydroxides. This trend continues to be same with soil depth, but some variations have been seen.

		Fractions (%)) in (0-20 cm) s	soil depth		Total	D. A
Metals	Fraction I	Fraction	Fraction	Fraction	Fraction	concentration	Potential
		II	III	IV	V	(mg kg ⁻¹)	Mobility (%)
Sc	9.31	5.04	5.14	9.68	10.17	661.68	49.54
Y	16.54	6.09	6.75	13.00	16.57	872.22	49.83
La	11.21	5.02	4.63	21.54	19.50	897.39	33.69
Ce	17.18	6.35	5.98	48.15	32.08	1370.15	26.89
Pr	3.68	1.93	2.10	8.84	6.83	502.28	32.97
Nd	12.26	4.83	4.48	33.63	23.84	1032.58	27.28
Eu	3.26	0.91	0.45	2.40	4.54	390.76	39.96
Gd	3.80	1.70	1.69	13.03	8.32	549.83	25.19
Tb	7.77	2.91	2.56	5.95	10.18	578.09	45.08
Dy	5.36	1.80	1.94	6.56	8.15	511.21	38.21
Ho	1.90	0.57	0.34	2.89	2.91	363.95	32.63
Er	3.23	0.92	0.63	6.64	5.84	438.37	27.69
Tm	3.24	0.62	0.66	2.31	4.07	383.79	41.46
Yb	6.70	2.44	1.91	7.87	7.98	541.91	41.07
Lu	1.69	0.27	0.31	1.79	2.14	335.49	36.60
			REEs in (21-4	40) cm soil deptl	h		
Sc	4.01	2.60	2.83	7.47	9.25	264.70	36.08
Y	7.63	3.75	3.63	17.66	16.44	495.20	57.37
La	6.59	2.88	3.26	10.06	10.25	333.60	93.46
Ce	7.08	3.33	3.26	15.16	57.00	439.60	52.25
Pr	3.18	1.61	1.71	4.55	3.43	145.50	24.84
Nd	6.58	3.86	3.19	11.34	9.32	353.40	77.10
Eu	2.01	0.95	0.72	2.18	2.46	85.40	14.06
Gd	2.73	1.06	3.44	4.03	4.08	131.10	27.63
Tb	4.58	1.95	1.59	6.01	6.83	216.10	41.70
Dy	3.24	1.5	1.01	4.38	5.28	160.00	21.98
Ho	0.81	0.52	0.4	1.54	1.68	50.30	6.61
Er	1.21	0.47	0.39	2.00	1.68	66.00	36.00
Tm	1.35	0.65	0.51	1.56	2.00	62.10	9.59
Yb	6.03	1.97	1.54	5.61	7.10	204.90	36.46
Lu	0.83	0.44	0.28	1.64	1.97	46.10	46.06
			REEs in (41-	60 cm) soil deptl	h		
Sc	3.80	3.14	2.22	7.31	9.22	252.81	35.65
Y	7.30	3.24	3.27	16.90	16.23	474.89	29.42
La	6.32	2.51	2.64	9.44	9.75	308.71	37.41
Ce	6.37	2.83	3.03	14.37	14.01	413.95	30.11
Pr	2.92	1.35	1.32	4.12	2.98	129.32	44.05
Nd	6.14	3.16	2.52	9.66	8.64	319.58	39.24
Eu	1.72	0.65	0.57	1.68	1.96	69.44	44.68
Gd	2.15	0.84	0.82	3.30	3.51	109.28	35.87
Tb	4.01	1.47	1.21	5.24	6.10	187.37	37.10
Dy	2.59	1.17	0.80	3.21	3.64	121.23	39.96
Но	0.89	0.41	0.30	1.35	1.54	46.09	35.63
Er	1.90	0.85	0.68	2.30	2.66	84.84	40.88
Tm	1.18	0.51	0.40	1.23	1.93	53.65	39.80
Yb	5.40	1.55	1.37	6.15	7.10	201.08	38.57
Lu	0.76	0.32	0.22	1.43	1.72	45.29	29.21

Table 5.2: Percentage fractional analysis and potential mobility for REEs in sequential extraction procedures for different soil depths.

It can be concluded that there is no specific correlation in the soils solution and solid phases, but dissolution or distribution of REEs is more correlated with acid extract solutions (Palumbo-Roe et al., 2015).

Adsorbed/exchanged/carbonates (AEC) fraction (FI) contains REEs that can be released, precipitated or co-precipitated with carbonate contents of the soil. Among all fractions of sequential extraction, fraction I determines the potential mobility and bioavailability of REEs in contaminated sites of the study area (Huang et al., 2013b). Fraction I in the surface soil (0-20 cm) show electrostatically bound rare earth elements (REEs) that have been adsorbed on the soil surface and can be easily released, exchanged, precipitated or bound to the carbonate fractions present in the soil. Ce was found in highest percentage of 17.18 % along with Y, Nd, La and Sc having 16.54 %, 12.26 %, 11.21 % and 9.31 %, respectively as shown in **Figure 5.3** (a).

Presence of REEs more in the FI fraction (AEC) represents more availability of REEs and become a significant source of hazardous pollution in the environment (Ashraf et al., 2012). In China especially with mining activities, exchangeable REEs fractions being predominant forms in the soil (Yu et al., 2009, Zhang et al., 2012). In subsoil depth (21-40 cm) described in **Figure 5.3 (b**), Y was found in the highest percentage (7.63 %) while Lu found lowest (0.83 %). Ce decreased in percentage up to 7.08 % compared to surface soil. Yttrium is considered as the main component in monazite ore for REEs refining and processing. La reach up to 6.59 %, Nd show 6.58 %, Yb was 6.03 % and Sc found much less in 4.01 %.





A third layer of soil (41-60 cm) follow the same order of variation as second, but with fewer percentages for all the REEs shown in **Figure 5.3** (c). This is also considered as a valuable tool for mineral exploration in the soils and most abundant fractions in clayey fractions (Mongelli et al., 2014). It is demonstrated that most of the soil with each depth is rich in LREEs compared to HREEs. It can also be concluded that Fraction I (adsorbed/exchangeable/carbonates) constitute labile fractions and sources of REEs with Y and Ce being the most mobile and toxic in the environment compared to other metals (Filgueiras et al., 2004). Usually of total REEs, the 10 % average amount is present in AEC fraction of the soil (Wang et al., 2001b).

For REEs, fraction II (Amorphous Fe oxyhydroxides) and fraction III (crystalline Fe oxyhydroxides) show very little amount present. Ce and Y mostly bound in fraction II and III with 6.35 % and 6.75 % respectively. LREEs range from 1.69- 6.75 while HREEs ranged from 0.27- 2.91% in both fractions. This means that very few Fe bound REE oxides are present in different soil depths of the studied area.

Fraction IV (sulphides & organics) represents the sulphides and organics bound REEs in the soil. In this fraction Ce in surface soil is found in 48.15 % with maximum value indicating higher amount of sulphides and organic bound REEs. Among other REEs Nd, La, Gd, Y, Sc and Yb were found in 33.63 %, 21.54 %, 13.03 %, 13.00 %, 9.68 % and 7.87 %, respectively. In soil samples (21-40 cm) of ex-mining area sulphides and organic bound REEs become much less. Y found in highest percentage (17.66) whereas Ce and La were found in 15.16 % and 10.06 %, respectively. Other REEs were found in smaller percentages in this fraction. The same trend was found in the third layer of soil (41-60 cm). This fraction found to be more stable in nature compared to other fractions, but REEs can be mobilized and made bioavailable if suitable reducing conditions by

biodegradation of organic matter present in the ex-mining soil are provided (Haung et al., 2007, Ashraf et al., 2012).

Among all fractions of sequential extraction, most of the REEs were found in bound to silicate and residual fraction (FV). This basically accounts for the measurement of the degree of pollution. More the REEs in this fraction less will be the environmental pollution (Howari & Banat, 2001, Ashraf et al., 2012). In this fraction of soil (0-20 cm) Ce was found 32.08 % bound with silicates and residues in maximum amount, but less compared to sulphides and organics phase. Nd, La, Y, Tb, Sc, Dy and Yb were in 23.84 %, 19.50 %, 16.57 %, 10.18 %, 10.17 %, 8.15 % and 7.98 %, respectively.

The bioavailability of rare earth elements is associated with distinct physicochemical properties of soil, such as soil particulate size distribution, pH, CEC, organic matter content of the soil in this layer mostly affect the mobility of REEs. High pH leads to high REEs absorption. If such happens, it can reduce REEs mobility in the soil (Liang et al., 2014). Anthropogenic activities could be expected to change the structure of the soil. The concentration of REEs in the soil under natural conditions is mainly decided by the parent rocks, but in a mining area where soil naturally has been disturbed intensively, REEs found in higher concentrations (Hu et al., 2006). Soils with a high pH can increase the absorption of REEs due to the formation of Lanthanide complex ions (Zhu et al., 1993).

The middle layer of soil (21-40 cm) show highest amount of Ce (57 %) while Y, La, Nd, Sc, and Yb were in 16.44 %, 10.25 %, 9.32 %, 9.25 % and 7.1 %, respectively as shown in **Figure 5.3** (b). Other REEs found in low percentages. A major source of Ce in the soil is associated with monazite mineral used for REEs. The previous study reported in China showed the same type of analysis for REEs but in higher percentages in mining areas (Wen et al., 2001a). Radioactivity and low soluble metals (thorium and

zirconium) in complexation with REEs control their distribution in middle soil layers. Volcanic rocks, mining and refining processes and anthropogenic activities are considered a major cause of REEs in the subsoil (Mongelli et al., 2014).

The third layer of soil (41-60 cm) also show a high percentage of cerium (14.01 %) less compared to the other layers (Figure 5.3 c). Ce with 14.37 % constitutes much in this layer, meaning that Ce containing minerals and ores are embedded in the deeper soil. Nd found in the low amount (9.66 %) while all other REEs found in fewer amounts. Comparing the three soil layers of the studied area, it can be concluded that most of the REEs are concentrated in surface soil and their concentration decreases in the deeper soil layers. Most of the REEs found bound with adsorbed/exchanged /carbonate fractions (AEC) of the soil in the complex mineral state. Results obtained indicate REEs as harmful metals in the soil, can be transferred to other environmental components through different pathways. Speciation study of REEs can also be used to discriminate between different parental materials from ex-mining areas (Marques et al., 2012). Leaching of REEs from deep layers of soil is also possible through a sequential extraction procedure. With an increase in depth, pH also increases that caused the adsorption of REEs onto the organic matter present in the soil (Lyubomirova et al., 2011). Different pH conditions promote migration of REEs in the soils. In acidic soils, it was found 1 cm, for slightly acidic 0.5 cm and in alkaline no migration intensity was observed using isotopic tracers and numerical simulations (Zhu et al., 1996).

5.3 **Potential mobility of REEs in the soil**

Another advantage related to speciation is its total concentration of all geochemical fractions used for finding the potential mobility (PM) in the soils. Potential mobility is the indicator of REEs pollution in the environment. Lowering pH, CEC and organic matter content of soil increase the solubility of REEs but addition of organic acids reduce

the adsorption capacity onto the soil surface (Shan et al., 2002b). The mobility of REEs in soil is mainly influenced by REE phosphates and hydroxides (Janssen & Verweij, 2003).

A previous study on REEs (Nd, Ce, and Gd) in abandoned mine land, watershed in SWS pain report their substantial release from acid sulphate soil under acidic conditions, meaning that pH is an important factor in REEs potential mobility (Fernández-Caliani et al., 2009).

In most of the collected samples of ex-mining area, the potential mobility of REEs in the surface soil (0-20 cm) was found maximum for Y with 49.83 % and Sc with 49.54 % as shown in **Table 5.2** and **Figure 5.4** (a). Tb, Tm, Yb, Eu, Dy, Lu, La, Pr, Ho, Er, Nd and Gd showed 45.08 %, 41.46 %, 41.07 %, 39.96 %, 38.21 %, 36.6 %, 33.69 %, 32.97 %, 32.63 %, 27.69 %, 27.28 % and 25.19 %. A maximum concentration of Y can cause environmental hazardous risks to the surrounding soil and water quality. Y also show a distinctive character in the surface soil where it is associated with the residual fraction which ranged up to 16.57 % followed by sulphides and organic bound phase of 13 %. Although Ce content was less in AEC fraction, but silicates and residual fraction accounted higher percentage (32 %), making REEs less mobile in the soil environment. A considerable amount of Ce (48.15 %) was found in sulphides and organic bound fraction showing high stability by the formation of organic Ce bound complexes in the soil. Potential mobility of Nd in AEC fraction ranged up to 16.41 % while the residual fraction shows 13.42 %.




The highest percentage was obtained in organic bound phase (25.4 %) representing soil rich in an organic content. Amorphous and crystalline Fe oxyhydroxide bound fractions (II, III) were found in less percentage only 8.46 % and 9.35 %, respectively.

La found more in an organic bound fraction followed by residuals and AEC bound fraction. La being the chief component of monazite minerals found in the soil of remains of ex-mines in considerable amount. Under favourable conditions provided La can form complexes with a clay content of soil, oxides and metal ions forming complex ligands of greater stability. REEs in AEC bound fraction also accounts for the carbonate content of the soil ultimately facilitating their uptake by the plants, accumulating in different plant parts and disturbing the natural balance of the terrestrial environment (Islam et al., 2015). Results can suggest that under suitable conditions of pH from acidic to neutral and aerobic conditions REEs in the soil get more tendencies to form ligands and complexes in their mineral and crystalline states. Surface soil represents LREEs and HREEs having a potential to be more labile and easily available. Plants grown in such soils have more chance to take up REEs. If such situation exists, it accounts for more toxicity and bioavailability of harmful rare earth metals to the ecosystem. La and Ce were also evaluated and fractionated in road dust in Bulgaria using ICP-MS technique and indicate higher loadings on the soil surface (Lyubomirova et al., 2011).

In middle soil layer (21-40 cm) La has maximum potential mobility (93.46 %) compared to all three soil depths due to degradation of organic matter in the soil. Such high value indicates easy uptake by the plants deeply rooted into the soil system (**Table 5.2** and **Figure 5.4 b**). Higher the potential mobility, lower will be the concentration in soil. Ce also found with 52.25 % potential mobility which is higher than surface soil. Nd also shows 77.10 % mobility which is also higher than surface soil. Potential mobility for other REEs for Ce, Lu, Tb, Yb, Sc, Er and Gd varies as 52.25 %, 46.06 %, 41.70 %,

36.46 %, 36.08 %, 36 % and 27.63 %, respectively while others have fewer percentages. The average percentage of all REEs accounts 18.86 % in AEC bound fraction, 18.30 % in organic bound and 42.73 % in silicates and residual fractions of sequential extraction.

Most of the REEs were found in the last fraction, indicating their stability and ability to form complexes with other ions present in the soil. In a study on REEs within the subsoils in Italy, research reported much higher concentrations of REEs developed from volcanic rather sedimentary materials (Mongelli et al., 2014). Amorphous Fe bound oxyhydroxides fraction contained very less REEs (7.54 %) while crystalline Fe oxyhydroxides fraction was found high in REEs with 18.63 % in all the soil samples studied from all depths representing clay-rich fraction of the soil.

Compared to other layers deeper soil layer (41-60 cm) show less REEs potential mobility with the maximum value of 44.05 % for Promethium (Pr) (**Table 5.2** and **Figure 5.4 c**). The increasing potential mobility of REEs represents the decrease in the concentration in the soil. Physical characteristics and some unknown factors of soil change the concentration and affect the potential mobility of REEs (Haung et al., 2007). It has also been demonstrated that soils having pH up to neutral and low electrical conductivity usually retained in high carbonate contents (5-10 %). In this soil layer silicates and residual fraction show maximum REEs in 15.17 %. Such distribution indicates a more compact complexation in deeper soils in the ex-mining area. Other fractions were very less in REEs. The study on speciation also indicates the higher amount of REEs in AEC fraction of sequential extraction. Adsorption, transformation into amorphous and crystalline states and co-precipitation are some of the mechanisms considered to immobilize or reduce the levels of potential mobility of REEs in the soil (Coppin et al., 2002). However, a large portion of REEs is also accounted in the residual fraction. All these findings together strongly indicate that in ex-

mines of Perak, REEs are mobile and easily available. Potential mobility also points towards the bioavailability of REEs to the soil grown plants in mining areas. Higher the potential mobility higher will be the bioavailability of REEs.

Summary

This chapter describes the speciation study of REEs in sediments and soil collected from ex-mining area. Speciation has been done based on the sequential extraction procedure proposed by Tessier et al (1996). Five step sequential extraction procedure has been adopted. Novelty in this method has been developed during different steps. Based on the speciation, potential mobility has been calculated. REEs identified significantly distributed in different fractions and have considerable mobility.

CHAPTER 6: PLANT UPTAKE CAPACITY AND BIOAVAILIBILITY

6.1 **Bioavailability of REEs in Plants**

A number of ferns are known as accumulators of REEs. Hypogymnia physodes in mosses and lichens found good lanthanide accumulator (Dołegowska & Migaszewski, 2013). Bioaccumulation of La, Ce and Y in root surface and cortical cells was found in genera dryopteris, adiantum, dicranopteris and asplenium (Ozaki et al., 2002). Dicranopteris dichotoma show increased photosynthetic activity in the presence of REEs at acidic pH and hyperaccumulation of LREEs in chloroplast membranes and thylakoids leaves more than 0.1 % (w/w of dry mass) (Wang et al., 2003). Appropriate mechanism for REEs reduction to divalent state has not fully clarified (Zhang et al., 2013). Cerium (Ce) with the oxidation state of +3 in horseradish was found to migrate in plant body but also found in tropical tree barks (Guo et al., 2007). In vascular plants, REEs found much concentrated in roots than in leaves and stems with the lowest amount in fruits and seeds (Xu et al., 2003). It was found that ferns and lichens accumulate higher amounts of Y as compared to other genera (Maksimovic et al., 2014, Ozaki et al., 2002).

In this study REEs concentration in plants was identified and the role of different soil properties on the solubility and bioavailability in the plant. From these observations, possible transfer of REEs into the plants and their bioaccumulation was also evaluated

6.1.1 Soil analysis

The physical parameters and REEs concentration in soils in different sampling sites are listed (**Table 4.12** and **Table 4.13**). The accuracy of the REEs analysis was confirmed by determination of rare earth elements in a standard reference material (2586) (**Table 3.3**).

The highest concentration of cerium (Ce) (420.5 mg kg⁻¹) was detected at P1. Soils of two plant samples (P2 and P8) contain Ce 256.49 and 269.82 mg kg⁻¹ respectively. Neodymium (Nd) was found in maximum concentration at P2 (112.3 mg kg⁻¹) while other soils (P3, P6, P7 and P8) contain 88.64, 85.05, 75.35 and 82.11 mg kg⁻¹ respectively. Soils from sampling site P3, P5, P6 and P8 were enriched with La concentration of 94.69, 62.11, 65.37, 59.69 and 60.16 mg kg⁻¹ respectively. La and Ce at low concentration may not cause any problem, but at higher concentration cause significant damage to the ecosystem (Barry and Meehan, 2000). Yttrium was found in considerable amount only at two plant sample (P1 and P5) with 79.2 and 84.7 mg kg⁻¹ respectively. Scandium (Sc) was found at P5 and P8 soils with concentration of 51.47 and 47.17 mg kg⁻¹ respectively.

6.1.2 Uptake capacity and bioavailability of REEs

The plants collected for REEs are summarized in **Table 6.1 and Figure 6.1**. Plant species (P9, P10 & P11) are abundantly found in ex-mining area and are discussed in section 6.2 whereas P12 and P13 are described in section 6.3.

Family	Specie	Plant code	Habitat	Uptake capacity
Gleicheniaceae	Dicranopteris dichotoma.	P1	Mining area	hyperaccumulator
Gleicheniaceae	Dicranopteris linearis(Burn) (A)	P2	Mining area	accumulator
Gleicheniaceae	Dicranopteris linearis(Burn) (B)	P3	Natural area	hyperaccumulator
Melastomataceae	Melastoma malabathricum L.	P4	Industrial area	hypertolerant
Cyperaceae	Cyperus difformis Rottb.	P5	Road side	tolerant
Cyperaceae	Cyperus kyllingia Rottb.	P6	Road side	accumulator
Cyperaceae	Cyperus distans L.	P7	River side	accumulator
Cyperaceae	Cyperus rotundus L.	P8	River side	hyperaccumulator
Laminaceae	Hyptis suaveolens L.	P9	Natural area	tolerant
Fabaceae	Albizia Myriophillia	P10	Mining area	hyperaccumulator
Poaceae	Eleusine indica L.	P11	River side	hyperaccumulator
Euphorbiaceae	Ricinus communis L.	P12	Mining area	hyperaccumulator
Astraceae	Emilia sonchifolia	P13	Residential area	hyperaccumulator

Table 6.1: Plant species with the family names, plant codes, habitat and uptake behaviour.

Main root of plants, especially (*Dicranopteris dichotoma (P1)*, *Dicranopteris linearis* (*A*) (*P2*) and Cyperus rotundus L. (*P8*) show a very high concentration of REEs as compared to stem. *Dicranopteris linearis (B) (P3)*, *Melastoma malabathricum L (P4)*, *Cyperus difformis Rottb (P5)*, *Cyperus kyllingia Rottb (P6) and Cyperus distans L.(P7)* are among the plants that showed the highest concentration of REEs in leaves. REEs are not considered as essential to the plants, but however plants can absorb REEs from the soil through the roots and also through leaves from the atmosphere polluted with REEs mainly from mining areas. Common plants under natural condition have low REEs concentration around 10^{-3} - $10^{-1} \mu g g^{-1}$ dry mass (Wang et al. 1997). In mining areas of China high levels of REEs have been found (Liang et al., 2014). Different plant species express different variations of REEs concentration are given in **Table 6.2**.

Lanthanum concentration ranged up to 568.90 and 413.80 μ g g⁻¹ in *Cyperus rotundus L* (P8) and *Cyperus distans L*. (P7) plant species respectively. Sc concentration was found about 759.60 μ g g⁻¹ in *Cyperus distans L* (P7) species and 220.93 μ g g⁻¹ in *Cyperus rotundus L* (P8) plant species. Yttrium (Y) was obtained in lower concentration 204.60 μ g g⁻¹ in *Cyperus rotundus L*. (P8) while 640.43 μ g g⁻¹ in *Cyperus distans L*. (P7).

The results indicate different concentration levels of REEs in different plant species. Here we focus more on LREEs as shown in **Figure 6.2**. All species of cyperaceae show REEs in variable amounts. *Cyperus rotundus L (P8)* found hyperaccumulator for REEs. *Cyperus distans L. (P7)* investigated and set up as the accumulator. *Cyperus difformis Rottb.(P5)* regarded as tolerant while *Cyperus kyllingia Rottb.(P6)* acts as the accumulator to REEs uptake from soil.





Continued

Figure 6.2: Plant species analyzed for REEs from ex-mining area. (Continued)

	Dicranop	teris dichot	toma. (P1)	Dicı	anopteris	linearis (A)	(<i>P</i> 2)	Dicr	anopteris	linearis (B)(P3)	Melastoma	malabathrid	:um L.(P4)
	(leaves)	(shoot)	(Root)	(Root)	(shoot)	(Petiole)	(Lamina)	(Root)	(shoot)	(Petiole)	(Lamina)	(shoot)	(Root)	(Leaves)
Sc	33.16	33.40	177.83	574.43	66.53	35.47	366.50	312.41	24.53	26.57	478.50	9.50	12.47	126.53
Y	219.07	57.70	111.65	289.67	45.41	12.38	339.47	452.57	11.62	4.48	1009.63	9.91	14.53	84.61
La	1568.00	59.39	1305.07	465.37	101.32	41.50	355.67	585.40	48.27	21.52	401.47	28.40	36.43	158.59
Ce	2290.33	738.63	1482.60	350.60	95.50	18.50	406.70	725.57	98.66	13.45	706.57	48.52	118.53	187.44
Pr	149.77	48.53	566.70	58.54	25.79	19.37	115.50	42.56	5.60	3.53	362.30	10.48	15.20	41.56
Nd	1499.00	112.23	687.40	150.40	16.44	10.59	198.50	54.58	6.45	4.26	286.50	20.30	33.55	49.13
Eu	29.32	12.53	161.55	16.64	3.65	8.29	18.48	15.46	3.22	3.19	24.12	6.44	7.52	10.49
Gd	75.08	47.49	157.63	19.56	6.60	9.99	79.47	96.64	3.23	15.58	204.50	14.31	25.66	139.52
LREES	732.97	138.74	581.30	240.65	45.16	19.51	235.04	285.65	25.20	11.57	434.20	18.48	32.99	99.73
ďT	85.37	45.85	98.40	7.50	3.58	4.47	<i>TT.T</i>	41.51	7.80	4.13	257.50	6.62	7.29	77.30
Dy	47.78	17.11	166.30	22.47	10.86	2.85	59.50	68.57	3.29	2.87	122.43	16.47	22.36	81.33
Но	13.24	6:39	59.39	5.66	1.26	2.59	5.62	2.23	1.89	1.67	2.45	4.50	7.83	15.57
Er	13.24	6.56	34.58	12.45	4.58	1.30	8.56	16.42	3.73	1.45	26.77	6.55	9.75	12.31
Πm	8.37	13.50	17.57	4.96	4.55	1.52	2.67	2.50	1.26	0.43	35.73	4.55	5.45	21.43
Yb	18.49	15.45	151.56	13.50	8.64	2.43	91.50	58.44	3.23	1.45	143.63	11.55	34.66	66.43
Lu	7.48	6.18	16.10	3.26	1.18	1.28	5.81	1.87	0.97	7.85	19.50	6.60	7.33	13.56
HREEs	27.71	15.86	77.70	9.97	4.95	2.35	25.92	27.36	3.17	2.84	86.86	8.12	13.53	41.13
TF		4.00			ъ	.34			ŝ	.20			10.30	
BCF		53.74			<u>1</u> 6	7.19			15	1.11	0		64.26	
BAF		143.39			21	9.16			23	0.87			103.91	

Table 6.2: Plant species with individual REEs (µg g⁻¹) in different plant parts and their LREEs and HREEs capacity.

				•										
	Cyperus	difformis 1	Rottb.(P5)			Cyperus l Cyperu	cyllingia H ıs distans	<i>Rottb.(P6)</i> L.(P7)			C	perus roti	undus L.(P8	8)
	(Root)	(Leaves)	(Flower)	(Root)	(Leaves)	(Flower)	(Stem)	(Root)	(Leaves)	(Flower)	(Root)	(Stem)	(Leaves)	(Flower)
Sc	62.61	221.37	10.90	17.58	58.87	6.84	30.50	175.63	640.43	15.48	280.83	18.84	204.60	8.21
Y	8.84	10.43	5.79	11.75	37.57	6.46	49.60	148.33	759.60	7.47	316.33	125.73	220.93	11.58
La	29.70	17.71	6.87	10.44	365.84	6.45	145.63	206.60	413.80	32.67	933.60	396.40	568.90	27.70
Ce	59.72	24.96	7.72	16.35	410.63	25.17	123.60	213.97	684.47	47.53	1347.53	339.69	2283.67	18.09
Pr	8.44	16.25	4.10	6.37	5.44	6.78	82.36	38.30	85.27	7.78	450.67	52.43	153.40	8.34
PN	15.56	13.65	5.72	9.36	315.81	7.40	82.47	140.17	231.53	8.45	222.60	115.33	503.70	10.62
Eu	6.03	6.47	5.61	6.48	6.45	6.47	21.37	8.70	71.62	5.29	27.14	6.77	9.65	3.12
Gd	11.83	36.53	9.46	6.52	87.30	5.16	74.41	32.43	58.47	10.59	227.53	118.20	175.80	8.68
LREES	25.34	43.42	7.02	10.61	160.99	8.84	76.24	120.52	368.15	16.91	475.78	146.67	515.08	12.04
Tb	5.86	12.53	4.88	4.64	244.47	2.39	155.13	6.78	9.52	6.74	289.50	77.45	35.14	5.84
Dy	7.26	13.12	5.53	6.46	125.60	6.53	21.25	61.47	52.57	4.60	217.92	31.53	188.60	9.80
Но	5.37	12.26	4.40	5.06	15.09	4.46	3.50	16.63	11.57	1.65	16.42	6.33	33.36	7.26
Er	6.61	5.64	5.11	6.02	35.55	3.77	10.20	8.43	15.43	5.31	18.47	4.51	34.64	7.60
Tm	6.38	3.65	1.59	6.95	62.76	1.30	3.30	7.43	14.59	2.25	6.14	3.54	18.38	2.26
Yb	4.74	5.70	3.83	7.77	134.72	2.19	17.76	129.59	17.24	2.00	412.73	114.68	210.68	2.60
Lu	4.87	6.21	6.05	3.82	15.27	6.05	2.62	10.41	7.75	6.05	3.59	1.63	27.52	8.59
HREES	5.87	8.44	4.48	5.82	90.50	3.81	30.54	34.39	18.38	4.09	137.82	34.24	78.33	6.28
TF		7.26			3.60			37	1.76			4.	06	
BCF		12.39			99.94			15	1.70			134	.13	
BAF		23.49			118.97			29	9.87			387	.11	
*REEs individual v	'alues in diff	erent plant p:	arts measured	1 in µg g-1										

Continued

166





Maximum uptake capacity in roots among the plants from cyperaceae were found in *Cyperus rotundus L.(P8)* which present highest concentration of Ce, La, Sc, Y, Pr, Nd, Eu and Gd in their roots about 1347.53, 396.40, 280.83, 316.33, 556.7, 687.4, 161.55, 157.63 μ g g⁻¹ respectively. Leaves of the *Cyperus rotundus L.(P8)* show highest Ce concentration up to 2283.67 μ g g⁻¹ while *Cyperus distans L. (P7)* indicate 684.47 μ g g⁻¹ in their leaves.

Of the four Cyprus species only two species, having stem in them were analyzed for REEs. Shoot of *Cyperus rotundus L.(P8)* shows Sc, Y, La, Ce, Pr, Nd, Eu and Gd concentrations 18.84, 125.73, 396.4, 339.69, 52.43, 115.33, 6.77, 118.20 μ g g⁻¹ respectively, while shoot of *Cyperus distans L.(P7)* found abundant in Sc, Y, La, Ce, Pr, Nd, Eu, and Gd concentrations 30.50, 49.60, 145.63, 123.60, 82.36, 82.47, 21.37, 74.41 μ g g⁻¹ respectively. Flowers from four plants [*Cyperus difformis Rottb (P5)*; *Cyperus kyllingia Rottb (P6)*; (*Cyperus distans L (P7)*; *Cyperus rotundus L (P8)*] also investigated for REEs (**Table 6.2** and **Figure 6.2**). Flowers from *Cyperus distans L (P7)* found rich in Sc, Ce, La, Pr, Eu, Nd, and Gd while P8 were yttrium rich. Plant species *Cyperus difformis Rottb (P5)*; *Cyperus kyllingia Rottb (P6)* show considerable concentration levels of these REEs in their flowers.

Three species of ferns belonging to family *Gleicheniaceae* were also evaluated for their uptake capacity for REEs from mining soil. *Dicranopteris dichotoma (P1), dicranopteris linearis (Burn) (A) (P2)* and *dicranopteris linearis (Burn) (B) (P3)* were sampled from different location in an ex-mining area. *Dicranopteris linearis (Burn) (A, B)* samples from two different locations were divided into four parts (root, shoot, petiole and lamina) and analyzed for REEs. The levels of all REEs in fern species is given in **Table 6.2** while uptake capacity for LREEs (Sc, Y, La, Ce) is indicated in **Figure 6.2**.

Roots of *dicranopteris dichotoma (P1)* have the highest concentration of Ce and La with 1482.60 and 1305.07 μ g g⁻¹ while Sc and Y were low in concentration with 177.83 and 111.65 μ g g⁻¹ respectively. Such high level of La can damage the plant growth and disturb the plant physiology (von Tucher & Schmidhalter, 2005). Leaves (petiole and lamina) also show hyper accumulation of Ce and La with 2290.33 and 1568 μ g g⁻¹ with small amounts of Sc and Y. The shoot of *dicranopteris dichotoma (P1)* shows the maximum level of Ce 738.63 μ g g⁻¹ among all fern species. This indicates that most of the REEs are accumulated by this plant and can be transferred to other parts easily (Shan et al., 2003). Such results from the ex-mining area compared to another mining area in china are less in assessing the bioavailability levels of REEs in ferns where REEs varied 926.43 in root, 137.63 in stem, 136.66 in petiole and 2648.97 μ g g⁻¹ in the lamina (Liang et al., 2014).

Dicranopteris linearis (Burn)(B) roots found Ce 725.57 μ g g⁻¹ while *dicranopteris linearis (Burn)(A)* possess less Ce 350.60 μ g g⁻¹ in its roots compared to other two species. La, Sc and Y in both species of *Dicranopteris linearis (Burn) (A, B)* found in approximately same amounts as shown in Table 4. La, Ce, Sc, and Y found higher in the leaves of *dicranopteris linearis (Burn)(B)* with 401.47, 706.57, 478.50 and 1009.63 μ g g⁻¹ respectively than *dicranopteris linearis (Burn)(A)*. Shoot of *dicranopteris linearis (Burn)(B)* possesses more Ce levels 98.66 μ g g⁻¹ compared to *dicranopteris linearis (Burn)(A)* whose stem found rich in La, Sc and Y with 101.32, 66.53, 45.41 μ g g⁻¹ respectively. It can be concluded that the stem of fern species has more tendency to uptake REEs from the roots and transfer to the leaves. When the concentration of REEs become lower in the surroundings, *dicranopteris linearis (Burn)(A)(B)* show more tendency to uptake but it becomes less when REEs are largely present around the plant grown soil. The study also concludes that most of the LREEs in the ferns come from soil from the ex-mining area.

Another plant species analyzed for REEs was *Melastoma malabathricum L. (P4)* from family *Melastomataceae* as shown in **Figure 6.2** and **Table 6.2**. This plant recognized as hyper tolerant for REE uptake from the soil. The plant is divided into roots, shoot, and leaves. Very small concentrations have been found in different parts of this plant. Cerium found the maximum in 48.52 μ g g⁻¹ concentration in roots and shoot while leaves have the variable concentration of Sc, Y, La and Ce with values 126.53, 84.61, 158.59, 187.44 μ g g⁻¹ respectively. Such indicate the transformation and deposition levels of REEs from roots to leaves or from atmospheric particulate matters. Among all plant species distribution of REEs follow the order: leaves > roots> shoot > flower. The concentrations of individual REEs in all plants belonging to different families are not of the same sequence. But the distribution patterns of REEs roots are quite similar to the REEs in their soils (Zhenggui et al., 2001).

6.1.3 Distribution of LREEs and HREEs among different plant parts

The concentration of light rare earth elements (LREEs) in the adventitious roots, stem, leaves and some petiole and laminas of the plants were determined are shown in **Figure 6.3.** LREEs were mostly found in roots and leaves (petiole, lamina) of the studied plants. Almost all plants (except P4) found enriched with LREEs having mean concentration 207.23 μ g g⁻¹. The maximum value of LREEs was 732.97 and ranged from 7.02 – 723.2 μ g g⁻¹. *Dicranopteris dichotoma (P1)* and *Dicranopteris linearis (B)* were nominated as LREEs hyperaccumulators. The sum of LREEs in different parts of ferns and P4 plant are root> lamina > stem > petiole. This indicates that due to higher translocation function of stem and petiole, less LREEs found accumulated in them. At some sampling locations, concentration of LREEs also varies as lamina > root > stem > petiole.





Average values for LREEs among ferns species varied as 141.97 μ g g⁻¹ in all parts of plants with the maximum value of 515.8 and ranged FROM 7.02 - 508.06 μ g g⁻¹. This result is consistent with the study with Zhenggui et al. (2001) who determined REEs in order of lamina > root > stem > petiole. Most of the Cyprus species (P5, P6, P7, P8) accumulate LREEs. Low pH increased the release of LREE from the soil and uptake by the plant roots (Shan et al., 2003). Presence of large amounts of LREEs in the leaves involved mechanism for LREEs hyper accumulation. Order of uptake of LREEs by different plant species studied described as follows: P1 > P8> P3> P7> P2> P6> P4> P5.

The abundance of HREEs in shoot, leaves, lamina and petiole of the plants studied from the ex-mining area found lower than those in the roots. Average HREEs values were found 33.07 with highest value 137.82 and ranged from $2.35 - 134.04 \ \mu g \ g^{-1}$. Order of uptake of HREEs from the soil by the plants was found as P8> P6> P3> P1> P5> P4> P7> P2.

6.1.4 Translocation, Bioconcentration and Bioaccumulation of REEs

Over the last decades, translocation, bioaccumulation and bioconcentration of REEs in various environmental samples have been widely discussed (Ndeda & Manohar, 2014, Liang et al., 2014). Evaluation of REEs toxicity, especially in ex-mining areas has become increasingly important due to the harmful impacts on human. Many countries including China have evaluated their mining area for soil-plant system and found significantly high levels of REEs in plants through various transport processes compared to natural areas. Most of the REEs under normal conditions found deposited on the solid surface such as upper soil layer (Jones, 1997). In this study soil analysis also confirmed that most of the REEs are indicated in the soil. REEs usually changed under different environmental conditions but mining and ex-mining area still found overloaded with REEs (Xing-kai, 2005). REEs from soil are taken up by plants and transferred to all other

parts. Generally, 80% of the REEs found concentrated in the roots. Many researchers work on the uptake of REEs by plants in cultured nutrients, their results follow the order: root > stem > leaf >flower > fruit (Tagami and Uchida, 2006). However, REEs mining area grown plants show different results in hyperaccumulation plants (Zhang et al., 2001b, Fu et al., 2001b).

6.1.4.1 Translocation factor (TF)

Maximum TF values from P1- P8 plants species are 0.77 (Tm), 0.92 (Tm), 0.85 (Ho), 0.90 (Lu), 0.97 (Lu), 1.25 (Pr), 22.8 (Tb) and 0.58 (Tm) respectively as shown in **Figure 6.4**. TF was found highest in plant sample P7. The sum of the translocation factor (TF) ranged from 3.2 to 34.76 for all the plant species (P1-P8).

6.1.4.2 Bioconcentration Factor (BCF)

Bioconcentration factor for all REEs (Figure 6.4) indicate variations in different plants. Maximum BCF value for all studied plants from P1 to P8 found 16.6 (La), 18.5 (Sc), 35.3 (Y), 10.2 (Ho), 1.6 (Ho), 20.3 (Tb), 32.8 (Eu) and 29.4 (Yb) respectively. Values > 1 represent bioconcentration of REEs in the plant species from the ex-mining area. From Figure 6.4, it is concluded that BCF is higher for plants P1, P2, P3, P6, P7, and P8. The sum of the BCF for plant species varies as for P1 (53.74), P2 (97.19), P3 (151.11), P4 (64.26), P5 (12.39), P6 (99.94) P7 (151.7) and P8 (134.1) indicating accumulator and hyperaccumulator behavior of REEs. Plants having BCF values greater than 1 can be used for REEs removal from the soil. Previous studies from mining areas of China indicate accumulation of LREEs up to 7,000 μ g g⁻¹ *in Dicropteris dichotoma* dry leaf biomass (Shan et al., 2003).





The plant species with higher BCF together with soil alteration enhance the plant availability of REEs in soil fractions hold promise for phytoextraction and consequently an in situ bioremediation of the dump field.

6.1.4.3 Bioaccumulation Factor (BAF)

BAF values in plant species analyzed for REEs were range from 5.7 to 103.3 (**Figure 6.4**). Different plants accumulate different REEs in different concentrations. BAF value for each plant was found as; P1 31(La), P2 52.8 (Sc), P3 51.6 (Y), P4 18.4 (Ho), P5 5.7 (Sc), P6 21.6 7(Yb), P7 48 (Eu) and P8 103.3 (Yb). The results indicate that such BAF values are good in phytoextraction of REEs from the soils. Plants belonging to different families have the ability to uptake REEs from the soil and bioaccumulate. Uptake capacity of REEs usually follows the route from roots to shoot and shoot to leaves and finally from leaves to fruit. It is considered that all REEs are reduced to the divalent state during migration in plant body (Tian et al., 2003). The sum of the BAF for plant species varies as for P1 (143.39), P2 (219.16), P3 (230.87), P4 (103.91), P5 (23.49), P6 (118.97) P7 (299.87) and P8 (387.11) indicating hyperaccumulation of REEs.

Consistent with current findings, roots have the higher REEs concentration in plant species analyzed from the ex-mining area. The trends were quite similar to the previous work on the uptake of REEs in plants grown in the soils of mining areas and varying chemistry (Thomas et al., 2014, Zhenggui et al., 2001). Accumulation of REEs in the shoot and leaves lead to the most toxic effects on plants as this region considered of primary importance in photosynthesis.

6.2 Uptake capacity and bioavailability of REEs in abundantly wild plants

6.2.1 Plant species and their uptake capacities

Hyptis suaveolens L. is another fast growing herb belonging to family Lamiaceae, also found in tropics. This herb originated from tropical America, but now considered as

worldwide weed (Chukwujekwu et al., 2005, Vera-Arzave et al., 2012). *Albizia myriophillia* belong to the family Fabaceae and is abundant in most of the tropical and subtropical regions of the world. Commonly it is known as "Cha-em Thai" because of extensive use of this herb in traditional medicines (Joycharat et al., 2013). *Eleusine indica L* is an annual grass belongs to a family Poaceae and is also known for its medicinal properties (Malan and Neuba, 2011). Overall plant species with their habitats and uptake capacities are shown in **Table 6.1** and plants are represented in **Figure 6.1**.

Many metals have been previously found in medicinal plants (Hussain et al., 2011). Lahat ex-mining areas also have diversity of these plants grown onto the soil. Due to REEs abundance in nature as emerging pollutants, there is a need to ensure the presence and levels of concentration of REEs into the plants.

6.2.2 Distribution of REEs in soil from ex-tin mining areas

Good agreement between the analyzed and certified values was obtained for analyzed REEs. To assess linear adjustment of a data to linear model value ~ equal to 1 indicate good accuracy. In the calibration plot, the correlation coefficient (r^2) obtained was from 0.996 to 0.998, depending on the element. The accuracy and analytical precision of the measurements are reported as the percentage recovery (%), limit of detection (LOD), limit of quantification (LOQ) and CV % in **Table 3.4** as described earlier in chapter 3. The recoveries of REEs being analyzed were from 90 - 97 % for apple leaves (de Oliveira et al., 2016) and 82.3 – 100 % for spinach leaves. Quality control and element concentrations in this study were found satisfactory.

Physical parameters and the concentration of all REEs in the soils collected from different plant locations are reported in **Table 6.3.** pH of the soil ranged from 4.4 - 7.5. Electrical conductivity varied from 9.18-112.2 μ s cm⁻¹. Cation exchange capacity (CEC) was found from 9-32 cmol kg⁻¹. Organic matter content was in the range 5-21 %,

indicating less organic matter in the soil. Soil textural analysis showed soil rich of sand (~86 %). Lower pH values, CEC, and organic matter content increase the solubility of REEs in the soil (Cao et al., 2001, Khan et al., 2016). The average concentration of REEs in soil samples was 46 mg kg⁻¹.

In this study cerium (Ce) was detected at P1 in high concentration 420.5 mg kg⁻¹. Soils of the plant sample (P2) contain Ce 256.49 mg kg⁻¹. Neodymium (Nd) was found in maximum concentration at P10 (112.3 mg kg⁻¹) while P11 soil contain 88.64 mg kg⁻¹. Soils from sampling site P11 was found enriched with La concentration 94.69 mg kg⁻¹. Lanthanum and cerium at low concentration may not cause any problem, but at higher concentration cause significant damage to the ecosystem (Barry & Meehan, 2000). Yttrium was found in considerable amount only at P9 with 79.2 mg kg⁻¹. Europium (Eu) concentration was maximum at P9 (59.84 mg kg⁻¹). Gadolinium (Gd) and terbium (Tb) were same in soil P9 (42.26 mg kg⁻¹) while other REEs were below 40 mg kg⁻¹.

 Parameters	Hyptis suaveolens L.(P9)	Albizia myriophillia (P10)	Eleusine indica L.(P11)
 pH	4.4 ± 0.02	6.1 ± 0.05	6.4 ± 0.01
EC (µs/cm)	27.18 ± 0.11	9.72 ± 0.08	95.41 ± 0.24
CEC(cmol/kg)	30 ± 0.42	23 ± 0.19	11 ± 0.11
OM (%)	19 ± 0.16	19 ± 0.11	10 ± 0.08
Sc	39.89 ± 0.38	19.77 ± 0.24	42.52 ± 0.19
Y	79.2 ± 0.17	32.44 ± 0.11	28.63 ± 0.11
La	94.69 ± 0.33	35.48 ± 0.01	62.11 ± 0.22
Ce	420.5 ± 0.05	256.49 ± 0.17	176.16 ± 0.16
Pr	33.79 ± 0.25	8.24 ± 0.32	35.86 ± 0.11
Nd	112.3 ± 0.45	50.95 ± 0.22	88.64 ± 0.32
Eu	59.84 ± 0.17	1.45 ± 0.62	7.11 ± 0.44
Gd	42.26 ± 0.08	11.35 ± 0.03	32.65 ± 0.11
Tb	42.26 ± 0.43	18.74 ± 0.18	12.03 ± 0.26
Dy	18.66 ± 0.09	17.19 ± 0.15	15.08 ± 0.17
Но	12.12 ± 0.12	1.34 ± 0.24	2.18 ± 0.05
Er	43.5 ± 0.01	6.41 ± 0.01	10.22 ± 0.12
Tm	10.15 ± 0.55	8.18 ± 0.24	11.06 ± 0.36
Yb	38.23 ± 0.18	15.75 ± 0.22	5.63 ± 0.19
Lu	9.33 ± 0.35	1.72 ± 0.15	2.14 0.25

Table 6.3: Physical characteristics of the soil from ex-mining land and its distribution of REEs.

6.2.3 Determination of REEs in wild plant species (*Hyptis suaveolens L.*, *Albizia myriophillia and Eleusine indica L.*)

Development in industrialization such as mining, refining, smelting, along with the use of fertilizers and pesticides has caused the pollution of the environment. Soil is being much polluted environmental component by these heavy and rare earth metals (REEs). Previous studies show uptake of rare metals from mining area in considerable concentrations but little data is available for REEs (Dingjian, 2012, Liang et al., 2014, Tagami & Uchida, 2006). In turn plants are getting deposited by REEs and finally reaching the food chain (Kulhari et al., 2013). In this study significant differences in the uptake of REEs by analyzing parts (root, stem, leaves and flower) of all the medicinal plants were observed. Results explain the accuracy of data via SRM recovery, ranging from 95-102 % for apple leaves (1515a) (de Oliveira et al., 2016) and 83-110 % of spinach leaves (1570a) given in Table 3.4. The results of the analysis for REEs in the root, stem, leaves and flower of these plants are summarized in **Figure 6.5** and **Table 6.4**.

Root is the major organ of a plant that has the capacity to uptake REEs from the soil and transfer to other parts of the plant (Tagami & Uchida, 2006, Zhang et al., 2002). Root of *Hyptis suaveolens L* absorb 17.9 μ g g⁻¹ Ce, 12.65 μ g g⁻¹ Sc, 17.47 μ g g⁻¹ Nd, 16.21 μ g g⁻¹ La, 11.12 μ g g⁻¹ Y, 10.81 μ g g⁻¹ Gd, 6.93 μ g g⁻¹ Eu, 9.67 μ g g⁻¹ Pr, 9.2 μ g g⁻¹ Tb, 7.21 μ g g⁻¹ Dy and 9.56 μ g g⁻¹ Yb given in **Figure 6.5 (a).** Other REEs were found in low concentrations. Ce and Nd were in higher concentration in the root of *Hyptis suaveolens L*. The stem of the *Hyptis suaveolens L* (**Fig 6.5 a**) contains small concentrations of REEs having 4.12 μ g g⁻¹ for Gd and 3.17 μ g g⁻¹ La. Leaves contain the maximum amount of a Eu (7.98 μ g g⁻¹) and Ce (7.16 μ g g⁻¹). Previous study reported by Mishra and Tripathi (2009) also indicate the higher metal accumulation by *Hyptis suaveolens* (Mishra & Tripathi, 2009). By comparing the root, stem and leaves of *Hyptis suaveolens L* maximum amount of Ce (17.9 μ g g⁻¹) was found in the roots. This study concludes that most of the LREEs are taken up by the roots of the plants and transfer to other parts of the plant. Some REEs found to enhance the growth of the plants, but if these metals deposits in large amount then negative impacts can also be seen (von Tucher & Schmidhalter, 2005).

Sc, La, Nd and Ce are the major components of rare earth bearing mineral. Such minerals may be used in mining operations long ago but still remains of REEs have been found in the study area. The average concentration of LREEs and HREEs in roots found were 12.85 and 7.70 μ g g⁻¹ respectively given in **Table 6.4.** A study reported by Brioschi et al (2013) show high absorbance of REEs by the roots of plants from the soil. Uptake capacity of REEs is not only controlled by the plant itself but other factors such as soil speciation, concentration, pH and redox potential are also involved (Brioschi et al., 2013).

Albizia myriophillia has long been known for its medicinal properties and largely applied in Thai herbal medicines (Joycharat et al., 2013). For the first time, this plant was also evaluated for its REEs bioavailability. Stem, leaves and flower of this plant were analyzed and results are shown in **Figure 6.5 (b)** and **Table 6.4.** The stem of the *Albizia myriophillia* contains the highest amount of Ce (42.25 μ g g⁻¹) followed by La (35.66 μ g g⁻¹). Gd and Sc were also in significant quantities (20 μ g g⁻¹ and 19.65 μ g g⁻¹) respectively. Yttrium (Y) was present in 11.22 μ g g⁻¹ concentration. The Nd is also a constituent of monazite mineral found in 12.33 μ g g⁻¹ concentrations. The Nd has been used for a long time in magnets and other agricultural industries in making fertilizers. Pr in the stem was also in considerable amount (11.05 μ g g⁻¹).

REES	Hypti	is suaveolens L. (.	(6d	Albi	zia myriophillia (P	10)	El	eusine indica L. (PI	1)
		tolerant		ł	1 yperaccumulator			hyperaccumulator	
	(Root)	(Stem)	(Leaves)	(Stem)	(Leaves)	(Flower)	(Root)	(Leaves)	(Flower)
Sc	12.65 ± 0.82	2.25 ± 1.14	4.82 ± 1.14	19.65 ± 1.35	26.78 ± 1.16	4.62 ± 1.21	45.98 ± 0.73	82.22 ± 0.89	10.12 ± 1.07
Y	11.11 ± 0.61	6.55 ± 1.15	5.28 ± 1.0	11.12 ± 0.98	16.96 ± 0.90	3.55 ± 1.16	22.56 ± 0.75	53.05 ± 1.21	9.65 ± 1.04
La	16.21 ± 0.70	3.17 ± 0.78	6.97 ± 1.1	35.66 ± 1.08	22.34 ± 1.2	$\textbf{5.15}\pm\textbf{0.82}$	31.18 ± 0.88	52.66 ± 1.24	10.28 ± 0.95
Ce	17.9 ± 1.08	1.3 ± 1.22	7.16 ± 0.88	42.25 ± 0.99	31.54 ± 1.28	6.96 ± 0.84	62.01 ± 1.07	115.52 ± 0.96	16.52 ± 1.19
Pr	9.67 ± 1.04	2.11 ± 1.16	5.96 ± 0.96	11.05 ± 1.05	15.22 ± 1.31	2.02 ± 1.28	16.85 ± 0.96	25.15 ± 1.12	2.33 ± 1.25
Nd	17.47 ± 1.26	2.22 ± 0.86	6.85 ± 0.83	12.33 ± 1.23	16.85 ± 0.93	1.11 ± 1.09	25.65 ± 1.58	26.33 ± 1.07	1.95 ± 0.87
Eu	6.93 ± 1.1	1.58 ± 1.18	7.98 ± 1.2	7.95 ± 1.05	8.7 ± 0.95	0.69 ± 0.76	13.31 ± 1.25	8.53 ± 0.96	0.28 ± 0.65
Gd	10.81 ± 1.23	4.12 ± 1.01	5.32 ± 1.13	20.00 ± 1.11	19.77 ± 1.44	3.44 ± 1.05	31.08 ± 1.28	51.92 ± 1.32	7.3 ± 0.82
LREEs	12.85 ± 1.08	2.29 ± 1.63	6.29 ± 1.24	18.85 ± 0.58	18.77 ± 1.65	3.32 ± 1.15	30.80 ± 1.08	49.96 ± 1.56	7.16 ± 0.95
Тр	9.2 ± 0.97	2.65 ± 0.87	6.24 ± 1.33	6.92 ± 0.84	10.95 ± 0.88	3.55 ± 1.01	15.08 ± 0.89	32.63 ± 1.08	2.65 ± 1.12
Dy	7.21 ± 1.07	3.43 ± 1.1	5.61 ± 0.95	9.41 ± 0.88	12.14 ± 1.08	1.88 ± 0.87	18.61 ± 0.68	46.01 ± 0.85	4.95 ± 0.75
Но	6.48 ± 0.85	1.21 ± 1.38	7.11 ± 1.19	4.63 ± 0.85	7.22 ± 0.81	1.59 ± 1.03	16.22 ± 0.95	12.93 ± 0.89	1.17 ± 1.15
Er	6.95 ± 1.22	3.58 ± 1.29	4.34 ± 1.46	7.55 ± 0.98	11.35 ± 1.12	2.65 ± 0.83	10.25 ± 1.11	23.95 ± 0.86	3.33 ± 1.16
Tm	8.42 ± 0.98	0.69 ± 1.38	2.98 ± 1.34	9.69 ± 1.27	7.47±1.18	3.77 ± 1.15	12.35 ± 1.23	8.32 ± 0.98	1.05 ± 1.35
Yb	9.56 ± 1.24	1.92 ± 0.94	6.62 ± 1.11	14.69 ± 0.97	12.15 ± 1.23	4.25 ± 1.22	23.66 ± 1.35	37.69 ± 1.16	4.55 ± 1.04
Lu	6.11 ± 1.37	1.77 ± 1.16	4.35 ± 1.41	5.05 ± 0.94	2.11 ± 1.38	0.42 ± 0.78	7.58 ± 0.91	2.11 ± 1.32	0.69 ± 1.14
HREs	7.70 ± 1.11	2.18 ± 0.45	5.32 ± 1.33	8.28 ± 1.44	9.06 ± 0.36	2.59 ± 1.87	14.82 ± 2.05	23.38 ± 0.88	2.63 ± 1.35

Table 6.4: Mean concentrations(µg g⁻¹) of REEs in plant parts analyzed along with LREEs and HREEs.



Figure 6.6: Concentration of rare earth elements (REEs) in wild plants collected from the study area.

After analyzing the data for REEs it was found that LREEs are more accumulated by the plant than HREEs. LREEs have more potential mobility in the soil than heavy rare earth elements (HREEs). The leaves of the *Albizia myriophillia* were found hyper accumulator for nearly all REEs (**Figure 6.5 b**). Ce was in maximum concentration (31.54 μ g g⁻¹) accumulated in the leaves. Sc was the second rare earth element in higher concentration 26.78 μ g g⁻¹ followed by La (22.34 μ g g⁻¹) while Nd, Gd, Y, Pr and Eu were also investigated in concentrations 16.85, 19.77, 16.96, 15.22 and 8.7 μ g g⁻¹ respectively.

Among HREEs Tb, Dy, Ho, Er, Tm, Yb and Lu were also in significant quantities with 10.95, 12.14, 7.22, 11.35, 7.47, 12.15 and 2.11 μ g g⁻¹ respectively. Average LREEs were found in 11.75 μ g g⁻¹ while HREEs were 9.39 μ g g⁻¹. Flower of this plant has been extensively used in the medical purposed for medicines. Flower was found to accumulate and deposit with less REEs. The maximum amount was found for Ce (6.96 μ g g⁻¹).

Eleusine indica L, another medicinal plant widely applied in herbal treatments. In the present investigation, this plant was found in the accumulation of REEs. Previous studies reported by Adallah et al (2012) and Tela et al (2012) indicate the bioaccumulation of metals by the *Eleusine indica L*. (Abdallah et al., 2012, Tela et al., 2012). Anh et al (2011) reported the very high uptake capacity of Pb (0.15-0.65 %) and Zn (0.22-1.6 %) in the roots of *Eleusine indica L* (Anh et al., 2011).

The results from current study indicate that compared to other plant species analyzed *Eleusine indica L*, absorb more REEs from the soil through the roots and transport to other aerial parts as well shown in **Figure 6.5 (c)**. Ce in the roots of this plant was highest (62.01 μ g g⁻¹) of all the roots. Sc was also found associated with roots in 45.98 μ g g⁻¹ concentration. Concentration of La was observed 31.18 μ g/g which was about the double

in the roots of *Hyptis suaveolens L*. Nd was also accumulated and taken up from the soil in considerable quantity (25.65 μ g g⁻¹). Uptake capacity of Nd found approximately the same in all plants. Y, Pr, Eu and Gd were 22.56, 16.85, 13.31 and 31.08 μ g g⁻¹, respectively. HREEs were also found in much higher concentrations compared to other plants given in **Figure 6.6** (de Araújo et al., 2012). Tb, Dy, Ho, Er, Tm, Yb and Lu were found in concentration 15.08, 18.61, 16.22, 10.25, 12.35, 23.66 and 7.58 μ g g⁻¹, respectively.

REEs in the leaves of *Eleusine indica L* found enriched with Ce (115.52 μ g g⁻¹) compared to the leaves of other medicinal plants. Such high concentration indicates the ability of the Ce to get absorbed by the roots and transfer to plants (Ichihashi et al., 1992). Another reason for higher deposition of REEs could be the atmospheric deposition on the surface of leaves. Sc, Y, La, Pr, Nd, Eu and Gd were 82.22, 53.05, 52.66, 25.15, 26.33, 8.53 and 51.92 μ g g⁻¹, respectively. HREEs were in varying concentrations. Tb, Dy, Ho, Er, Tm, Yb and Lu were found in concentrations 32.63, 46.01, 12.93, 23.95, 8.32, 37.69 and 2.11 μ g g⁻¹ respectively. Flower of *Eleusine indica L* shows concentration higher than *Albizia myriophillia*. In the flower part of *Eleusine indica L*. Ce was found in maximum concentration (16.52 μ g g⁻¹). In the present study, a wide range of variations in the concentration of all REEs has been found in all plant samples analyzed.

The transfer factor (TF), bioconcentration factor (BCF) and bioaccumulation factor (BAF) of rare earth elements (REEs) in different medicinal plants grown on the ex-mining soil were analyzed are given in **Figure 6.7**. Such factors have been widely applied for REEs for many years and considered much more important for evaluating their behaviour in soil-plant system (Ndeda and Manohar, 2014). Sequence of TF, BCF and BAF for REEs was: *Eleusine indica L.> Albizia myriophillia >Hyptis suaveolens L*.



Figure 6.7: The uptake capacity of wild plants for light rare earth elements (LREEs) and heavy rare earth elements (HREEs).

Transfer factor (TF) was highest in *Eleusine indica L*. for Dy (2.47) followed by Y (2.3) and Tb (2.3) whereas Sc, Y, La, Ce, Pr, Nd, Gd, Tb, Er, and Yb have values > 1. In *Albizia myriophillia* most of the LREEs such as Sc, Y, Pr, Nd and Eu have TF> 1. Y was found with TF value of 1.5. Compared to other plant species, REEs in *Hyptis suaveolens L*. do not have TF> 1 suggesting that nearly all rare metals are concentrated into the soil or roots of the plant, but TF< 1 explains the REEs tolerance ability for *Hyptis suaveolens* (**Figure 6.7 a**). The result suggested that the rare earth metals (REEs) having TF> 1 can be effectively translocated from roots to the shoot and other parts of the plant. Transfer factor is mostly correlated to the mass fraction of metals in the soil and physico-chemical properties. Toxicity of the metals is directly related to their concentration which is correlated to distribution, mobility, transfer to other environments and bioavailability (Ji et al., 2004, Hongbing et al., 2010).

Bioconcentration factor (BCF) was found highest for Ce (2.72) in *Eleusine indica L* and for other REEs was found with greater than 1 such as Sc (1.9), Y (1.2), La (1.2), Gd (1.1), Dy (1.0) and Yb (1). *Albizia myriophillia* also show BCF > 1 for Sc (1.3), La (1.1), Ce (1.5), Gd (1.0), Dy (1.0), Er (1.0) and Yb (1.1) *Hyptis suaveolens* show BCF< 1 for all REEs (**Figure 6.7 b**). Higher BCF values of *Eleusine indica L* and *Albizia myriophillia* may be due to decreased potential of soil water, dilution of rare earth elements (REEs) and precipitation that enhanced the plant growth (Agyarko et al., 2010). Bioavailability of the REEs largely depends on the internal and external environmental factors. Such factors make them hyperaccumulators for REEs and these plants because of their metal uptake capacity can be used for phytoremediation purpose.



Figure 6.8: Transfer factor (TF), bioconcentration factor (BCF) and bioaccumulation factor (BAF) of wild plants studied for REEs.

Bioaccumulation factor (BAF) of REEs in *Eleusine indica L* and *Albizia myriophillia* was highest for Ce (4.5) and (4.0), respectively. Other REEs in were found with BAF as Sc (3.2), Y (2.0), La (2.2), Pr (1.04), Nd (1.2), Gd (2.1), Tb (1.5), Dy (2.1), Er (1.1) and Yb (2.0) shown in **Figure 6.7 (c)**. *Albizia myriophillia* plant from mining area also shows bioaccumulation capacity for all REEs except Eu and Lu. *Hyptis suaveolens L*. has BAF factor < 1 for all REEs showing same trend as for TF and BCF. Bioaccumulation factor (BAF) decreases with increasing soil rare earth metal concentration (Efroymson et al., 2001, Zhao et al., 2003). Bioaccumulation factor (BAF) for each plant was different according to the nature of the plant and studied parts. Most of the REEs were found to accumulate in the leaves and roots of the studied medicinal plants while the stem and flower show less bioaccumulation.

For the phytoremediation of REEs from soil, an efficient tool for the plant should be higher than 1. In this study, BCF and BAF were > 1 for most of the REEs in *Eleusine indica L* and *Albizia myriophillia* suggesting their high performance in phytoremediation of pollution from soil. From the results, it is represented that all plants show different behaviour for REEs from each other.

6.3 Bioavailability of LREES in *Ricinus communis L.* and unique *Emilia* sonchifolia plants

Ricinus communis L. (Castor bean) is a widely grown plant on mining land because of its high resistance towards metal tolerance, belongs to family Euphorbiaceae. This plant has been previously used for phytoremediation of metals (Olivares et al., 2013). *Ricinus communis L.* has the ability to withstand all types of weather and climatic conditions. Many researchers also found this plant as source of bioenergy rather than as food (Rajkumar & Freitas, 2008). *Emilia sonchifolia* is an annual herb belonging to Astraceae, commonly known as lilac tassel flower and setumbak Merah in Malaysia. This plant has been previously used as antioxidant, anticancerous and for medicinal purposes (Essien et al., 2009). In this research these species have been evaluated for the first time for light rare earth elements (LREEs) shown in **Figure 6.1**. Beside, their use in food and in medical purpose, the current study focuses on their uptake capacity and bioavailability of very common and important REEs such as light rare earth elements. These plants were found in the mining areas from different regions. It was very interesting to know their rare metal capacity.

6.3.1 Rare earth elements (REEs) uptake in the soil

Soil samples were analyzed for their physical properties and light rare earth elements (LREEs) and results are given in **Table 6.5.** pH of the soil of *Ricinus communis L*. (P12) was 6 whereas of *Emilia sonchifolia* was less about 5.3. Electrical conductivity values for both the plants found were 52.9 (μ S cm⁻¹) and 15.9 (μ S cm⁻¹). It was found that the soil where *Ricinus communis L*. was grown contains more metal ions than other plant species.

 Soil Parameters	Ricinus Communis L.	Emilia Sonchifolia
 рН	6.0 ± 0.08	5.3 ± 0.24
EC(µS cm ⁻¹)	52.9 ± 0.11	15.9 ± 0.31
CEC(cmol kg ⁻¹)	16.0 ± 0.15	21.0 ± 0.04
MC (%)	8.0 ± 0.44	32.0 ± 0.28
OM (%)	21.0 ± 0.11	12.0 ± 0.15
Sc	44.6 ± 0.04	30.17 ± 0.18
Y	15.5 ± 0.22	35.26 ± 0.65
La	62.88 ± 0.40	55.69 ± 0.36
Ce	74.58 ± 0.05	76.27 ± 0.16
Pr	24.75 ± 0.11	20.65 ± 0.23
Nd	92.6 ± 0.37	80.36 ± 0.59

Table 6.5: Physico-chemical parameters of soil collected and analyzed for LREEs.

*all REEs measured in units mg kg⁻¹

Cation exchange capacity (CEC) was 16 cmol kg⁻¹ and 21 cmol kg⁻¹ for both plant species analyzed. Moisture content was found high for *Emilia sonchifolia* soil but organic matter content was found high in *Ricinus communis L*. Among the LREEs Sc, La, Pr and

Nd were high in the soils of *Ricinus communis L* whereas Y and Ce were abandoned in *Emilia sonchifolia*. Results were confirmed by using SRM values for reference which is shown in **Table 3.4**.

6.3.2 LREEs uptake capacity and bioavailability in plants

Different parts of these plants after being prepared were studied for LREEs. Their concentration varies in different parts of same plants and also compared to other plant specie analyzed. Results obtained have been shown in **Table 6.6** and **Figure 6.8**. For every plant grown in any kind of soil, root play an important role for its growth and nutrition. Root of *Ricinus communis L*. absorb Sc 22.1 (μ g g⁻¹), Y 6.7 (μ g g⁻¹), La 36.5 (μ g g⁻¹), Ce 66.1 (μ g g⁻¹), Pr 11.4 (μ g g⁻¹) and Nd 35.1 (μ g g⁻¹). Leaves of this plant contain Ce (35.5 μ g g⁻¹) in highest concentration. La was detected in 25.5 μ g g⁻¹ while Sc was 18.6 μ g g⁻¹.

	Ricir	us Communis (Cast	tor)	Emilia Sonchifolia (lilac tassel flower)			
Elements		(µg g ⁻¹)			(µg g ⁻¹)		
	Root	Stem	Leaves	Root	Stem	Leaves	
Sc	22.1 ±0.21	15.5 ± 0.14	18.6 ± 0.05	6.5 ±0.13	2.5 ±0.42	19.5 ± 0.55	
Y	6.7 ±0.01	3.5 ± 0.65	6.3 ±0.22	3.2 ±0.11	0.8 ± 0.01	5.2 ± 0.13	
La	36.5 ± 0.55	18.1 ± 0.62	25.5 ± 0.28	22.2 ± 0.04	$6.9{\pm}~0.09$	35.5 ± 0.17	
Ce	66.1 ± 0.63	12.2 ± 0.59	35.5 ± 0.11	41 ± 0.27	11.5 ± 0.11	48.2 ± 0.22	
Pr	11.4 ± 0.05	2.2 ± 0.26	$4.6{\pm}~0.08$	3.4 ± 0.14	1.1 ± 0.04	12.5 ± 0.11	
Nd	35.1 ± 0.28	6.5 ± 0.18	20 ± 0.36	16.5 ± 0.25	2.05 ± 0.34	10.6 ± 0.12	

Table 6.6: Concentrations of LREEs in different parts of plant species analyzed.

This plant is considered as high biomass and has the capability to take up metals from soil. Previous studies show its high uptake capacity for certain metals. This plant is considered as hyperaccumulator for heavy metals (Abreu et al., 2012). In this study it was found for light rare earth elements (LREEs). Roots of *Ricinus communis L*. were high in LREEs represented in **Figure 6.8 (a)**. *Emilia sonchifolia* (P13) was also studied

for its rare metal uptake capacity. This plant is a fast growing specie among its family. Ce was high in leaves (48.2 μ g g⁻¹) as shown in **Figure 6.8 (b)**.



Figure 6.9: Concentration of light rare earth elements (LREEs) in plants stem, root and leaves of (a) *Ricinus Communis L*. root shows greater uptake capacity of LREEs from soil (b) *Emilia Sonchifolia* leaves were found loaded with LREEs.

The transfer factor (TF), bioconcentration factor (BCF) and bioaccumulation factor (BAF) of light rare earth elements (LREEs) in these plants grown on the ex-mining soil were also analyzed. Such factors have been widely applied for REEs for many years and considered much important for evaluating their behaviour in soil-plant system (Ndeda & Manohar, 2014). Transfer factor is mostly correlated to the mass fraction of metals in the soil and physico-chemical properties.

In this study for Ricinus *communis L*. TF factor was found less than 1 which shows the lower transfer of LREEs from roots to the shoots **Figure 6.9** (a). This is the reason that most of LREEs were concentrated in the roots and acting as accumulator. BCF factor was also found less than 1. Lower BCF values may be due to increased potential of soil water, dilution of LREEs and low precipitation that decrease the plant growth (Agyarko et al., 2010). BAF factor was > 1 for Y, La and Ce. For the removal of pollutants from the soil and keep it as green it is good having BAF >1 meaning that such plants can be used for phytoremediation.

Emilia sonchifolia (lilac tassel flower) show very low TF from roots to shoots given in **Figure 6.9 (b)**. Most of the LREEs were concentrated in the roots and very less were found in shoots. BCF was also < 1 for all LREEs whereas BAF was > 1 for La and Ce. Comparing the uptake capacity and accumulation behavior it was concluded that most of the REEs were mainly present in the roots while both plants have the capability to accumulate these rare metals in them. Both plant species used in this study were found with considerable amounts of LREEs. Ce, La and Y were mainly found in roots and leaves of the plants.



Figure 6.10: Transfer factor (TF), bioconcentration factor (BCF) and bioaccumulation factor (BAF) of (a) *Ricinus Communis L.* and (b) *Emilia sonchifolia* studied for REEs.

Shoots were low in these rare elements. BCF and BAF were > 1 for some elements indicating that these plants can be used for phytoremediation of light rare earth elements from contaminated soil. So far no study has been found previously for REEs in these plants.

Summary

REEs uptake capacity and plant bioavailability has been focused in this chapter. Plants belonging to ex-mining areas were collected and analyzed using their different parts. In this study plants which were commonly found, abundantly found and some unique species on mining land were selected for LREEs evaluation. Different environmental factors such as TF, BCF and BAF were calculated to check their uptake capacity and bioavailability.
CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSION

The water, sediment, soil and plant collected from the ex-mining area in Kinta valley, Perak were studied for REEs concentration, speciation and bioavailability using ICP-MS as a major elemental technique. This research has confirmed the presence of REEs in the soils of the ex-mining area in Perak, Malaysia. All the REEs except samarium have been detected in the soil samples at different levels. This ex-mining area showed elevated levels of REEs concentration, indicating the impacts of mining and anthropogenic activities that had been stopped years ago. The concentration of Ce in a mining lake water sample was found highest with an average value of 46.50 µg g⁻¹ while Yb and La were found with average values of 18.23 and 17.77 µg g⁻¹, respectively. The decreasing trend of REEs concentration in lake waters was as follows: Ce > Yb > La > Sc > Tm > Y> Er > Dy > Nd > Pr > Gd > Lu > Eu > Ho > Tb. River water also contains average concentrations of Ce, Yb and La with 29.95, 12.66 and 11.51 µg g⁻¹, respectively. In Kinta river water different trend in concentration of REEs compared to mining lake water was found. The order of decreasing concentration trend in Kinta water can be represented as follows: Ce > Yb > La > Tm > Sc > Nd > Er > Pr > Dy > Y > Gd > Lu > Tb > Eu > Ho.

In sediment, La was found in much higher concentration with an average value of 765.8 mg kg⁻¹. Increase in the pH can leach the REEs from the surface of sediments and disperse them as ions. The decreasing trend of REEs in the sediment samples from ten stations is given as: La > Ce> Dy> Y> Gd > Pr > Sc > Nd > Yb > Er > Tm > Eu >Lu > Ho > Tb. Soil samples analyzed from three different depths showed variations in distribution of REEs in the ex-mining area. pH of the soil ranges from acidic to neutral while CEC and organic matter content were found low. Electrical conductivity was found high in some sampling locations. Sandy deposits were mostly found in the abandoned mining area. In comparison with different depths, an upper layer of the soil was found

enriched with REEs and other two layers having less concentration in general. The current findings also suggest the enrichment of LREEs in all layers of soil than HREEs and sourced from rare earths bearing mineral (e.g. monazite) and previous mining activities in the area.

The REEs decreasing concentration trends in the surface soil (0-20 cm) were found as: Ce > Nd > La > Y> Sc > Gd > Pr> Tb > Yb > Dy >Er > Tm > Eu > Ho > Lu. In the middle soil layer (21-40 cm) terbium (Tb) and promethium (Pr) show trend in different concentration than other elements. The decreasing trend for middle soil for all REEs analyzed can be represented as follows: Ce > Nd > La > Y> Sc > Gd > Tb > Yb > Dy > Pr > Tm > Eu > Er > Ho > Lu. The deeper the soil layer (41-60 cm) REEs show somewhat different distribution. In this layer, yttrium (Y) was found higher in concentration than lanthanum (La) in the surface and middle soil layers. Gd and Er were also found high in concentration than other HREEs. The decreasing trend of REEs in this layer was found as: Ce > Nd > Y > La > Sc > Tb > Yb > Gd > Dy > Pr > Er > Tm > Eu > Ho > Lu.

It can be concluded from the given trends that LREEs are more abundant and have high distribution in the soil than HREEs. The results from the experimental study and statistical data evaluation of the three different soil depths profile clearly define abandoned mines still loaded, depleted and distributed with all the REEs and considered as a major source of major elements such as Ce, La, Nd, Sc, and Y. Moreover, separation of soil samples based on sampling depths into two clusters was made possible by PCA and HCA. The discriminating factors were the concentrations of the rare elements such as La, Ce, Gd, Nd, Tm, Pr, Sc, Er, Eu, Tb, Ho, Lu, Yb, and Dy. Different environmental risk assessment has shown that top soil is much polluted with rare earth, but less polluted in deeper layers. It can conclude from the study that presence of rare earth in the topsoil layer of the mining area is good for it can be remediated by using safe and suitable methods in order to prevent the environment from harmful effects which now a day's world is bearing.

Speciation study in sediments reveals REEs were abundant in the exchangeable fraction, indicating that these could be easily released to the aquatic environment by making complexes with other ions. In fraction I (AEC), the highest REE found was Y in (46.2 %), in fraction II (Amorphous Fe oxyhydroxide) was Tm (13.1 %), in fraction III (Crystalline Fe oxyhydroxides) was Tb (12.7 %), fraction IV (sulphides & organics) (22.9 %) and in fraction V (silicate & residuals) was La (41.1 %). The average potential mobility of the REEs can be arranged in decreasing order for sediment as follows: Yb> Gd> Y=Dy> Pr> Er> Tm> Eu> Nd>Tb> Sc> Lu> Ce> La. Elevated average potential mobility of Yb (67.3 %) in sediment samples implying that under favorable conditions they can be released to pollute the environment.

Speciation study in soil samples reveals the presence of most of the REEs in the AEC and the residual fraction of sequential extraction with the increase in the percentage of organic matter content with increasing soil depth but subsoil (21-40 cm) found enriched. AEC fraction indicate easy exchanged, removal and co-precipitation of REEs from the soil in the surrounding environment. Surface soil (0-20 cm) was affected and polluted with respect to mining activities while subsoil (21-40 cm) and deeper (41-60 cm) soil was less affected. REEs also evaluated as immobile due to higher percentages in residual fraction. Minor amounts of REEs are associated with crystalline and amorphous Fe oxyhydroxides. All samples from the soil depth profiles in abandoned mines were found rich in LREEs compared to HREEs. Potential mobility indicates REEs ability to transfer to other components of an ecosystem. Fractionation of REEs through speciation in soil depth profile suggest that changes in physico-chemical and geological conditions can cause variations in distribution and potential mobility through soil to other environments. Potential mobility of REEs in surface soil vary as follows: Sc > Y > Tb > Tm > Yb > Eu > Dy > Lu > Ho > Pr > Er > Nd > Ce > Gd. Middle and deeper soil layer REEs potential mobility varies more than surface soil. Decreasing trends of potential mobility for middle soil can be shown as: La > Nd > Y > Ce > Lu > Tb > Yb > Sc > Er > Gd > Pr > Dy > Eu > Tm > Ho. Deeper soil layers show much variations in potential mobility that may be due to change in physical characteristics such as pH, organic matter content, cation exchange capacity and moisture content. The decreasing order of potential mobility for deeper soil can be represented as: <math>Eu > Pr > Er > Dy > Tm > Yb > Tb > Gd > La > Nd > Ho > Sc > Ce > Lu > Y.

After analyzing the soil and plant samples, it was found that environment of the exmining area due to mining activities has been changed in past few decades. High amount of REEs through various transport processes released into the environment, accumulated in different parts of the plants and get bioavailable. The current study indicates most of the plants grown in ex-mining area rich in REEs. Plants belonging to different families indicate most of them hyperaccumulator, some accumulator while others tolerant to REEs uptake from the soil. Dicranopteris dichotoma., Dicranopteris linearis(Burn) (B), Cyperus distans L., Cyperus rotundus L. were found as hyperaccumulators and Dicranopteris linearis(Burn) (A) and Cyperus kyllingia Rottb.as accumulator while Melastoma malabathricum L. and as hyper tolerant and Cyperus difformis Rottb.as tolerant. Order of uptake capacity for REEs for all plant species was found as follows: roots> leaves> stem> flower. LREEs were found more in studying plants than HREEs. Bioavailability of LREEs in the soil and plants, mostly affected by the pH that plays a key role in their behavior in the environment. Translocation factor (TF), bioconcentration factor (BCF) and bioaccumulation factor (BAF) were also calculated. TF was found more than 1 in Cyperus kyllingia Rottb and Cyperus distans L. BCF was found highest in Cyperus distans L. (P7) and higher for all other plants. Bioaccumulation factor (BAF) was highest in *Cyperus rotundus L*. describing much uptake capacity and bioavailability of the plant to REEs from the soil. All other plants also found with the high amount of BAF. The increase in these accumulation factors reveals the harmful effects of REEs in the environment and toxicity. The results also conclude that most plant species grown in mining area have the ability to accumulate and transfer REEs. If such plants are removed from deep down the soil, this could be a good phytoremediators for the removal of REEs from the ex-mining area soil.

REFERENCES

- Abdallah, S., Uzairu, A., & Kagbu, J. (2012). Assessment of heavy metals bioaccumulation by Eleusine indica from refuse dumpsites in Kaduna Metropolis, Nigeria. *Journal of Environmental Chemistry and Ecotoxicology*, 4(9), 153-160.
- Adamu, H., Luter, L., Lawan, M. M., & Umar, B. A. (2013). Chemical speciation: a strategic pathway for insightful risk assessment and decision making for remediation of toxic metal contamination. *Environment and Pollution*, 2(3), 92-99.
- Aggelides, S. M., & Londra, P. A. (2000). Effects of compost produced from town wastes and sewage sludge on the physical properties of a loamy and a clay soil. *Bioresource technology*, 71(3), 253-259.
- Agyarko, K., Darteh, E., & Berlinger, B. (2010). Metal levels in some refuse dump soils and plants in Ghana. *Plant Soil Environment*, *56*(5), 244-251.
- Ahmad, S., Chaudhry, M. S., & Qureshi, I. H. (1984). Determination of rare earth elements impurities in high purity uranium. *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry*, 83(2), 201-208.
- Aiju, L., Yanchun, G., Honghai, W., & Peiling, G. G. (2012). An Assessment of Heavy Metals Contamination in Xiaofu River Sediments through Chemical Speciation Study. *International Journal of Earth Sciences*, 5(5), 1235-1240.
- Aigbodion, V. S., AbdulRasheed, A., Olajide, S. O., Agunsoye, J. O., & Sulaiman, I. Y. (2010). Potential of tin tailings an industrial waste for refractory materials. *Journal of Minerals and Materials Characterization and Engineering*, 9(2), 123-131.
- Aiken, S. R., Leigh, C. H., Leinbach, T. R., & Moss, M. R. (1982). Development and Environment in Peninsular Malaysia. McGraw-Hill Southeast Asia Series, Singapore.
- Aikpokpodion, P. E., Lajide, L., & Aiyesanmi, A. F. (2013). Characterization of Heavy Metal Fractions in Agrizcultural Soils Using Sequential Extraction Technique. *World Journal Agricultural Science*, 9(1), 45-52.
- Al-Adamat, R., Al-Fugara, A., Al-Kouri, O., & Taher, S. (2014). Geohazard Evaluation of Bukit Merah/ Malaysia using Geospatial Information Technique. *Civil and Environmental Research*, 6(10), 44-59.
- Alonso, E., Santos, A., Callejón, M., & Jiménez, J. (2004). Speciation as a screening tool for the determination of heavy metal surface water pollution in the Guadiamar river basin. *Chemosphere*, 56(6), 561-570.
- Andrew, J. S. (2003). Potential application of mediation to land use conflicts in small-scale mining. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 11(2), 117-130.
- Anh, B. T. K., Kim, D. D., Tua, T. V., Kien, N. T., & Anh, D. T. (2011). Phytoremediation potential of indigenous plants from Thai Nguyen province, Vietnam. *Journal of Environmental Biology*. 32(2), 257-262.

- Ariffin, K. S. (2009). Sediment Hosted Primary Tin Deposit Associated with Biotite Granite and Fault Zone at Gunung Paku, Klian Intan, Upper Perak, Malaysia. *Resource Geology*, 59(3), 282-294.
- Aqeel Ashraf, M., Jamil Maah, M., Yusoff, I., & Ghararibreza, M. (2015). Speciation of heavy metals in the surface waters of a former tin mining catchment. *Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability*, 24(1), 1-12.
- Ashraf, M. A., J.Maah, M., & Yusoff, I. (2012). Chemical Speciation and Potential Mobility of Heavy Metals in the Soil of Former TinMining Catchment. *The Scientific World Journal*, 1-11.
- Ashraf, M. A., Maah, M. J., Yusoff, I., Wajid, A., & Mahmood, K. (2011). Sand mining effects, causes and concerns: a case study from Bestari Jaya, Selangor, Peninsular Malaysia. *Scientific Research and Essays*, 6(6), 1216-1231.
- Astrom, M., & Nylund, K. (2000). Impact of historical metal works on the concentrations of major and trace elements in sediments: a case study in Finland. Applied Geochemistry, 15(6), 817-870.
- Australia, G. (2013). *Australia's Identified Mineral Resources*. Commonwealth of Australia Canberra, *Pg. 184*.
- Babula, P., Adam, V., Opatrilova, R., Zehnalek, J., Havel, L., & Kizek, R. (2008). Uncommon heavy metals, metalloids and their plant toxicity: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 6(4), 189-213.
- Balabanova, B., Stafilov, T., & Šajn, R. (2015). Lithological distribution of rare earth elements in automorphic and alluvial soils in the Bregalnica river basin. *Macedonian Journal of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering*, 34(1), 201-212.
- Balabanova, B., Stafilov, T., Sajn, R., & Baceva, K. (2013). Spatial Distribution and Characterization of Some Toxic Metals and Lithogenic Elements in Topsoil and Subsoil from Copper Mine Environs: Soil Monitoring for Anthropogenic and Lithogenic Elements Distribution. *International Journal of Environmental Protection*, 3(9), 1-9.
- Barkemeyer, R., Stringer, L. C., Hollins, J. A., & Josephi, F. (2015). Corporate reporting on solutions to wicked problems: Sustainable land management in the mining sector. *Environmental science & policy*, 48, 196-209.
- Barkouch, Y., & Pineau, A. (2015). Speciation of four heavy metals in agricultural soils around DraaLasfarmine area in Marrakech (Morocco). *Pollution, 3*, 257-264.
- Barume, B., Naeher, U., Ruppen, D., & Schütte, P. (2016). Conflict minerals (3TG): Mining production, applications and recycling. *Current Opinion in Green and Sustainable Chemistry*, 1, 8-12.
- Bayon, G., Barrat, J. A., Etoubleau, J., Benoit, M., Bollinger, C., & Révillon, S. (2009). Determination of rare earth elements, Sc, Y, Zr, Ba, Hf and Th in geological samples by ICP-MS after Tm addition and alkaline fusion. *Geostandards and Geoanalytical Research*, 33(1), 51-62.

- Bergmann, A. (2005). Lanthanoiden. World Wide Web. http://www.uni-bayreuth.de/. Accessed 15. September 2005.
- Binnemans, K., Jones, P. T., Blanpain, B., Van Gerven, T., Yang, Y., Walton, A., & Buchert, M. (2013). Recycling of rare earths: a critical review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 51, 1-22.
- Bogatikov, O. A., Kononova, V. A., & Golubeva, Y. Y. (2004). Petrochemistry and geochemistry variations of the composition of kimberlites of Yakutia and their causes.(in Rus.) *Geokhimiya*, *9*, 915-939.
- Bohn, R., Neal, B. M., & Conner, O. (1985). Soil Chemistry. 2nd Edition John Wiley & Sons New York, Pg. 320.
- Bonev, N., Dilek, Y., Hanchar, J., Bogdanov, K., & Klain, L. (2012). Nd-Sr-Pb isotopic composition and mantle sources of triassic rift units in the Serbo-Macedonian and the western Rhodope massifs (Bulgaria-Greece). *Geological Magazine*, 149, 146-152.
- Borrego, J., Carro, B., López-González, N., De La Rosa, J., Grande, J.A., Gómez, T., De La Torre, ML(2012). Effect of acid mine drainage on dissolved rare earth elements geochemistry along a fluvial-estuarine system: The Tinto-Odiel Estuary (S.W. Spain). *Hydrology Research 43*, 262-274.
- Brereton, R. G. (2003). *Chemometrics: data analysis for the laboratory and chemical plant*. John Wiley & Sons.Bristol, UK, *Pg. 504*.
- Brioschi, L., Steinmann, M., Lucot, E., Pierret, M.-C., Stille, P., Prunier, J., & Badot, P.-M. (2013). Transfer of rare earth elements (REE) from natural soil to plant systems: implications for the environmental availability of anthropogenic REE. *Plant and Soil*, 366(1-2), 143-163.
- Bulman, R. A. (2003). Metabolism and Toxicity of the Lanthanides, in: Sigel, A., Sigel, H. (Eds.), The Lanthanides and their interrelations with biosystems Marcel Dekker, New York, 40, 683-706.
- Buat-Menard, P., & Chesselet, R. (1979). Variable influence of the atmospheric flux on the trace metal chemistry of oceanic suspended matter. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 42(3), 399-411.
- Bwire, O. S., Lyons, W., B., Kathy, A. W., Robert, J. P., & Karen, H. J. (2003). Strontium isotopes and rare earth elements as tracers of groundwaterlake water interactions, Lake Naivasha, Kenya, *Applied Geochemistry.*, 18, 1789-1805.
- Calvert,J.(2005).RareEarths.WorldWideWeb.http://www.du.edu/~jcalvert/phys/rare.htm, 2005. Accessed 15. September 2005.
- Calvert, J.B. (2003). Rare Earths. World Wide Web. http://www.du.edu/~jcalvert/phys/rare. htm, 2003. Accessed 15. September 2003.
- Cao, X., Chen, Y., Wang, X., & Deng, X. (2001). Effects of redox potential and pH value on the release of rare earth elements from soil. *Chemosphere*, 44(4), 655-661.

- Cao, X., Wang, X., & Zhao, G. (2000). Assessment of the bioavailability of rare earth elements in soils by chemical fractionation and multiple regression analysis. *Chemosphere*, 40(1), 23-28.
- Casper, J. K. (2007). *Lands: Taming the Wilds*. Infobase Publishing. Washington, USA, *Pg*. 226.
- Chakhmouradian, A., & Wall, F. (2012). Rare earth elements: Minerals, mines, magnets (and more). *Elements*, 8(5), 333-340.
- Charalampides, G., & Vatalis, K. I. (2015). Global production estimation of rare earth elements and their environmental impacts on soils. *Journal of Geoscience and Environment Protection*, 3(8), 66-73.
- Cheng, Q., Bonham-Carter, G., Wang, W., Zhang, S., Li, W., & Qinglin, X. (2011). A spatially weighted principal component analysis for multi-element geochemical data for mapping locations of felsic intrusions in the Gejiu mineral district of Yunnan, China. *Computers & Geosciences*, 37(5), 662-669.
- Cheng, Z., Jiang, J., Fajardo, O., Wang, S., & Hao, J. (2013). Characteristics and health impacts of particulate matter pollution in China. *Atmospheric Environment*, 65, 186-194.
- Chengdu, B. C. (2005). Rare Earth. World Wide Web, http://www.beyondchem.com/ rarearth.htm, 2005. accessed 5. November 2005.
- Chukwujekwu, J., Smith, P., Coombes, P., Mulholland, D., & Van Staden, J. (2005). Antiplasmodial diterpenoid from the leaves of Hyptis suaveolens. *Journal of ethnopharmacology*, 102(2), 295-297.
- Chutian, Z., Yong, Y., Weidong, L., Chuanrong, Z., Ruoxi, Z., M, Y. (2015). Spatial distribution and ecological risk assessment of trace metals in urban soils in Wuhan, central China. *Environmental Monitoring Assessment*, 187, 1-16.
- Clough, R., Lindsay, R., Drennar, H., Harrington, C., Hill, S., & Tyson, J. (2012). Atomic spectrometry Update: Elemental speciation. *Journal Analytical Atomic Spectrometry*, 27, 1185-1124.
- Cluis, C. (2004). Junk-greedy greens: phytoremediation as a new option for soil decontamination. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 2(6), 1-67.
- Connelly, N.G. (2005). *Nomenclature of inorganic chemistry: IUPAC recommendations*. The red book Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, *Pg. 377*.
- Coppin, F., Berger, G., Bauer, A., Castet, S., & Loubet, M. (2002). Sorption of lanthanides on smectite and kaolinite. *Chemical Geology* 182, 57-68.
- Cui, Y. C., Liu, J. H., Ren, X. W., & Shi, X. F. (2009). Geochemistry of rare earth elements in cobalt-rich crusts from the Mid-Pacific M seamount. *Journal of Rare Earths*, 27, 169-176.

- Dai, S., Song, W., Zhao, L., Li, X., Hower, J. C., Ward, C. R., Seredin, V. V. (2014). Determination of boron in coal using closed-vessel microwave digestion and inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). *Energy & Fuels*, 28(7), 4517-4522.
- Darcy, E., Jeevarajan, J., & Russell, S. (2014). *Mitigating Thermal Runaway Risk in Lithium Ion Batteries. NASA Johnson Space Center, Houston, TX*, United States, *Pg.11*.
- Davis, J. C. (1986). Statistics and Data Analysis in Geology, 2nd Edition. *John Wiley and Sons*, New York, *Pg. 646*.
- Davranche, M., Gruau, G., Dia, A., Marsac, R., Pédrot, M., & Pourret, O. (2015). Biogeochemical factors affecting rare earth element distribution in shallow wetland groundwater. *Aquatic Geochemistry*, 21(2-4), 197-215.
- de Abreu, C. A., Coscione, A. R., Pires, A. M., & Paz-Ferreiro, J. (2012). Phytoremediation of a soil contaminated by heavy metals and boron using castor oil plants and organic matter amendments. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 123, 3-7.
- de Araújo, A. L. L., Fernandes, E. A. D. N., Bacchi, M. A., & De França, E. J. (2012). Bioaccumulation pattern of lanthanides in pteridophytes and magnoliophytes species from Atlantic Forest. *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry*, 291(1), 187-192.
- de Oliveira, F. A., de Abreu, A. T., de Oliveira Nascimento, N., Froes-Silva, R. E. S., Antonini, Y., Nalini, H. A., & de Lena, J. C. (2017). Evaluation of matrix effect on the determination of rare earth elements and As, Bi, Cd, Pb, Se and In in honey and pollen of native Brazilian bees (Tetragonisca angustula–Jataí) by Q-ICP-MS. *Talanta*, *162*, 488-494.
- Delgado, J., Pérez-López, R., Galván, L., Nieto, J. M., & Boski, T. (2012). Enrichment of rare earth elements as environmental tracers of contamination by acid mine drainage in salt marshes: A new perspective. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 64(9), 1799-1808.
- Ding, Z. L., Sun, J. M., Yang, S. L., & Liu, T. S. (2001). Geochemistry of the Pliocene red clay formation in the Chinese Loess Plateau and implications for its origin, source provenance and paleoclimate change. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 65, 901-913.
- Dingjian, C. (2012). Contents of heavy metals in lotus seed from REEs mining area. *Journal* of Saudi Chemical Society, 16(2), 175-176.
- Duan T., Chen H., Zeng X. (2002). Determination of rare and rare earth elements in soils and sediments by ICP-MS using Ti(OH)₄–Fe(OH)₃ co-precipitation preconcentration. *Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry*. (17), 410–413.
- Durn, G., Miko, S., Čović, M., Barudžija, U., Tadej, N., Dejanović, K. N., & Palinkaš, L. (1999). Distribution and behaviour of selected elements in soil developed over a historical Pb-Ag mining site at Sv. Jakob, Croatia. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 67(1-3), 361-376.

- Ebrahim, R., Khadijeh, S., Saion, B., Wood, E., & Reza, A. (2009). Rare earth elements distribution in marine sediments of Malaysia coasts. *Journal Of Rare Earths*, 27(6), 1066-1071.
- Efroymson, R. A., Sample, B. E., & Suter, G. W. (2001). Uptake of inorganic chemicals from soil by plant leaves: regressions of field data. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 20(11), 2561-2571.
- Elderfield, H., Whitfield, M., Burton, J. D., Bacon, M., Liss, P. S., & A., S. (1988). The Oceanic Chemistry of the Rare-Earth Elements. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. *Mathematical and Physical Sciences*, *325*, 105-126.
- Eliseeva, S.V. & Bunzli, J. C.G. (2011). Rare earths: Jewels for functional materials of the future. *New Journal of Chemistry*, (35) 1165-1176.
- Emerson, J. W., Hsu, A., Levy, M. A., de Sherbinin, A., Mara, V., Esty, D. C., Jaiteh, M. (2012). Environmental performance index and pilot trend environmental performance index. New Haven, Yale Center for Environmental Law and Policy. Italy, Pg. 87.
- Essien, G., Nwidu, L., & Nwafor, P. (2009). Anti-inflammatory and analgesic potential of methanolic extract of Emilia sonchifolia (Compositae) leaves in rodents. *African Journal of Biomedical Research*, 12(3), 199-207.
- Fayiga, A. O., & Ma, L. Q. (2006). Using phosphate rock to immobilize metals in soil and increase arsenic uptake by hyperaccumulator Pteris vittata. Science of the Total Environment, 359(1), 17-25.
- Fernández-Caliani, J. C., Barba-Brioso, & Rosa, D. D. I. (2009). Mobility and speciation of rare earth elements in acid minesoils and geochemical implications for river waters in the southwestern Iberian margin. *Geoderma*, 149, 393-401.
- Fiket, Ž., Medunić, G., & Kniewald, G. (2016). Rare earth elements distribution in soil nearby thermal power plant. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 75(7), 1-9.
- Filgueiras, A. V., Lavilla, L., & Bendicho, C. (2004). Evaluation of distribution, mobility and binding behaviour of heavy metals in surficial sediments of Louro River (Galicia, Spain) using chemometric analysis: a case study. *Science of Total Environment, 330*, 115-129.
- Foucault-Collet, A., Gogick, K. A., White, K. A., Villette, S., Pallier, A., Collet, G., Petoud, S. (2013). Lanthanide near infrared imaging in living cells with Yb³⁺ nano metal organic frameworks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(43), 17199-17204.
- Franklin, R. L., Fávaro, D. I. T., & Damatto, S. R. (2016). Trace metal and rare earth elements in a sediment profile from the Rio Grande Reservoir, São Paulo, Brazil: determination of anthropogenic contamination, dating, and sedimentation rates. *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry*, 307(1), 99-110.

- Fu, F., Akagi, T., Yabuki, S., & Iwaki, M. (2001). The variation of REE (rare earth elements) patterns in soil-grown plants: a new proxy for the source of rare earth elements and silicon in plants. *Plant and Soil*, 235(1), 53-64.
- Gao, S., Luo, T.C., Zhang, B.R., Zhang, H.F., Han, Y.W., Zhao, Z. D., & Hu, Y.K. (1998). Chemical composition of the continental crust as revealed by studies in East China. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 62(11), 1959-1975.
- Gelman, F., Binstock, R., & Halicz, L. (2012). Application of the Walkley–Black titration for the organic carbon quantification in organic rich sedimentary rocks. *Fuel*, *96*, 608-610.
- Germain B, Jean AB, Joel E, Mathieu B, Claire B, Sidonie R (2009) Determination of rare earth elements, Sc, Y, Zr, Ba, Hf and Th in geological samples by ICP-MS after Tm addition and alkaline fusion. *Geostandards and Geoanalytical Research* 33(1), 51–62.
- Ghaderi, A., Abduli, M., Karbassi, A., Nasrabadi, T., & Khajeh, M. (2012). Evaluating the Effects of Fertilizers on Bioavailable Metallic Pollution of soils, Case study of Sistan farms, Iran. *International Journal of Environmental Research*, 6(2), 565-570.
- Goonan, T. G. (2011). Rare Earth Elements--end Use and Recyclability: US Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey, Pg.594.
- Gosar, M. (2004). Environmental impacts of metal mining. *RMZ-Materials & Geoenvironment*. 51(4), 2097-2107.
- Granato, D., Branco, G. F., Nazzaro, F., Cruz, A. G., & Faria, J. A. (2010). Functional foods and nondairy probiotic food development: trends, concepts, and products. *Comprehensive reviews in food science and food safety*, 9(3), 292-302.
- Greenwood, N. N. & Earnshaw, A. (1984). Chemistry of the elements. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 5, 1339-45.
- Guevara, R. A., Sahuquillo, A., Rubio, R., & Rauret, G. (2004). Assessment of metal mobility in dredged harbour sediments from Barcelona (Spain). *Science of the Total Environment, 321*, 241-255.
- Guo, X., Zhou, Q., Zhu, X., Lu, T., & Huang, X. (2007). *Migration of a rare earth element cerium (III) in horseradish. Acta Chimica Sinica-Chinese Edition*, 65(17), 1922.
- Gupta, C. K., & Krishnamurthy, N. (2004). Extractive Metallurgy of Rare Earths. *Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data. CRC Press*, 5, 1-15.
- Gupta, C. K., & Krishnamurthy, N. (2005). Extractive Metallurgy of Rare Earths. Boca Raton FL, USA, *Pg. 484*.
- Gupta, C. K., & Suri, A. (1993). *Extractive metallurgy of niobium*: CRC press, Florida, USA, *Pg. 138*.
- Hakanson, L. (1980). An ecological risk index for aquatic pollution control. A sedimentological approach. *Water Research*, 14(8), 975-1001.

- Hall, G. E. M., Vaive, J. E., Beer, R., & Hoashi, M. (1996). Selective leaches revisited, with emphasis on the amorphous Fe oxyhydroxide phase extraction. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 56, 59-78.
- Hamzah, Z., Ahmad, S., Noor, H., & She, D. (2008). Surface radiation dose and radionuclide measurement in ex-tin mining area, Kg Gajah, Perak. *The Malaysian Journal of Analytical Sciences*, 12(2), 419-431.
- Hamzah, Z., Saat, A., Bakar, Z. A., & Wood, A. K. (2011). Anthropogenic heavy metals, U-238 and Th-232 profiles in sediments from an abandoned tin mining lake in Malaysia. In Proceedings of 3rd International Conference on Chemical, Biological and Environmental Engineering, Singapore.
- Handbook, M. (1979). Properties & Selection. Nonferrous alloys & Pure metals. ABM Metals Park, Handbook 2, 115-117.
- Haque, N., Hughes, A., Lim, S., & Vernon, C. (2014). Rare Earth Elements: Overview of Mining, Mineralogy, Uses, Sustainability and Environmental Impact. *Resources*, 3, 614-635.
- Harbon, P.W. (2002). Industrial minerals handbook. *Rare earth minerals and compounds*, A guide to markets, specifications and prices, 4th ed. Industrial Minerals Information Services, Worcester Park, UK, *Pg. 412*.
- Harrison, T. S., & Scott, L. J. (2004). Lanthanum carbonate. Drugs. 64(9), 985-996.
- Haung, J., Haung, R., Jiao, J. J., & Chen, K. (2007). Speciation and mobility of heavy metals in mud, in coastal reclamation areas in Chenzhen, China. *Environment Geology*, 53, 221-228.
- Haxel, G., Hedrick, J., & Orris, G. (2014). Rare Earth Elements Critical Resources for High. Technology. USGS Fact Sheet, 87-92.
- Hedrick, J. B. (2010). Rare Earths. USGS mineral commodity, Pg. 196.
- Hengky, S. H. (2011). Technocentrism Using Sustainable Tourism Concept To Sustain Environment, Improving Communities' Life Qualities, And Increasing Economic Growth On Perak's Destination. Malaysia. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 2(16),1-10.
- Hill, S. J. (1997). Speciation of trace metals in the environment. *Chemical Society Review*, 26, 291-298.
- Hollins, O. (2010). Lanthanide resources and alternatives. A report for Department of Transport and Department for Business, Innovation and Skills. Okadene Hollins Research & Consulting, Pg. 66.
- Hongbing, J., Lijun, W., Yunshe, D., Shijie, W., Jianmei, L., & Yuanyuan, S. (2010). An Overview On The Study Of Biogeochemical Cycle For Rare Earth Elements (REEs). *Progress in Geography*, 23(1), 51-61.

- Horvat, M., Kontić, B., Kotnik, J., Ogrinc, N., & Jereb, V. (2003). Remediation of mercury polluted sites due to mining activities. *Critical Reviews in Analytical Chemistry*, 33(4), 291-296.
- Hoskin, W., Bird, G., & Stanely, T. (2000). Mining, facts, figures and environment. *Industry* and Environment, 23, 4-8.
- Howari, F. M., & Banat, K. M. (2001). Assessment of Fe, Zn, Cd, Hg, and Pb in the Jordan and Yarmouk River sediments in relation to their physicochemical properties and sequential extraction characterization. *Water, air, and soil pollution, 132*, 43-59.
- Hu, Z. Y., Haneklaus, S., Sparovek, G., & Schnug, E. (2006). Rare earth elements in soils. *Communication Soil Sciences plant, 37*, 1381-1420.
- Huang, J., Huang, R., Jiao, J. J., & Chen, K. (2007). Speciation and mobility of heavy metals in mud in coastal reclamation areas in Shenzhen, China. *Environmental Geology*, 53(1), 221-228.
- Huang, X., Zhu, Y., & Ji, H. (2013). Distribution, speciation, and risk assessment of selected metals in the gold and iron mine soils of the catchment area of Miyun Reservoir, Beijing, China. *Environ Monit Assess*, 185, 8525-8545.
- Humphries, M. (2013). Rare Earth Elements: The Global Supply Chain. Congressional Research Service, Pg.16.
- Hursthouse, A. S. (2001). The relevance of speciation in the remediation of soils and sediments contaminated by metallic elements—an overview and examples from Central Scotland, UKPresented at the Whistler 2000 Speciation Symposium, Whistler Resort, BC, Canada, June 25–July 1, 2000. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 3(1), 49-60.
- Hussain, I., Ullah, R., Khurram, M., Ullah, N., Baseer, A., Khan, F. A., Khan, J. (2011). Heavy metals and inorganic constituents in medicinal plants of selected districts of Khyber Pakhtoonkhwa, Pakistan. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 10(42), 8517-8522.
- Hutchison, A. J., & Albaaj, F. (2005). Lanthanum carbonate for the treatment of hyperphosphataemia in renal failure and dialysis patients. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy*. 6(2), 319-328.
- Ichihara, M., & Harding, A. (1995). Human rights, the environment and radioactive waste: A study of the Asian rare earth case in Malaysia. *Review of European Community and International Environmental Law, 4*, 1-14.
- Ichihashi, H., Morita, H., & Tatsukawa, R. (1992). Rare earth elements (REEs) in naturally grown plants in relation to their variation in soils. *Environmental Pollution*, 76(2), 157-162.
- Ingham, F. T., & Bradford, E. F. (1960). *The geology and mineral resources of the Kinta Valley, Perak.* Federation of Malaya, Geological Survey, 9, 21-30.

- Islam, M. S., Ahmed, M. K., & Habibullah-Al-Mamun, M. (2015). Metal speciation in soil and health risk due to vegetables consumption in Bangladesh. *Environmental Monitoring Assessment*, 187, 1-15.
- Ismail, W., & Najib, S. (2011). Sediment and nutrient balance of Bukit Merah Reservoir, Perak (Malaysia). *Lakes & Reservoirs: Research & Management, 16*(3), 179-184.
- Janssen, R. P. T., & Verweij, W. (2003). Geochemistry of some rare earth elements in groundwater, Vierlingsbeek, The Netherland. *Water Research*, *37*, 1320-1350.
- Japan, G. O. (2013). Basic Plan on Ocean Policy. Headquarters for Ocean Policy, Government of Japan, Tokyo, Japan. Pg. 455.
- Jeronimo, R. P., Rap, E., & Vos, J. (2015). The politics of land use planning: gold mining in Cajamarca, Peru. *Land Use Policy*, 49, 104-117.
- Jewell, S., & Kimball, S. (2014). Mineral commodity summaries 2014. US Geological Survey. http://minerals. usgs. gov/minerals/pubs/mcs/2014/mcs2014. pdf, Accessed, 12(12).
- Ji, H. B., Wang, L. J., Dong, Y. S., Wang, S. J., Luo, J. M., & Sun, Y. Y. (2004). An overview on the study of biogeochemical cycle for rare earth elements (REEs). *Progress in Geography*, 23, 51-61.
- Jinxia, L., Mei, H., Xiuqin, Y., & Jiliang, L. (2010). Effects of the accumulation of the rare earth elements on soil macrofauna community. *Journal Of Rare Earths*, 28(6), 957-964.
- Johan, I., Anders, W., Magnus, L., Orjan, G., Per, A., & Bjorn, O. (2000). Temporal variations in the fractionation of the rare earth elements in a boreal river; the role of colloidal particles. *Chemical Geology*, 166, 23-45.
- Johannesson, H. K., Stetzenbach, J. K., & Hodge, F. H. (1995). Speciation of the rare earth element neodymium in groundwaters of the Nevada Test Site and Yucca Mountain and implications for actinide solubility. *Applied Geochemistry*, *10*, 565-572.
- Jones, D. L. (1997). Trivalentmetals (Cr, Y, Rh, La, Pr, Gd) sorption in two acid soils and its consequences for bioremediation. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 48, 697-702.
- Joycharat, N., Thammavong, S., Limsuwan, S., Homlaead, S., Voravuthikunchai, S. P., Yingyongnarongkul, B.-e., Subhadhirasakul, S. (2013). Antibacterial substances from Albizia myriophylla wood against cariogenic Streptococcus mutans. Archives of pharmacal research, 36(6), 723-730.
- Kabata Pendias A., & Pendias H. (2001). *Trace Elements in Soils and Plants. Ed.* 4th. *CRC Press*, Boca Raton, London, New York, Washington D. C. Pg. 68.
- Kanazawa, Y., & Kamitani, M. (2006). Rare earth minerals and resources in the world. *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, (408), 1339-1343.

- Kartal, S., Aydin, Z., & Tokalioğlu, S. (2006). Fractionation of metals in street sediment samples by using the BCR sequential extraction procedure and multivariate statistical elucidation of the data. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 132, 80-89.
- Kato, Y., Fujinaga, K., Nakamura, K., Takaya, Y., Kitamura, K., Ohta, J., Iwamori, H. (2011). Deep-sea mud in the Pacific Ocean as a potential resource for rare-earth elements. *Nature Geoscience*, 4(8), 535-539.
- Keith, R., Long, B., Van, G., Nora, K., & Daniel, C. (2010). The Principal Rare Earth Elements Deposits of the United States. A Summary of Domestic Deposits and a Global Perspective. U.S. Geological Survey Reston Virginia, Pg. 105.
- Kelley, C., Curtis, A. J., Uno, J. K., & Berman, C. L. (2000). Spectroscopic studies of the interaction of Eu (III) with the roots of water hyacinth. *Water, air, and soil pollution, 119*(1-4), 171-176.
- Kersten, M., & Förstner, U. (1986). Chemical fractionation of heavy metals in anoxic estuarine and coastal sediments. *Water Science and Technology*, 18(4-5), 121-130.
- Khalil, A., Hanich, L., Bannari, A., Zouhri, L., Pourret, O., & Hakkou, R. (2013). Assessment of soil contamination around an abandoned mine in a semi-arid environment using geochemistry and geostatistics: Pre-work of geochemical process modeling with numerical models. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 125, 117-129.
- Khan, A. M., Bakar, N. K. A., Bakar, A. F. A., & Ashraf, M. A. (2016). Chemical speciation and bioavailability of rare earth elements (REEs) in the ecosystem: a review. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 1-26.
- Khan, A. M., Yusoff, I., Bakar, N. K. A., Bakar, A. F. A., & Alias, Y. (2016). Assessing anthropogenic levels, speciation, and potential mobility of rare earth elements (REEs) in ex-tin mining area. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 23(24), 25039-25055.
- Kobayashi, H., Watando, H., & Kakimoto, M. (2014). A global extent site-level analysis of land cover and protected area overlap with mining activities as an indicator of biodiversity pressure. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 84, 459-468.
- Kulhari, A., Sheorayan, A., Bajar, S., Sarkar, S., Chaudhury, A., & Kalia, R. K. (2013). Investigation of heavy metals in frequently utilized medicinal plants collected from environmentally diverse locations of north western India. *SpringerPlus*, 2(1), 1-9.
- Kumar, K., Saion, E., Halimah, M., Yap, C. K., & Hamzah, M. S. (2014). Rare earth element (REE) in surface mangrove sediment by instrumental neutron activation analysis. *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry*, 301(3), 667-676.
- Kynicky, J., Smith, M., & Xu, C. (2012). Diversity of rare earth deposits: The key example of China. *Elements*, *8*(5), 361-367.
- Laveuf, C., Cornu, S., & Juillot, F. (2008). Rare earth elements as tracers of pedogenetic processes. *Comptes Rendus Geoscience*, 340(8), 523-532.

- Leybourne, M. I., & Johannesson, K. H. (2008). Rare earth elements (REE) and yttrium in stream waters, stream sediments, and Fe–Mn oxyhydroxides: Fractionation, speciation, and controls over REE + Y patterns in the surface environment. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 72(24), 5962-5983.
- Li, D., Huang, S., Wang, W., & Peng, A. (2001). Study on the kinetics of cerium (III) adsorption–desorption on different soils of China. *Chemosphere*, 44(4), 663-669.
- Li, X., Chen, X., Chen, Z., & Zhang, Y. (2013). A human health risk assessment of rare earth elements in soil and vegetables from a mining area in Fujian Province, Southeast China. *Chemosphere*, *93*, 1240-1246.
- Liang, T., Li, K., & Wang, L. (2014). State of rare earth elements in different environmental components in mining areas of China. *Environmental Monitoring Assessment*, 186, 1499-1513.
- Liang, T., Zhang, S., Wang, L., Kung, H. T., Wang, Y., Hu, A., & Ding, S. (2005). Environmental biogeochemical behaviors of rare earth elements in soil-plant systems. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 27(4), 301-311.
- Liu, S., Wang, L., Zhang, S., Gao, X., Wang, Y., Sun, J., Qu, H. (1996). Effect of long-term foliage-dressing rage earth elements (REEs) on their distribution, accumulation and translocation in soil-spring wheat system. *The journal of applied ecology/Zhongguo sheng tai xue xue hui, Zhongguo ke xue yuan Shenyang ying yong sheng tai yan jiu suo zhu ban*, 8(1), 55-58.
- Liu, Y., Diwu, C., Zhao, Y., Liu, X., Yuan, H., & Wang, J. (2014). Determination of trace and rare-earth elements in Chinese soil and clay reference materials by ICP-MS. *Chinese Journal of Geochemistry*, 33(1), 95-102.
- Liu, Y., Peng, Z., Wei, G., Chen, T., Sun, W., He, J., & Shen, C. C. (2011). Interannual variation of rare earth element abundances in corals from northern coast of the South China Sea and its relation with sea-level change and human activities. *Marine environmental research*, 71(1), 62-69.
- Long, K. R., Van Gosen, B. S., Foley, N. K., & Cordier, D. (2012). The principal rare earth elements deposits of the United States: a summary of domestic deposits and a global perspective *Non-Renewable Resource Issues*. *Springer. Netherlands*, 131-155.
- Lyubomirova, V., Djingovaa, R., & Elteren, J. T. V. (2011). Fractionation of traffic-emitted Ce, La and Zr in road dusts. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring Assessment, 13*, 1823-1830.
- Maksimovic, I., Kastori, R., Putnik-Delic, M., & Borišev, M. (2014). Effect of yttrium on photosynthesis and water relations in young maize plants. *Journal Of Rare Earths*, 32(4), 372-378.
- Malan, D. F., & Neuba, D. F. (2011). Traditional practices and medicinal plants use during pregnancy by Anyi-Ndenye women (Eastern Côte d'Ivoire). African Journal of Reproductive Health, 15(1), 85-93.

- Malaviya, S., Munsi, M., Oinam, G., & Joshi, P. K. (2010). Landscape approach for quantifying land use land cover change (1972–2006) and habitat diversity in a mining area in Central India (Bokaro, Jharkhand). *Environmental monitoring and* assessment, 170(1), 215-229.
- Malaysia, B. N. (2011). Annual Report. Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, Bank Negara Malaysia. Pg.196.
- Malik, R. N., Husain, S. Z., & Nazir, I. (2010). Heavy metal contamination and accumulation in soil and wild plant species from industrial area of Islamabad, Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, 42(1), 291-301.
- Marques, R., Prudêncio, M. I., Rocha, F., Pinto, M. M. S. C., Silva, M. M. V. G., & Silva, E. F. D. (2012). REE and other trace and major elements in the topsoil layer of Santiago island, Cape Verde. *Journal of African Earth Sciences*, 64, 20-33.
- Martins, V. A., Dias, J. A., Laut, L. M., Sobrinho, F., Santos, J. F., Rodrigues, M. A., Fernández-Fernández, S. (2013). Speciation of rare earth elements in surface sediments of Lagoon of Aveiro (N Portugal). *Journal of Coastal Research*, 65(1), 64-69.
- Medunić, G., Mihalić, I. B., Kopjar, N., Srček, V. G., Cuculić, V., & Oreščanin, V. (2014). *Sulphur soil pollution caused by a coal-fired power plant (Plomin, Croatia).* Paper presented at the International Conference on Atmospheric Dust. *Pg.* 276.
- Melfos, V., & Voudouris, P. (2012). Geological, Mineralogical and Geochemical Aspects for Critical and Rare Metals in Greece. *Minerals Engineering*, 2, 300-317.
- Merten, D., & Buchel, G. (2004). Determination of rare earth elements in acid mine drainage by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometery. *Microchim, Acta, 148*, 163-170.
- Meyers, R. A. (2002). *Encyclopedia of physical sciences and technology*. 3rd Ed. Academic press, Pg.15453.
- Min, E. (2007). Tin Mining in Malaysia-Is There any Revival. Jurutera (Online) Availableat: <u>http://dspace.unimap.edu.my/dspace/bitstream/123456789/15965/1/feat</u> ure% 20tin% 20mining% 205pp. pdf (Accessed 11 April, 2016).
- Mineral and Geoscience department, Perak, Malaysia. (2008). *Ministry of Natural resources and environment*. Pg. 316.
- Mishra, V. K., & Tripathi, B. (2009). Accumulation of chromium and zinc from aqueous solutions using water hyacinth (Eichhornia crassipes). *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 164(2), 1059-1063.
- Mohebbi. A, H., Harutyunyan. S, S., & Chorom, M, C. (2012). Phytoremediation potential of three plant grown in monoculture and intercropping with date palm in contaminated soil. *International Journal of Agriculture and Crop Sciences*, 4(20), 1523-1530.
- Mongelli, G., Paternoster, M., Rizzo, G., & Sinisi, R. (2014). Trace elements and REE fractionation in subsoils developed on sedimentary and volcanic rocks: case study of

the Mt. Vulture area, southern Italy. *International Journal of Earth Science*, 103, 1125-1140.

- Muhammad, A. A., Mohd, J. M., Ismail, Y., & Mohamadreza, G. (2012). Speciation of heavy metals in the surface waters of a former tin mining catchment. *Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability*, 24(1), 1-12.
- Muller, G. (1969). Index of geoaccumulation in sediments of the Rhine River. *Journal of Geology*, 2(3), 108-118.
- Naji, A., & Ismail, A. (2011). Spatial Variation and Binding Behavior of Cu and Pb in Surface Sediments of Klang River. *International Journal of Chemical Engineering* 2(2), 92-97.
- Ndeda, L., & Manohar, S. (2014). Bio concentration factor and translocation ability of heavy metals within different habitats of hydrophytes in Nairobi Dam, Kenya. *Journal of Environmental Science and Toxicological Food Technology*, 8(5), 42-45.
- Nyakairu, G. W. A., & Koeberl, C. (2001). Mineralogical and chemical composition and distribution of rare earth elements in clay-rich sediments from central Uganda. *Geochemistry. Journal.*, *35*, 13-28.
- Schüler, D., Buchert, M., Liu, R., Dittrich, S., & Merz, C. (2011). *Study on rare earths and their recycling*. Öko-Institut eV Darmstadt. *Pg.162*.
- Olivares, A. R., Carrillo-González, R., González-Chávez, M. d. C. A., & Hernández, R. M. S. (2013). Potential of castor bean (Ricinus communis L.) for phytoremediation of mine tailings and oil production. *Journal of environmental management*, 114, 316-323.
- Ong, M., Fok, F., Sultan, K., & Joseph, B. (2015). Distribution of Heavy Metals and Rare Earth Elements in the Surface Sediments of Penang River Estuary, Malaysia. Open Journal of Marine Science, 6(1), 79-92.
- Orris, G. J., & Grauch, R. I. (2002). *Rare earth element mine, deposit and occurence*. United state Geological Survey, 2-189.
- Osoon. (2005). Rare earth elements on the net. World Wide Web, http://osoon.ut.ee/~hahha/re/ general.html, 2005. accessed 19. September 2005
- Ozaki, T., Ambe, S., Enomoto, S., Minai, Y., Yoshida, S., & Makide, Y. (2002). Multitracer study on the uptake mechanism of yttrium and rare earth elements by autumn fern. *Radiochimica Acta*, *90*(5), 303-307.
- Ozaki, T., Enomoto, S., Minai, Y., Ambe, S., & Makide, Y. (2000). A survey of trace elements in pteridophytes. *Biological trace element research*, 74(3), 259-273.
- Ozdes, D., Diran, C., & Senturk, B. (2011). Adsorptive removal of Cd (II) and Pb (II) ions from aqueous solutions by using Turkish illitic clay. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 92(12), 3082-3090.

- Pai, B. C., Ravi, M., John, V. S., M.C, & Pillai, R. M. (1995). Proceedings of "Recent developments in science and technology of rare earths" India. *Pg*, 314.
- Palumbo-Roe, B., Wragg, J., & Cave, M. (2015). Linking selective chemical extraction of iron oxyhydroxides to arsenic bioaccessibility in soil. *Environmental Pollution*, 207, 256-265.
- Pang, X., Wang, D.H., Xing, X.Y., Peng. A., Zhang, F.S., Li, C.J. (2002). Effect of La³⁺ on the activities of antioxidant enzymes in wheat seedlings under lead stress in solution culture. *Chemosphere*, 47, 1033–1039.
- Pendias, A. K., & Pendias, H. (2001). *Trace Elements in Soils and Plants*. 3rd Ed. *CRC Press, Boca Raton,* London, New York, Washington D. C. *Pg. 618*.
- PePiper, G., & Piper, D. (2002). *The Igneous Rocks of Greece. Gebroder Borntraeger*. Berlin Germany. *Pg. 573*.
- Pfau, C., Paßlick, C., Gray, S., Johnson, J. A., Johnson, C. E., & Schweizer, S. (2013). Mössbauer spectroscopy of europium-doped fluorochlorozirconate glasses and glass ceramics: optimization of storage phosphors in computed radiography. *Journal of physics. Condensed matter : an Institute of Physics journal*, 25(20), 205402-205402.
- Pradhan, B., Abokharima, M. H., Jebur, M. N., & Tehrany, M. S. (2014). Land subsidence susceptibility mapping at Kinta Valley (Malaysia) using the evidential belief function model in GIS. *Natural hazards*, 73(2), 1019-1042.
- Prasoon, k. S., Poornima, V., Ashwani, K. T., Shonam, S., & Parveen, P. (2015). Review of Varioues Contamination Index Approaches to Evaluate Groundwater Quality with Geographic Information System (GIS). *International journal of Chemical technology Research*, 7, 1920-1929.
- Protano, G., & Riccobono, F. (2002). High contents of rare earth elements (REEs) in stream waters of a Cu–Pb–Zn mining area. *Environmental Pollution*, *117*(3), 499-514.
- Ragheb, M. (2014). Thorium Resources in Rare Earth Elements. A Report. Pg. 1-54.
- Rahmanian, N., Ali, S. H. B., Homayoonfard, M., Ali, N., Rehan, M., Sadef, Y., & Nizami, A. (2015). Analysis of physiochemical parameters to evaluate the drinking water quality in the State of Perak, Malaysia. *Journal of Chemistry*, 1-10.
- Răileanu, M., Todan, L., Voicescu, M., Ciuculescu, C., & Maganu, M. (2013). A way for improving the stability of the essential oils in an environmental friendly formulation. *Materials Science and Engineering*, 33, 3281-3288.
- Rajkumar, M., & Freitas, H. (2008). Influence of metal resistant-plant growth-promoting bacteria on the growth of Ricinus communis in soil contaminated with heavy metals. *Chemosphere*, 71(5), 834-842.
- Richter, H., Schermanz., K., Erden, S., Dittmayer, R., Kreysa, G., & Oberholz, A. (2006). Prozesse und Produkte Band 6b Metalle. *Chemische Technik, 5*, 147-208.

- Rollinson, H. R. (2014). Using geochemical data, evaluation, presentation, interpretation: Routledge. New Work. USA. Pg. 384.
- Rose, E. R. (1960). Rare earths of the Grenville Sub-Province. Ontario and Québec, Department of Mines and Resources, Geological Survey of Canada, Pg. 41.
- S.Reiners, C. (2001). Was ist das Seltene an den Seltenen Erden? *Chemie in unserer Zeit,* 2(35), 110-115.
- Sadeghi, M., Morris, G. A., Carranza, E. J. M., Ladenberger, A., & Andersson, M. (2013). Rare earth element distribution and mineralization in Sweden: an application of principal component analysis to FOREGS soil geochemistry. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 133, 160-175.
- Sajn, R. (2002). Influence of mining and metallurgy on chemical composition of soil and attic dust in Meža valley, Slovenia. *Geologija*, 45(2), 547-552.
- Sall, J., Lehman, A., Stephens, M. L., & Creighton, L. (2012). *JMP start statistics: a guide* to statistics and data analysis using JMP. 6th Ed. SAS Institute. Pg. 660.
- Salomons, W. (1995). Environmental impact of metals derived from mining activities: process, prediction, prevention. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 52, 5-23.
- Schuler, D., Buchert, M., Liu, R., Dittich, G. S., & Merz, C. (2011). *Study on Rare Earths and their Recycling*. Oko- Institut.E.V. institute for applied Ecology. *Pg. 162*.
- Shamamian, P., & Grasso, M. (2004). Management of complex biliary tract calculi with a holmium laser. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery*, 8(2), 191-199.
- Shamshuddin, J., Mokhtar, N., & Paramanathan, S. (1986). Morphology, mineralogy and chemistry of ex-mining land in Ipoh, Perak. *Pertanika*, *3*, 88-91.
- Shan, X.Q., Lian, J., & Wen, B. (2002). Effect of organic acids on adsorption and desorption of rare earth elements. *Chemosphere*, 47(7), 701-710.
- Shan, X. Q., Wang, Z., Wang, W., Zhang, S., & Wen., B. (2003). Labile rhizosphere soil solution fraction for prediction of bioavailability of heavy metals and rare earth elements to plants. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 375(3), 400 - 407.
- Skarpelis, N. (2002). Geodynamics and evolution of the miocene mineralization in the Cycladic-Pelagonian belt Hellenides. *Bulletin Geological Society Greece*, 34, 2191-2206.
- Sprecher, B., Xiao, Y., Walton, A., Speight, J., Harris, R., Kleijn, R., Kramer, G. (2014). Life cycle inventory of the production of rare earths and the subsequent production of NdFeB rare earth permanent magnets. *Environmetal Science and Technology*, 48, 3951-3958.
- Sudmeier-Rieux, K., Paleo, U. F., Garschagen, M., Estrella, M., Renaud, F., & Jaboyedoff, M. (2015). Opportunities, incentives and challenges to risk sensitive land use planning: Lessons from Nepal, Spain and Vietnam. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 14, 205-224.

- Sun, Y., Liu, D., Yu, Z., Zhang, Q., Bai, J., & Sun, D. (2003). An apoplastic mechanism for short term effects of rare earth elements at lower concentrations. *Plant, Cell and Environment, 26*(6), 887-896.
- Swenson, J. J., Carter, C. E., Domec, J. C., & Delgado, C. I. (2011). Gold mining in the Peruvian Amazon: global prices, deforestation, and mercury imports. *PloS one*, 6(4), 1-7.
- Tagami, K., & Uchida, S. (2006). Transfer of REEs from nutrient solution to radish through fine roots and their distribution in the plant. *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, 408, 409-412.
- Tai, P., Zhao, Q., Su, D., Li, P., & Stagnitti, F. (2010). Biological toxicity of lanthanide elements on algae. *Chemosphere*, 80 (9), 1031-1035.
- Taicheng, D., Hangting, C., & Xianjin, Z. (2002). Determination of rare and rare earth elements in soils and sediments by ICP-MS using Ti(OH)₄–Fe(OH)₃ co-precipitation preconcentration. *Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry*, 17(4), 410-413.
- Tao, L., Shen, Z., Lijun, W., Hsiang-Te, K., Yuqi, W., Aitang, H. (2005). Shiming D. Environmental biogeochemical behaviors of rare earth elements in soil-plant systems. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health* (27), 301–311.
- Taylor, S. R., & McClennan, S. M. (1985). The Continental Crust: Its Composition and Evolution. *Oxford, UK: Blackwell Scientific Publications*, 98, 455-489.
- Taylor, S. R., & McLennan, S. M. (1995). The geochemical evolution of the continental crust. . *Reviews of Geophysics*, *33*, 241-265.
- Tela, S., Sunday, A., Manji, H., & Tsaware, J. (2012). Ethylenediaminetetraacetate (EDTA)-Assisted phytoremediation of heavy metal contaminated soil by Eleusine indica L. Gearth. Journal of Environmental Chemistry and Ecotoxicology, 4(5), 103-109.
- Thomas, P. J., Carpenter, D., Boutin, C., & Allison, J. E. (2014). Rare earth elements (REEs): effects on germination and growth of selected crop and native plant species. *Chemosphere*, *96*, 57-66.
- Tian, H. E., Gao, Y. S., Li, F. M., & Zeng, F. (2003). Effects of europium ions (Eu³⁺) on the distribution and related biological activities of elements in Lathyrus sativus L. roots. *Biological trace element research*, 93(1-3), 257-269.
- Tessier, A., Campbell, P. G., & Bisson, M. (1979). Sequential extraction procedure for the speciation of particulate trace metals. *Analytical chemistry*, *51*(7), 844-851.
- Todorović, Z. B., Ranđelović, L. M., Marjanović, J. Z., Todorović, V. M., Cakić, M. D., & Cvetkovic, O. G. (2014). The assessment and distribution of heavy metals in surface sediments from the reservoir Barje (Serbia). *Advanced technologies*, *3*, 85-95.
- Tomlinson, D., Wilson, J., Harris, C., & Jeffrey, D. (1980). Problems in the assessment of heavy-metal levels in estuaries and the formation of a pollution index. *Helgoländer Meeresuntersuchungen*, 33(1), 1-10.

- Torrisi, A. (2014). China's Ministry of Industry and Information Technology Calls for Regulations on Rare Earths Recycling. *Industrial Minerals Magazine*, 1-15.
- Tsirambides, A., & Filippidis, A. (2012). Metallic mineral resources of Greece. *Central European Journal of Geosciences*, 4(4), 641-650.
- Tyler, G. (2004). Rare earth elements in soil and plant systems-A review. *Plant and Soil*, 267(1-2), 191-206.
- Tyler, G., & Olsson, T. (2001). Plant uptake of major and minor mineral elements as influenced by soil acidity and liming. *Plant and Soil*, 230(2), 307-321.
- USGS. USGS Minerals Information. (2013). Available online:http://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/commodity/rare_earths (accessed on 11 September 2013).
- USGS. (2014). Mineral Commodity Summaries. US Geological Survey. Reston, VA, 129-130.
- Vaca-Escobar, K., & Villalobos, M. (2010). Arsenate precipitation: An alternative fate of As in soils contaminated with mine-related wastes. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 74, 2257-2280.
- Van Gosen, B. S., Verplanck, P. L., Long, K. R., Gambogi, J., Robert, R., & Seal, I. (2014). The rare-earth elements: vital to modern technologies and lifestyles. US Geological Survey. 35, 1-4.
- Vera-Arzave, C., Antonio, L. C., Arrieta, J., Cruz-Hernández, G., Velázquez-Méndez, A. M., Reyes-Ramírez, A., & Sánchez-Mendoza, M. E. (2012). Gastroprotection of suaveolol, isolated from Hyptis suaveolens, against ethanol-induced gastric lesions in Wistar rats: role of prostaglandins, nitric oxide and sulfhydryls. *Molecules*, 17(8), 8917-8927.
- Von Tucher, S., & Schmidhalter, U. (2005). Lanthanum uptake from soil and nutrient solution and its effects on plant growth. *Journal of plant nutrition and soil science*, *168*(4), 574-580.
- Vreca, P., Pirc, S., & Sajn, R. (2001). Natural and anthropogenic influences on geochemistry of soils in terrains of barren and mineralized carbonate rocks in the Pb-Zn mining district of Mežica, Slovenia. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 74, 99-108.
- Wali, A., Colinet, G., & Ksibi, M. (2014). Speciation of Heavy Metals by Modified BCR Sequential Extraction in Soils Contaminated by Phosphogypsum in Sfax, Tunisia. *Environmental Research, Engineering and Management*, 4(70), 14-26.
- Wall, F. (2014). Rare earth elements. Critical metals handbook, American Geophysical Union. Pg. 454.
- Wang, C., Zhu, W., Peng, A., & Guichreit, R. (2001). Comparative studies on the concentration of rare earth elements and heavy metals in the atmospheric particulate

matter in Beijing, China, and in Delft, the Netherlands. *Environment International*, 26(5), 309-313.

- Wang, D., Wang, C., Ye, S., Qi, H., & Zhao, G. (2003). Effects of spraying rare earths on contents of rare earth elements and effective components in tea. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51(23), 6731-6735.
- Wang, L., & Liang, T. (2015). Geochemical fractions of rare earth elements in soil around a mine tailing in Baotou, China. *Scientific Reports*, *5*, 1-11.
- Wang, Q., Huang, B., Guan, Z., Yang, L., & Li, B. (2001). Speciation of rare earth elements in soil by sequential extraction then HPLC coupled with visible and ICP–MS detection. *Fresenius Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, 370, 1041-1047.
- Wang, W., Qin, Y., Sang, S., Zhu, Y., Wang, C., & Weiss, D. J. (2008). Geochemistry of rare earth elements in a marine influenced coal and its organic solvent extracts from the Antaibao mining district, Shanxi, China. *International Journal of Coal Geology*, 76(4), 309-317.
- Wang, Z., Shan, X., & Zhang, S. (2001). Comparison of speciation and bioavailability of rare earth elements between wet rhizosphere soil and air-dried bulk soil. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 441(1), 147-156.
- Wedepol, K.H. (1995). The composition of the continental crust: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 59, 1217–1232.
- Wen, B., Yuan, D., Shan, X., Li, F., & Zhang, S. (2001). The influence of rare earth element fertilizer application on the distribution and bioaccumulation of rare earth elements in plants under field conditions. *Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability*, 13, 39-48.
- Wenfeng, W., Yong, Q., Shuxun, S., Yanming, Z., Chaoyong, W., & Dominik, J. (2008). Geochemistry of rare earth elements in a marine influenced coal and its organic solvent extracts from the Antaibao mining district, Shanxi, China. *International Journal of Coal Geology*, 76, 309-317.
- Weng, Z., Jowitt, S., Mudd, G., & Haque, N. (2013). Assessing rare earth element mineral deposit types and links to environmental impacts. *Applied Earth Science Transaction* of the Institution of Mining and Metallurgy B, 122, 83-96.
- Williams-Jones, A., Migdisov, A., & Samson, I. (2012). Hydrothermal mobilisation of the rare earth elements: A tale of Ceria and Yttria. *Elements*, 8(5), 355-360.
- Willis, S. S., & Johannesson, K. H. (2011). Controls on the geochemistry of rare earth elements in sediments and groundwaters of the Aquia aquifer, Maryland, USA. *Chemical Geology*, 285(1), 32-49.
- Wood, A. (2001). Rare earth elements determination and distribution patterns in sediments of a polluted marine environment by instrumental neutron activation analysis. *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry*, 249(2), 333-341.

- Wood, A., Ahmed, Z., Shazili, N., Yaakob, R., & Carpenter, R. (2004). Metal digenesis and transport in coastal sediment around Penang Island, Malaysia. *Journal of Nuclear and Related Technologies*, 1(30). 1-30.
- Wyttenbach, E.A. (1998). Rare earth elements in soil and in soil grown plants. *Plant Soil*, 199, 267-273.
- Xinde, C., Ying, C., Xiaorong, W., & Xihia, D. (2001). Effects of Redox potential and pH values on the release of rare earth elements from soil. *Chemosphere*, 44, 655–661.
- Xing-kai, X. (2005). Research Advances in the Behavior and Fate of Rare Earth Elements in Soil-plant Systems. *Journal of Agro-environmental Science Sciences*, (1),1-12.
- Xiong, B., Zhang, S., Guo, B., & Zheng, W. (2001). *Reviews of the use of REEs-based fertilizer in the past of three decades.* Symposium of the use of REEs in agricultural of China Baotou, P.R. China. *Pg. 235.*
- Xu, X., Zhu, W., Wang, Z., & Witkamp, G.J. (2003). Accumulation of rare earth elements in maize plants (Zea mays L.) after application of mixtures of rare earth elements and lanthanum. *Plant and Soil*, 252(2), 267-277.
- Xue, J., Jiang, W., Gong, S., Fan, Y., & Li, X. (2013). An evaluation of heavy metals contamination in soils from Ganzhou navel orange orchards by geoaccumulation indexes and statistical analysis. *Chemistry and Ecology*, 29(7), 586-594.
- Yang, X. J., Lin, A. J., Li, X. L., Wu, Y. D., Zhou, W. B., & Chen, Z. H. (2013). China's ion-adsorption rare earth resources, mining consequences and preservation. *Environmental Development*, 8, 131-136.
- Yassin, R. R., Muhammad, R. F., Taib, S. H., & Al-Kouri, O. (2014). Application of ERT and aerial photographs techniques to identify the consequences of sinkholes hazards in constructing housing complexes sites over karstic carbonate bedrock in Perak, peninsular Malaysia. *Journal of Geography and Geology*, 6(3), 55-67.
- Yu, J., Huang, Z. Y., & Chen, T. (2009). Determination of rare earth elements (REEs) in orange-growing soils and navel oranges around rare-earth mining area in southern Jiangxi. *Food Science*, 30, 309-313.
- Yusoff, M. M., & Ltifah, A. (2002). Rare earths processing in Malaysia; a case study of ARE and MARCE plants. *Environment and Natural resources*, *1*, 287-295.
- Zaak, D., Hofstetter, A., Frimberger, D., & Schneede, P. (2003). Recurrence of condylomata acuminate of the urethra after conventional and fluorescence-controlled Nd:YAG laser treatment. Urology. *61*(5), 1011-1015.
- Zawisza, B., Pytlakowska, K., Feist, B., Polowniak, M., Kita, A., & Sitko, R. (2011). Determination of rare earth elements by spectroscopic techniques: a review. *Journal* of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry, 26(12), 2373-2390.
- Zayed, A., Gowthaman, S., & Terry, N. (1998). Phytoaccumulation of trace elements by wetland plants: I. Duckweed. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 27(3), 715-721.

- Zdzislaw, M., & Agnieszka, G. (2015). The Characteristics, Occurrence, and Geochemical Behavior of Rare Earth Elements in the Environment: A Review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 45, 429-471.
- Zhang, C., Li, Q., Zhang, M., Zhang, N., & Li, M. (2013). Effects of rare earth elements on growth and metabolism of medicinal plants. *Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B*, *3*(1), 20-24.
- Zhang, Q. H., Tong, L. G., Cheng, L., Zhu, J., & Wang, Q. (2012). Characteristics of REE distribution in the surface soil of the farmland in wastewater irrigation area. *Acta Agriculturae Universitatis Jiangxiensis*, *34*, 614-618.
- Zhang, S., & Shan, X. (2001). Speciation of rare earth elements in soil and accumulation by wheat with rare earth fertilizer application. *Environmental Pollution*, 112(3), 395-405.
- Zhang, X. C., Friedrich, J. M., Nearing, M. A., & Norton, L. D. (2001). Potential use of Rare Earth Oxides as Tracers for Soil Erosion and Aggregation Studies. *Soil Science Society of American Journal*, 65, 1508-1515.
- Zhang, Z., Wang, Y., Li, F., Xiao, H., & Chai, Z. (2002). Distribution characteristics of rare earth elements in plants from a rare earth ore area. *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry*, 252(3), 461-465.
- Zhang, J., Rao, Y., Geng, Y., Fu, M., & Prishchepov, A. V. (2017). A novel understanding of land use characteristics caused by mining activities: A case study of Wu'an, China. *Ecological Engineering*, *99*, 54-69.
- Zhang, Z., Zheng, G., Takahashi, Y., Wu, C., Zheng, C., Yao, J., & Xiao, C. (2016). Extreme enrichment of rare earth elements in hard clay rocks and its potential as a resource. *Ore Geology Reviews*, 72, 191-212.
- Zhao, F., Lombi, E., & McGrath, S. (2003). Assessing the potential for zinc and cadmium phytoremediation with the hyperaccumulator Thlaspi caerulescens. *Plant and Soil*, 249(1), 37-43.
- Zhenggui, W., Ming, Y., Xun, Z., Fashui, H., Bing, L., Ye, T., Chunhua, Y. (2001). Rare earth elements in naturally grown fern Dicranopteris linearis in relation to their variation in soils in South-Jiangxi region (Southern China). *Environmental Pollution*, *114*(3), 345-355.
- Zhu, J., Zhang, Y., Sun, J., Yamasaki, S., & Tsumura, A. (1997). Water-soluble rare earth elements in some soils of China. *Pedosphere*, 7(1), 25-30.
- Zhu, J. G., Xing, G. X., Yamasaki, S., & Tsumura, A. (1993). Adsorption and desorption of exogenous rare earth elements in soils: I. Rate of forms of rare earth elements sorbed. *Pedosphere*, 3, 299-308.
- Zhu, W. M., Zhang, J. Z., & Zhang, L. G. (1996). Numericals imulation of RE migration in soils. Journal of Chinese Rare. *Earth Society*, *14*, 341-346.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS AND PAPERS PRESENTED

- Khan, A. M., Yusoff, I., Bakar, N. K. A., Bakar, A. F. A., & Alias, Y. (2016). Assessing anthropogenic levels, speciation, and potential mobility of rare earth elements (REEs) in ex-tin mining area. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 23(24), 25039-25055.
- 2- Khan, A., Yusoff, I., Abu Bakar, N. K., Abu Bakar, A. F., Alias, Y., & Mispan, M. (2017). Accumulation, Uptake and Bioavailability of Rare Earth Elements (REEs) in Soil Grown Plants from Ex-Mining Area in Perak, Malaysia. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research*, 15(3), 117-133.
- 3- Khan, A. M., Behkami, S., Yusoff, I., Zain, S. B. M., Bakar, N. K. A., Bakar, A. F. A., & Alias, Y. (2017). Geochemical characteristics of rare earth elements in different types of soil: A chemometric approach. *Chemosphere*. 184, 673-678.
- 4- Khan, A. M., Bakar, N. K. A., Bakar, A. F. A., & Ashraf, M. A. (2016). Chemical speciation and bioavailability of rare earth elements (REEs) in the ecosystem: a review. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 1-26.
- 5- Khan, A. M., Yusoff, I., Bakar, N. K. A., Bakar, A. F. A., & Alias, Y. (2016). Evaluation Of Light rare earth elements (LREEs) in castor oil and lilac tassel flower plant grown in contaminated soil from abandoned mines in Perak, Malaysia (2016 Postgraduate Symposium for Environmental Engineering Technology).